# Three Essays on Hedge Fund Trading and Stock Market

A thesis submitted to The University of Manchester for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in the Faculty of Humanities

2020

# Xinyu Cui

Alliance Manchester Business School Accounting and Finance Division

### Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I am extremely thankful and pay my deepest sense of gratitude to my supervisors, Dr. Olga Kolokolova, Prof. Alex Kostakis, and Dr. George Wang for their continuous support and insightful advice. Studying with them, I learn how to conduct rigorous and detail research. They were always patient and helpful to guide me through my PhD studies. Without their encouragement and inspiration, it would be impossible for me to complete this thesis.

In addition, I extend my thanks to Dr. Sara Ain-Tommar, Prof. Michael Brennan, Prof. Serge Darolles, Dr. Lei Gao, Prof. Stefano Giglio, Prof. Marc Goergen, Dr. Dalia Marciukaityte, Dr. Guillaume Monarcha, Prof. Ingmar Nolte, Prof. Winfried Pohlmeier, Prof. Adam Reed, Dr. Honglin Ren, Prof. Julian Williams, and participants from a number of local and international seminars, workshops, and conferences for valuable comments and suggestions on chapters of my thesis. My thesis has come to its current state from their discerning instructions and directions.

Besides, I am highly indebted to the faculty members, Prof. Kevin Aretz, Prof. Viet Anh Dang, Dr. Ning Gao, Prof. Ian Garrett, Dr. Christopher Godfrey, Prof. Arif Khurshed, Dr. Yifan Li, Prof. Hening Liu, Dr. Yoichi Otsubo, Dr. Stefan Petry, Dr. Cheng Zeng at the Accounting and Finance Division for their countless help.

Moreover, I would like to express my special indebtedness to my PhD colleagues and friends, Dr. Xiangshang Cai, Dr. Chenglong Chi, Yang Gao, Dr. Adnan Gazi, Shining Jiang, Jiaxu Jin, Dr. Wei Liu, Dr. Yangke Liu, Liangyi Mu, Eghbal Rahimikia, Changzhi Wang, Zhiting Wu, Dr. Shuwen Yang, Lijie Yu, Tiancheng Yu, Yi Zhang, who always kept me company during this wonderful and memorable four-year journey in Manchester.

Last but not least, I am particularly grateful for the unconditional and everlasting love from my parents, my wife Wentai Xu, and daughter Jinyan Cui. They have been always there for me, being the power source of my PhD journey. The completion of this thesis would indeed be possible if without you. My heartfelt thanks.

Xinyu Cui

Manchester UK

# Declaration

I, Xinyu Cui, declare that no portion of the work referred to in the thesis has been submitted in support of an application for another degree or qualification of this or any other university or other institute of learning.

## **Copyright Statement**

i. The author of this thesis (including any appendices and/or schedules to this thesis) owns certain copyright or related rights in it (the "Copyright") and s/he has given The University of Manchester certain rights to use such Copyright, including for administrative purposes.

ii. Copies of this thesis, either in full or in extracts and whether in hard or electronic copy, may be made only in accordance with the Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988 (as amended) and regulations issued under it or, where appropriate, in accordance with licensing agreements which the University has from time to time. This page must form part of any such copies made.

iii. The ownership of certain Copyright, patents, designs, trademarks and other intellectual property (the "Intellectual Property") and any reproductions of copyright works in the thesis, for example graphs and tables ("Reproductions"), which may be described in this thesis, may not be owned by the author and may be owned by third parties. Such Intellectual Property and Reproductions cannot and must not be made available for use without the prior written permission of the owner(s) of the relevant Intellectual Property and/or Reproductions.

iv. Further information on the conditions under which disclosure, publication and commercialisation of this thesis, the Copyright and any Intellectual Property and/or Reproductions described in it may take place is available in the University IP Policy (see http://documents.manchester.ac.uk/display.aspx?DocID=24420), in any relevant Thesis restriction declarations deposited in the University Library, The University Library's regulations ( see https://www.library.manchester.ac.uk/about /regulations/) and in The University's policy on Presentation of Theses.

### Abstract

This thesis aims to understanding the hedge fund trading behaviors, including stock picking, stock price manipulation, and their impact on stock market. It consists of three chapters, which are independent research papers.

In the first chapter, we investigate who the counterparties of hedge fund equity trading are and what the economic reasons behind their trading decisions might be. We find that hedge funds earn positive ex-post abnormal returns and avoid negative abnormal returns on their equity portfolios when trading in the opposite direction of highly-diversified lowturnover institutional investors (quasi-indexers). This pattern is pronounced for shortand long-term holding periods, as well as if trading is conditional on return predictability associated with well-known market anomalies. It seems to be driven by the preferences of quasi-indexers for liquid, high-market-beta stocks, which tend to exhibit low future abnormal returns. Trading against other institutional investors or non-institutions does not result in abnormal performance for hedge funds.

In the second chapter, we analyze the equity trading of hedge funds facing substantial outflows. We find that hedge funds that trade against the flow display significant stock-picking skills. Stocks purchased by hedge funds facing large outflows deliver positive ex-post abnormal returns. Such "revealed under pressure" stock-picking skills are higher after 2007-2008 financial crisis and for hedge funds with larger size, more illiquid assets, or stronger incentives to perform to build up a track record. We also find that hedge funds that engage in the trading against the flow have higher chances of survival over the consequent quarter.

In the third chapter, we investigate the stock manipulation of hedge funds. We follow a research paper published in The Journal of Finance (Ben-David et al., 2013) presenting empirical evidence of stock price manipulation by hedge funds between 2000 and 2010. They show that stocks held by hedge funds exhibited positive daily abnormal returns and then reversals ("blips") at quarter end. These results are cross-sectionally robust: we replicate them using a different sample of hedge funds during the same time period. In the post-publications period from 2011 to 2018, however, we find no significant relation between hedge fund ownership and end-of-quarter stock returns, suggesting reduction in stock price manipulation by hedge funds post-publication.

We is for first person and he/she is for third person throughout the thesis to indicate that three chapters are co-authored with my supervisor Olga Kolokolova (and with George Wang for the first chapter). The empirical analysis in all chapters is my own work, while we equally contributed with the co-authors to the development of the idea, discussion of methodology, and structuring of the papers.

# **Table of Contents**

A	cknov	wledgements	<b>2</b>
D	eclar	ation	3
Co	opyri	ight Statement	4
A	bstra	nct	5
Ta	able o	of Contents	7
Li	st of	Figures	8
Li	st of	Tables	10
1	On	the Other Side of Hedge Fund Equity Trades	11
	1.1	Introduction	11
	1.2	Research Design	16
	1.3	Data Sources and Sample Construction	20
	1.4	Empirical Results	23
		1.4.1 Institutional trading: $\alpha$ -, $\beta$ - and liquidity-swap	23
		1.4.2 Institutional trading swap: time-series variation and long-	
		term performance	26
		1.4.3 Implications for market anomalies	28
	1.5	Conclusion	31
	1.6	Figures	33
	1.7	Tables	35

	1.8	Online Appendix	47							
<b>2</b>	Do	Outflows Drive Hedge Fund Stock-Picking Skills? 5								
	2.1	Literature Review	53							
	2.2	Data	55							
	2.3	Research Design and Hypotheses	57							
	2.4	Empirical Results: Trading Against the Flow	60							
	2.5	Determinants of Trading Against the Flow	62							
		2.5.1 Direct losses of managers	63							
		2.5.2 Career concerns	64							
		2.5.3 Asset illiquidity and decision making flexibility	66							
	2.6	Implications for liquidation probability	68							
	2.7	Conclusion	70							
	2.8	Tables	72							
3	Do	Hedge Funds Still Manipulate Stock Prices?	79							
	3.1	Introduction	79							
	3.2	Hypothesis and Methodology	82							
	3.3	Data	84							
	3.4	Empirical Results	87							
		3.4.1 Extension: the impact on fund flow	89							
	3.5	Conclusion	91							
	3.6	Figures	92							
	3.7	Tables	94							
R	efere	nces	103							

This thesis contains 29,218 words, including title page, tables, and footnotes.

# List of Figures

1.1	Time series of alphas and market betas for trading swaps	•	•	•	34
3.1	Time series of the numbers of matched hedge fund companies				93

# List of Tables

1.1	Descriptive statistics: stocks traded and portfolios	36
1.2	Descriptive statistics: ownership and trading of different groups of	
	investors	37
1.3	Trading swaps and possible counterparties of hedge fund trades $\ . \ .$ .	38
1.4	Trading swaps: QIXs sub-groups	39
1.5	Average change in holdings of trading-swap stocks	40
1.6	Impact of financial crisis on trading swaps: risk-free excess return,	
	alpha, market beta, and Amihud illiquidity	41
1.7	Impact of financial crisis on trading swaps: DGTW-adjusted excess	
	return, 2-factor alpha, and factor loading	42
1.8	Trading swaps: long-term	43
1.9	Market anomalies: descriptive statistics and portfolio performance	44
1.10	Trading swaps for market anomalies: risk-free excess return, alpha,	
	market beta, and Amihud illiquidity	45
1.11	Trading swaps for market anomalies: DGTW-adjusted excess return,	
	2-factor alpha, and factor loading	46
1.1a	Trading swaps and possible counterparties of hedge fund trades: dif-	
	ferent models	48
1.2a	Trading swaps and possible counterparties of hedge fund trades: $10\%$	
	cutoff	49
1.3a	Trading swaps and possible counterparties of hedge fund trades: $30\%$	
	cutoff	50

1.4a	Market anomalies: description	51
2.1	Descriptive statistics for hedge fund companies	73
2.2	Trading against the flow: abnormal returns	74
2.3	Trading against the flow: stock characteristics	75
2.4	Determinants of trading against the flow: managerial income and	
	incentives	76
2.5	Determinants of trading against the flow: liquidity and managerial	
	flexibility	77
2.6	HFC liquidation probability	78
3.1	Numbers of hedge fund company per year	95
3.2	Summary statistics: stocks (day-level)	96
3.3	Summary statistics: hedge funds (quarter-level)	97
3.4	Stock-level manipulation	98
3.5	Average fund-level blip	99
3.6	Fund-level blip: regression results	100
3.7	Fund-level blip and future fund flows	101
3.8	Fund-level "blip" dummies and future fund flow	102

# Chapter 1

# On the Other Side of Hedge Fund Equity Trades

*Keywords*: Institutional Trading, Alpha, Market Beta, Market Anomalies, Quasi-Indexers, Hedge Funds.

## 1.1. Introduction

If you are making money more often than not, what is motivating others to trade the other way, and will they continue to do so in the future? Remember that for every buyer, there is a seller, so someone is always taking the other side of your trades, and if you do not understand the economics of the trade, they may.

Lasse Pedersen, "Efficiently Inefficient", 2015

As professional arbitrageurs and sophisticated investors, hedge funds (HFs) play an essential role in stock price formation and improving market efficiency (see Stulz, 2007; Agarwal et al., 2015). Using equity holdings of HFs disclosed in 13F filings to Security and Exchange Commission (SEC), recent studies find comprehensive evidence on the link between HF trading, future stock returns, and mispricing.<sup>1</sup> For example, Cao et al. (2018) show that HFs tend to hold undervalued stocks and their trading predicts future stock returns and delivers a positive alpha. Cao et al. (2018) find that HF equity holdings improve efficiency of stock prices. Calluzzo et al. (2019) further show that HFs trade on the well-documented market anomalies and these arbitrage activities generate positive risk-adjusted returns. We join this strand of literature, but instead of looking at the identity of arbitrageurs and quantifying their gains, we focus on the flip side of HF equity trades. We set out to find who the counterparties of these professional arbitrageurs are and what the economic reasons behind their trading decisions might be.

Given that institutional investors hold around 80% (\$18 trillion) of the S&P 500 stocks<sup>2</sup> and account for about 70% of daily trading volume<sup>3</sup>, in this paper we mainly focus on potential institutional counterparties of HFs.<sup>4</sup> To understand the economics of the other side of HF equity trades, we need to recognize the heterogeneous objective functions and trading behaviour of HFs and non-HF investors. One possibility would be that other investors make random errors in their judgements of stock profitability, and HFs exploit these errors. If this is the case, there should not be any specific type of institutions which as a group consistently exhibit "negative skill" when trading in the opposite direction of HFs. Alternatively, there may

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Brunnermeier and Nagel (2004) are among the first ones to examine fund holdings. The authors conclude that HFs possess stock-picking and market timing abilities. HF demand shocks predict stock returns over the next few quarters (Sias et al., 2016). Informed stock demand of HFs predicts not only stock returns, but firms' fundamentals such as returns on assets (Jiao et al., 2016). HF trading often reduces stock mispricing, whereas mutual funds and other types of institutional investors either do not have any significant effect on mispricing or even exacerbate it (Jiao and Ye, 2014; Akbas et al., 2015; Kokkonen and Suominen, 2015; Ha and Hu, 2018). While HF stock holdings predict future stock returns, their option holdings predict both stock returns and volatility (Aragon and Martin, 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>According to Pensions and Investments as of 2017, https://www.pionline.com/article/2017042 5/INTERACTIVE/170429926/80-of-equity-market-cap-held-by-institutions.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>According to Institutional Investor as of 2015, https://www.finra.org/investors/insights/inst itutional-investors-get-smart-about-smart-money.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>We recognize that individual investors could also be counterparties of HF equity trades (Ben-David et al., 2012). In our empirical analysis, we evaluate trades made by HFs against other investors too. However, given the dominating market presence of the institutional investors, and the limited available data on individuals, we leave the detailed analysis of the economics of individual decision making for future research.

be groups of investors that do not have an alpha-maximizing objective functions (see, e.g., Baker et al., 2011; Christoffersen and Simutin, 2017). For such investors, forgoing an alpha may be a natural consequence of their optimal trades. Such investors may constitute systematic counterparties of HFs, facilitating their abnormal gains. In this paper, we set out to establish if any type of institutional investors consistently provides HFs with profitable trading opportunities, and if yes, what the economic reasons behind such behaviour might be.

The group of institutional investors is heterogeneous. Passive and active mutual funds, index funds and exchange-traded funds, pension funds and insurance companies all have different objective functions, investment horizons, compensation schemes, and trading strategies. Their trading has been extensively studied in the literature,<sup>5</sup> and all of them can be potential direct or indirect counterparties of HF equity trades. However, even within the same nominal type, the investment behaviour of institutions can be substantially different (Bushee, 2001). In his influential work Bushee (2001) suggests classifying institutions according to their actual trading behaviour, and not according to nominal labelling. Such a "revealed" classification scheme provides more insights into preferences and investment goals of the institutions. In particular, Bushee (2001) subdivides institutions into three big categories, (1) quasi-indexers (QIXs), (2) transient institutions (TRAs), and (3) dedicated holders (DEDs). A quasi-indexer is defined as an institutional investor exhibiting high portfolio diversification and low turnover, and also pursuing index-based buy-andhold strategies. A transient institution also holds a highly-diversified portfolio but has a high turnover, and follows predominantly short-term trading strategies. A dedicated holder invests in concentrated portfolios and has low turnover, focusing on long-term trading strategies with low sensitivity to current firm earnings.<sup>6</sup> For

1.1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>From the trading skill perspective, active mutual funds are often found to underperform indextracking funds (Blake et al., 1993; Malkiel, 1995; Elton et al., 1996; French, 2008; Guercio and Reuter, 2014; Crane and Crotty, 2018). In terms of market impact, institutional trading may play a positive role in price discovery and mitigate market anomalies (Gompers and Metrick, 2001; Nagel, 2005; Israel and Moskowitz, 2013), but it can also destabilize stock prices (Frazzini and Lamont, 2008; Dasgupta et al., 2011).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>This classification has been also used in, for example, Ke and Ramalingegowda (2005); Cella

example, Vanguard group is classified as QIX, Fidelity International is TRA, while Apollo Investment Management is classified as DED.

We find empirical evidence that QIXs significantly underperform when trading in the opposite direction of HFs. On average, stocks sold by HFs and simultaneously purchased by QIXs exhibit a significantly negative alpha of -0.35% per month relative to the CAPM, whereas stocks purchased by HFs and sold by QIXs earn a significantly positive alpha of +0.57% per month over the following quarter. This pattern is also pronounced when the abnormal returns are calculated using the characteristic-based approach of Daniel et al. (1997). Other investors do not exhibit such patterns, when trading in the opposite direction of HFs.

QIXs usually have limited potential to lock in alpha due to leverage and shortselling restrictions. They are often constrained by the need to keep the tracking error within certain bounds, and their performance is benchmarked with respect to that of market indices. In order to achieve higher expected returns and beat the index, they optimally choose stocks with higher market betas, and thus depart from alpha-maximizing portfolios. Such reasoning is supported by Christoffersen and Simutin (2017), who show that mutual fund managers tend to increase their exposure to high-beta stocks to boost expected returns while maintaining tracking errors around the benchmark. We find that the average market beta of stocks sold by HFs and purchased by QIXs is 1.34, whereas the average beta of stocks purchased by HFs and sold by QIXs is 1.10, with the difference being highly statistically significant and persistent over time as well as for longer holding periods.

The beta-over-alpha preferences explain the negative abnormal returns on stock bought by QIXs and simultaneously sold by HFs. When we control for the betting against beta factor of Frazzini and Pedersen (2014), the negative alpha of this portfolio loses significance, as its underperformance in now absorbed by the negative factor loading. The positive abnormal return of stocks bought by HFs and sold by QIXs remains significant even after controlling for the beta preferences of QIXs and

et al. (2013); Fang et al. (2014); Boone and White (2015); Appel et al. (2016).

Our approach allows us also to contribute to the extensive literature on the relation between institutional ownership and market anomalies.<sup>7</sup> McLean and Pontiff (2016) show that market anomalies tend to decline after their publication dates. They suggest two competing explanations: (1) the very existence of the anomalies is questionable and may be a result of inappropriate statistical analysis (see, e.g., Harvey et al., 2016), hence, the anomalies should not persist; and (2) the anomalies exist because of stock mispricing, and sophisticated arbitrageurs correct them over time. Directly looking at institutional trading on market anomalies, Edelen et al. (2016) report, however, a negative relation between the change in aggregate institutional holding and the stocks' ex-post abnormal returns. At the same time, Chen et al. (2018) find that HFs earn positive abnormal returns by trading on anomaly stocks, and Ha and Hu (2018) show that the HF daily order flow is positively correlated with previous daily market anomalies. Our paper complements these studies and shows that the overall poor performance of institutional anomaly trading is mainly driven by QIXs, taking the "wrong" side of an anomaly trade due to the general beta-over-alpha preferences. HFs buy low-beta stock while QIXs sell them and vice versa, which results in a positive alpha for HFs, even when trading can be linked to return predictability based on well-documented market anomalies.

The total asset size of QIXs is far larger than that of other types of institutional investors and HFs together, that is, the vast amount of capital is invested in strategies that are not risk-adjusted return maximizing. Proactive arbitrageurs, such as HFs, have plentiful opportunities of delivering alpha to their investors, exploiting trading preferences of other institutions. This pattern is not likely to be reversed soon, since large investment firms keep launching low-cost index-tracking vehicles.<sup>8</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>See Gompers and Metrick (2001); Nagel (2005); Frazzini and Lamont (2008); Green et al. (2011); Israel and Moskowitz (2013); McLean and Pontiff (2016); Calluzzo et al. (2019), among others.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>Fidelity, for example, launched the first index-tracking stock fund without any fees for investors on 3 August 2018. See "Asset managers shares dive after no-fee fund launch", *Financial Times*, August 2, 2018.

#### 1.2. Research Design

To identify possible counterparties of HF equity trades, we need to classify different types of investors first. Previous studies usually employ one of the two systems: institutional investors are classified either according to their business registration type (e.g., mutual funds, banks, insurance companies, etc.) or according to their actual trading behaviour (Bushee, 2001). While considering both systems in our study, we believe the trading-behaviour based classification is more relevant to our research target. According to Bushee (2001), institutional investors can be divided into QIXs, TRAs, and DEDs.<sup>9</sup> We also add to the list of potential HF counterparties other investors (OTH), with stock holding not included in the previous groups.

Key "suspects" in our investigation of the other side of HF equity trades are QIXs. These institutions may constitute a systematic counterparty of HFs, as they are less likely to have alpha-maximizing objective functions. Instead, they may be more concerned with minimizing the tracking error with respect to their benchmark index, while still trying to beat it. Harris and Gurel (1986) show that when indices adjust their company lists, large index funds frequently buy stocks that are newly added to indices and sell stocks deleted from the indices, leading to substantial demand shifts. Even in the absence of any index adjustment, an important feature of the trading of institutions that face benchmarking is that they tilt their portfolios to high-beta stocks, in order to beat the benchmark. Buffa et al. (2019) develop an equilibrium framework in which choosing higher-beta investments is optimal for a benchmarking manager. Christoffersen and Simutin (2017) empirically show that those mutual funds that have a large share of investment from pension funds and, thus, are more likely to be benchmarked, invest disproportionally into high-beta stocks, and stocks with high market betas tend to have low alphas (Frazzini and Pedersen, 2014). Additionally, QIXs do not seem to closely monitor firms they invest into. They do not have any effect on innovation in firms they hold, while other types of institutional investors have positive association with innovation (Aghion

 $<sup>^{9}</sup>$ More details are provided in Section 2.2.

et al., 2013). Another important feature of QIXs is that they tend to prefer more liquid stocks (Gompers and Metrick, 2001), whereas HFs are known for earning high returns by trading less liquid assets and providing market liquidity (Teo, 2011; Jylhä et al., 2014). These leads to our "swap" hypotheses as follows:

 $\alpha$  swap: *HFs earn positive abnormal returns when trading in the opposite direction of QIXs.* 

The abnormal returns are driven by:

 $\beta$  swap: *HFs selling high-beta and buying low-beta stocks*,

Liquidity swap: HFs selling more liquid and buying less liquid stocks.

To test our hypothesis, we first split all institutions into HFs and non-HF investors, and then, following Bushee (2001), we subdivide non-HF investors into QIXs, TRAs, and DEDs. We obtain institutional holdings from the 13F filings, and compute the holdings of OTHs following Ben-David et al. (2012) as the difference between 100% and the percentage holding of all other reporting institutional investors.<sup>10</sup>

Second, for each type of trader we compute quarterly change in their holding of each stock i, expressed as a fraction of the total common shares outstanding by the company at the end of the previous quarter (q - 1).

For example, the change in holding of stock i by HFs during quarter q ( $\Delta$ StockHold<sup>HF</sup><sub>i,q</sub>) is given by:

$$\Delta \text{StockHold}_{i,q}^{\text{HF}} = \frac{\text{StockHold}_{i,q}^{\text{HF}} - \text{StockHold}_{i,q-1}^{\text{HF}}}{\text{TSO}_{i,q-1}},$$
(1.1)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>Holdings of OTH include holdings of individual investors, small US-based investors, and foreign institutions which do not need to comply with 13F filing requirements, as well as small holdings of large US-based investors, which are below the reporting threshold or for which confidential treatment was requested by reporting institutions (French, 2008; Ince and Kadlec, 2020).

where  $\text{StockHold}_{i,q}^{\text{HF}}$  is the holding of stock i by all HFs at the end of quarter q, i.e.

$$StockHold_{i,q}^{HF} = \sum_{j} StockHold_{i,q}^{HF_{j}},$$
(1.2)

and  $\text{TSO}_{i,q-1}$  is the total number of outstanding shares of firm i at the end of quarter q - 1.  $\Delta \text{StockHold}_{i,q}^{\text{HF}}$  is considered to be a missing value if any of  $\text{StockHold}_{i,q}^{\text{HF}}$ . StockHold $_{i,q-1}^{\text{HF}}$ , or  $\text{TSO}_{i,q-1}$  is missing. All holding and numbers of shares outstanding are adjusted for stock splits.

Third, we construct a set of swap portfolios, which include stocks heavily traded by HFs and simultaneously traded in the opposite direction by QIXs, TRAs, DEDs, or OTHs. We rank stocks based on the change in holding during each quarter in year t within stocks of two size groups – above or below the NYSE size median at the end of year t - 1 – following Fama and French (1993). We consider stocks with the change in holding below the 20<sup>th</sup> percentile as those that investors significantly sell, and those above the 80<sup>th</sup> percentile as those that investors significantly buy. The swapped stocks are those which belong to the intensively traded stocks for two types of investors, but in different directions. We form a set of swap portfolios as an equal-weighted average across different size groups of the value-weighted average returns of the chosen swapped stocks.<sup>11</sup> The portfolios are then held for one quarter until the end of the following quarter and then rebalanced. To capture the longerterm performance of swapped stocks, we also consider annual holding periods. We form swap portfolios every quarter and hold them for the following year. Every month we compute the average return of the previously formed portfolios which are still being held at that month to obtain the time series of long-term holding portfolio returns.

Last but not least, we evaluate the performance of these portfolios. We compute monthly average excess returns over the risk-free rate (measured as the 3-month T-bill rate) as well as the abnormal returns ( $\alpha$ -s) and market factor loadings ( $\beta$ -s)

18

 $<sup>^{11}\</sup>mathrm{As}$  a robustness check, we also used 10% and 30% cutoffs. The results remain qualitatively the same and are reported in an Online Appendix.

relative to CAPM model.<sup>12</sup> We then compute the average Amihud (2002) illiquidity measure to check if HFs swap liquid to illiquid stocks with QIXs. Our swap hypotheses imply that the alpha of stocks bought by HFs and simultaneously sold by QIXs should be larger than that of stocks sold by HFs and bought by QIXs, while the relation of their market betas is the opposite. Stocks bought by HFs and sold by QIXs are also expected to be less liquid than stocks sold by HFs and bought by QIXs.

To take into account other stock characteristics that may impact performance in potentially nonlinear manner, we follow the procedure of Daniel et al. (1997) (hereafter DGTW) and construct the DGTW-adjusted monthly excess returns. At the end of each June, we assign stocks into one of 125 portfolios constructed based on market capitalization using NYSE breakpoints, the industry-adjusted book-tomarket ratio using the Fama-French 48 industries, and the prior 12-month return. Portfolios are held for one year and then rebalanced. For each of the 125 portfolios, we calculate the value-weighted monthly returns as the benchmark. The DGTWadjusted monthly excess return is the difference between the stock's monthly return and the return of the benchmark portfolio to which it belongs. We compare the monthly average DGTW-adjusted excess returns of stocks swapped by HFs and other types of investors. Similar to the CAPM abnormal returns, we expect the DGTW-adjusted excess returns to be higher of stocks bought by HFs and sold by QIXs, compared to excess returns of the opposite swap.

If the superior HF performance on swapped stocks is indeed driven by the  $\beta$ and liquidity-swap, one should observe that the abnormal returns of HFs on swap portfolios to disappear after the differences in stock betas and liquidity are accounted for. In doing so, we use the betting against beta factor (hereafter BAB) of Frazzini and Pedersen (2014),<sup>13</sup> who find that high-beta assets earn low alphas due to funding

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>As a robustness check we also use the Fama-French 3-factor model and Carhart 4-factor model (Carhart, 1997).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>The time series values of the factor are obtained from the authors' web-page https://www.aq r.com/Insights/Datasets/Betting-Against-Beta-Equity-Factors-Monthly.

constraints, and the traded liquidity factor (hereafter LIQ) of Pástor and Stambaugh (2003), who show that liquidity risk is an important determinant of HF returns.<sup>14</sup> We evaluate the alphas from the regressions of the DGTW-adjusted excess returns of the swapped portfolios on these two factors.

To assess the stability of the results during different market conditions, we repeat the analysis before, during, and after the financial crisis of 2007–2008, and also run a rolling window regression using a three-year window and quarterly steps. We also assess the long-term performance of the swapped stocks and use an annual holding period instead of a quarterly one, as described above.

## **1.3.** Data Sources and Sample Construction

Stock returns are from the Center for Research in Security Prices (CRSP) Monthly Stock File. We consider the monthly returns of common stocks (those with CRSP share codes of 10 or 11) traded on the NYSE, AMEX or NASDAQ (those with CRSP exchange codes of 1, 2 or 3) from April 1994 to December 2018. Stock returns are adjusted for split and delisting. We only consider the stocks with monthly prices above \$5 at the beginning of each quarter, in order to purge the estimation noise from the minimum tick effect (Harris, 1994; Amihud, 2002) and to make sure that all institutional investors can trade them. We exclude the stocks of utility firms (those with standard industrial classification (SIC) codes from 4900 to 4999) and financial firms (those with SIC codes from 6000 to 6999). Panel A of Table 1.1 reports the descriptive statistics of all of the stocks in our sample. We also collect the data for the standard market factors from Ken French's data library.<sup>15</sup>

Our data on institutional holding are from the Thomson Reuters Institutional (13f) Holding database (CDA/Spectrum s34). The 13f mandatory reports of institutional holding are filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) and are

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup>The time series values of the factor are obtained from the authors' web-page http://finance.w harton.upenn.edu/~stambaug/.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup>http://mba.tuck.dartmouth.edu/pages/faculty/ken.french/data\_library.html.

compiled by Thomson Reuters. According to the 1978 amendment to the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, institutions with aggregate fair market values over \$100 million must file their forms within 45 days after the end of a calendar quarter. The managers are allowed to omit their "small" holding (if they hold fewer than 10,000 shares and less than \$200,000 in terms of their market values). Thus, most of the disclosed holding data come from relatively large positions of large firms.

To identify HFs, we use a union of three major HF databases – EurekaHedge, TASS Lipper, and Morningstar – for the period from 1994 to 2017.<sup>16</sup> We merge the databases following the procedure described in Joenväärä et al. (2016). We then create a list of HFs' 13f identifiers, i.e. manager numbers (hereafter MGRNOs), by matching the HF company name and the names of the institution reporting to the 13f database. We manually check that the identified companies do not have any other business (e.g., a mutual fund, insurance, banking etc.), ensuring that we obtain a list of pure HF companies. Altogether, we identify 734 HF companies that report to the 13f databases. Next, we use Brian Bushee's database<sup>17</sup> to identify 2,906 QIXs, 1,448 TRAs and 161 DEDs for our sample. We consider only those institutions which have a unique identifier of permanent classification provided in the Bushee's database. We remove institutions without a permanent classification or those with several permanent classifications. Overall, the 5,278 institutions in our final sample cover 74.92% of all institutions from the database existing between 1994 and 2017. As of the end of 2017, the overall portfolio size of QIXs was \$9.72 trillion, whereas it was \$2.83 trillion for TRAs, \$0.29 trillion for DEDs, and \$1.59 trillion for HFs.

#### [Place Table 1.1 about here]

Panel B of Table 1.1 reports the descriptive statistics of the institutional portfolios. The largest group of institutions are QIXs, with on overage 1,352 institutions

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup>Starting from 1994, most databases keep the information on defunct HFs: a potential survivorship bias in the data is thereby ameliorated.

 $<sup>^{17}</sup> http://acct.wharton.upenn.edu/faculty/bushee/IIclass.html$ 

reporting holding per quarter compared to 319 HFs. The smallest group is DEDs with only 69 institutions reporting per quarter, on average. QIXs are also the most diversified institutions, holding on average 170 different stocks in a quarter, followed by TRAs with 166 stocks per quarter, compared to 118 of HFs and only 52 of DEDs. QIXs have the smallest turnover, on average 6.57% per quarter, compared to over 22.04% per quarter for HFs and 23.73% for TRAs. Turnover for quarter q is calculated as the minimum of purchases and sales during quarter q, divided by the average market value of the portfolio at the end of quarter q and the previous quarter.

Table 1.2 reports the descriptive statistics of the holding and the change in holding of all types of investors in our sample across three periods: the pre-crisis period 1994q2 to 2007q2, the crisis period 2007q3-2009q1, and the post-crisis period 2009q2-2017q4. The changes in holdings are winsorized at the 1% and 99% quantiles.<sup>18</sup> The descriptive statistics of the holdings are broadly similar to those reported in Jiao et al. (2016). QIXs hold a substantial share of the market. Their average holdings of shares in listed non-financial and non-utility companies have increased from 29% in the pre-crisis period to around 40% in the later periods. The average holdings of HFs and TRAs in these firms also have increased from 6% and almost 10% precrises to 10% and nearly 14% in the later sample, respectively. DEDs hold below 2% of the stocks in all the sub-samples. Before the crisis, QIXs had the largest average changes in the position of 0.87% per quarter, compared to 0.30% for HFs, 0.28% for TRAs, and 0.04% for DEDs. During the crisis period, QIXs kept purchasing stocks on average, although at a slower pace (the average change of 0.40%), while HFs as a group kept their holdings largely unchanged (the average change of (0.02%), and TRAs and DEDs have been selling stocks on average (the corresponding change are -0.30% and -0.20% respectively). Post-crisis, TRAs, QIXs, and HFs are net buyers in the stock market, with the average changes of 0.33%, 0.30%, and 0.15%, while DEDs are net sellers (the average change in holdings of -0.11%). Given

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup>We exclude from the sample those quarter-stock data points for which the sum of the reported institutional holding exceeds 100%.

how few DEDs exist per quarter, the small share of their holding, and a particular investment style of long-term holding of concentrated portfolios, we exclude these institutions from the further analysis.

[Place Table 1.2 about here]

## 1.4. Empirical Results

#### 1.4.1. Institutional trading: $\alpha$ -, $\beta$ - and liquidity-swap

Panel A of Table 1.3 reports the excess returns over the risk-free rate, the CAPM alphas and betas<sup>19</sup>, and Amihud illiquidity measures for stocks swapped between HFs and other types of investors.

Consistent with our expectations, the stocks sold by HFs and simultaneously bought by QIXs exhibit negative future alphas of -0.35% per month, have high beta of 1.34, and are more liquid (Amihud illiquidity of  $0.70 \times 10^{-6}$ ), compared to stocks bought by HFs and sold by QIXs. The latter exhibit a positive alpha of 0.57% per month, have smaller beta of 1.10, and higher illiquidity ( $1.10 \times 10^{-6}$ ), with all the differences being highly statistically significant. In contrast, stocks swapped between HFs and TRAs do not exhibit any statistically significant alphas in either direction. The differences between betas and illiquidity measures are not significant, either. Stocks sold by HFs and purchased by OTHs exhibit significantly negative alpha with respect to the CAPM, but no difference in beta or illiquidity can be seen for stocks swapped in different directions between HFs and OTHs.

Even after controlling for other factors via DGTW-adjusted returns (Panel B of Table 1.3), the excess return of stocks sold by HFs and purchased by QIXs remains negative of -0.19% per month and significant at the 10% level, whereas the DGTW-adjusted excess return of stocks bought by HFs and sold by QIXs is 0.50% per month, significant at the 1% level. The swaps between HFs and TRAs or OTHs do

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup>The results based on the Fama-French 3-factor model and Carhart 4-factor model are qualitatively the same and are reported in Online Appendix.

not generate any significant adjusted returns.

Controlling for LIQ and BAB factors reveals that stocks swaps between HFs and QIXs in opposite directions do not exhibit significant differences in their exposure to the liquidity factor, thus, differential liquidity risk does not contribute to underperformance of stocks bought by QIXs relative to stocks sold. At the same time, the difference in exposures to BAB factors is highly statistically signifiant, providing further support to our  $\beta$ -swap hypotheses. Importantly, the negative abnormal returns of stocks sold by HFs and simultaneously bought by QIXs lose significance, after controlling for BAB. Remarkably, abnormal returns on stocks purchased by HFs and simultaneously sold by QIXs remain large positive (0.47% per month) and statistically significant at the 1% level, even after LIQ and BAB factors are controlled for, suggesting a different source of superior HF performace in this case.

Combined together, the results suggest that QIXs trade in the alpha for the market beta when making purchasing decisions. Trying to beat the benchmark while remaining within admissible tracking error bounds, QIXs tilt their portfolios to high-beta stocks, which tend to be associated with low alphas. HFs exploit this opportunity and provide liquidity for such trades.

#### [Place Table 1.3 around here]

Despite similarities in the levels of portfolio diversification and rebalancing frequencies, the group of QIXs is heterogeneous. Passive mutual funds that track an index are more likely to be benchmarked relative to it, as compared, for example, to insurance companies. This may lead to differences in their preferences for stocks with high market beta. We refine the analysis by splitting the sample of QIXs into three categories of investors. The first one is independent investment advisors (IIAs), the largest group capturing 73.64% of QIXs in our sample, which contains, for example, mutual funds. The second is banks (BNKs) capturing 11.98% of the sample. The remaining 14.38% are other QIXs (OTQIXs), including pensions plans, insurance companies, and university endowments. The beta-over-alpha preferences discussed above can be seen for all three types of QIXs (Table 1.4). The worst performance in terms of the abnormal returns seems to be generated by BNKs. The CAPM alpha spread between the portfolio of stocks bought by HFs and sold by BNKs, and sold by HFs while purchased by BNKs is 1.15% per month. The corresponding difference in the DGTW-adjusted excess returns is 0.88% per month. It is 0.59% for IIAs and 0.58% for OTQIXs. All the differences are significant at the 1% level. The difference in CAPM betas is the strongest for IIAs of -0.36, significant at the 1% level. It is substantially larger than -0.24 reported in Table 1.3 for all QIXs.

#### [Place Table 1.4 around here]

An alternative explanation for the significant ex-post alphas associated with HF/QIX swaps may be position reversals by QIXs and/or herding by investors after HF trades. If various investors sell a substantial amount of the stocks that have been bought by QIXs but sold by HFs during the previous quarter, the selling pressure would reduce the abnormal returns. The abnormal returns would increase if investors follow previous HF purchases. To check if such a mechanism is supported by the data, we compute the average change in holdings of HF/QIX swapped stocks during each quarter and the average quarterly change in holdings of HFs and non-HF investors of these stocks during the subsequent quarter (Table 1.5). During trading quarters, the change in holding of HFs is smaller in absolute value than the corresponding change in holdings of QIXs. HFs do not seem to fully exploit potential arbitrage opportunities, which may be due to the relatively small total size of the HF industry as compared to the overall market value. We find no evidence of substantial trade reversals or herding, however. QIXs, moreover, tend to keep buying during quarter q+1 stocks they purchased during the previous quarter and that were sold by HFs. On the HF buying side, HFs and TRAs increase their holdings in stocks swapped between HFs and QIXs, but these changes are small (0.33%) and 0.35% respectively) as compared to the initial HF purchase size of 3.43%. Thus, we

cannot find empirical support for trade reversals of QIXs or institutional herding into swapped stocks, which can lead to the observed abnormal return patterns.

[Place Table 1.5 about here]

# 1.4.2. Institutional trading swap: time-series variation and long-term performance

To assess the stability of our results across different market conditions, we repeat the analysis for three sample periods separately: pre-crisis (1994q1-2007q2), crisis (2007q3-2009q2), and post-crisis (2009q3-2017q4) periods (Ben-David et al., 2012).

The difference in CAPM alpha between stocks sold by HFs/bought by QIXs, and those bought by HFs/sold by QIXs is persistent across all three periods (Table 1.6). In the pre-crisis and crisis periods, HFs were gaining significantly by buying future winners. The effect is especially strong during the crisis period, where the ex-post alpha of stocks bought by HFs and sold by QIXs relative to the CAPM reaches 1.92% per month. During the post-crisis period, the performance differences are generated predominantly by HFs selling future losers. As for market betas, QIXs have been buying especially high-beta stocks during the pre-crisis periods, but not during the crisis, when the difference in betas between stock sold by HFs/bought by QIXs, and those bought by HFs/sold by QIXs is not statistically significant. This result is consistent with the intuition that QIXs tilt their portfolios towards highbeta stocks when trying to beat the benchmark. This strategy works, however, only as long as the benchmark has a positive expected return. During the crisis period the market returns were negative, and retreating from high-beta stocks was optimal for benchmarked institutions.

Similar pattern is observed when DGTW-adjusted returns are used (Table 1.7). The largest spread between two swapped portfolios (in terms of the DGTW-adjusted returns and their alphas relative to LIQ and BAB factors) is generated during the crisis period. In the post-crisis period, although stocks bought by HFs and simultaneously sold by QIXs still significantly outperform those sold by HFs/bought by QIXs, the magnitude of the difference is only about one third of that during the crisis period.

#### [Place Tables 1.6 and 1.7 around here]

Figure 1.1 further plots the time series of alphas and market betas relative to the CAPM for stocks swapped between HFs and other investors estimated using three-year rolling windows. The alphas of stocks bought by HFs/sold by QIXs are almost always positive and above those sold by HFs/bought by QIXs, which are in most cases negative. The betas of the stocks purchased by HFs, on the other hand, are almost always smaller than those of sold stocks, apart from the crisis period, consistent with the previous discussion. As for the swaps between HFs and other investors, no persistent difference can be seen for either alphas or market betas over time.

#### [Place Figure 1.1 about here]

Long-term performance of the swapped stocks (Table 1.8) reveals that the alpha losses of QIXs that buy stocks which are sold by HFs are predominantly associated with the short-term performance over the first quarter, and the losses are not statistically significant over the annual horizon. It turns almost zero when LIQ and BAB are taken into account with DGTW-adjusted returns. At the same time, the gains which HFs make by purchasing stocks sold by QIXs remain positive and statistically significant even on the annual horizon, although their magnitude decreases. This findings is consistent with HFs being shorter-term investors with high turnover, capitalising predominantly on their skills to predict short-term returns (see Agarwal and Naik, 2000; Edwards and Caglayan, 2001; Jagannathan et al., 2010, among others). The difference in market betas and in loadings on the BAB factor remains statistically significant, with HFs selling/QIXs buying high-beta stocks, and this swap portfolio having a significantly negative exposure to the BAB factor. No statistical difference can be found for other counterparties of HFs.

[Place Table 1.8 around here]

#### **1.4.3.** Implications for market anomalies

Over the past decades, an increasing number of firm characteristics that predict future stock returns have been discovered (so-called market anomalies). The trading behaviour of institutional investors associated with these anomalies has attracted a great deal of scholarly attention (see Fama and French, 2008; Campbell et al., 2009; Israel and Moskowitz, 2013; Hou et al., 2015; Edelen et al., 2016, among others).

Calluzzo et al. (2019) show that HFs and other high turnover institutions do trade on market anomalies and exploit return predictability, especially over short-term. Edelen et al. (2016), however, show that on aggregate institutional investors trade against market anomalies. They incur abnormal losses when wrongly purchasing "anomaly" stocks that theoretically should belong to the short side of the anomaly trade. Thus, similar to our main findings, these equilibrium results suggest that HFs may be profiting by trading in the opposite direction other investors even if the trades are related to known features of return predictability. Our previous empirical results indicate that QIXs seem to have a different objective function from other institutional investors, and swap portfolio alphas for portfolio betas – the strategy being exploited by HFs. We now extend this analysis to portfolios of "anomaly" stocks.

We consider nine well-known market anomalies discussed in Fama and French (2008) and Stambaugh et al. (2012), including the operating profit (OP), gross profitability (GP), O-Score, investment-to-assets (IVA), investment growth (IK), net operating assets (NOA), net stock issues (NSI), accrual (ACR), and asset growth (AG) anomalies.<sup>20</sup>

To guarantee that all of the firm specific information related to the market anomalies is available to all institutional investors, we consider the institutional trading during the second quarter of year t. This ensures that the annual reports for the fiscal year ending in calendar year t - 1 are readily available. The portfolio holding period is the following four quarters starting from the third quarter of year

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup>The anomalies are described in detail in the supplementary Online Appendix.

t. The anomaly portfolios constructed during the institutional trading window of year t are held until the end of the next trading window of year t + 1.

Similar to our main analysis and following Fama and French (1993, 2008), we construct ten portfolios from the intersection of two size groups (above or below the NYSE size median at the end of calendar year t - 1) and five anomaly groups (using NYSE breakpoints for the quintiles). To reduce the dominance of micro-cap stock returns (Edelen et al., 2016), we compute the monthly value-weighted returns for each portfolio and calculate the equal-weighted returns of portfolios in different size groups but the same anomaly group. The resulting portfolios characterize the average performance of the anomaly-related stocks in our sample. We call portfolios "underpriced" if they contain the top 20% of stocks according to the gross profit and gross profitability, or the bottom 20% of stocks according to other anomalies. The underpriced portfolios are expected to have positive abnormal returns, and they belong to the long leg of a trade. We call portfolios "overpriced" if they contain the top 20% stocks according to other anomalies. The overpriced portfolios are expected to have positive abnormal returns and they belong to the short leg of a trade.

We then construct a set of institutional swaps on market anomalies portfolios. During the institutional trading window (the second quarter of year t), we conduct independent triple sorts of all stocks based on (1) stock sizes at the end of calendar year t - 1 using the NYSE median, (2) each of the nine market anomalies evaluated for the fiscal year ending in calendar year t - 1 using the 20% and 80% NYSE breakpoints, and (3) the change in holding during the second quarter of calendar year t using the 20<sup>th</sup> and 80<sup>th</sup> percentiles. For each portfolio, we compute the monthly value-weighted returns and calculate the equal-weighted returns of portfolios in different size groups but the same anomaly group, ranking variables and the change in holding. Then, we calculate the equal-weighted returns of nine anomaly portfolios for each pair of investors. Altogether, we end up with four swap portfolios for each pair of investors. For example, if HFs exploit market anomalies and QIXs make "wrong-side" trades, we would expect to find significantly negative abnormal returns for stocks in the short leg of the anomaly that are sold by HFs and bought by QIXs.

We collect the accounting information from the CRSP/Compustat Merged Database Fundamentals Annually from 1993 to 2016.<sup>21</sup> We only use firms with the minimum of two years of data available, starting from their second reporting year.

Panel A of Table 1.9 reports the descriptive statistics of the firm performance measures, related to the nine market anomalies in our sample. All of the anomaly measures are winsorized at the 1% and 99% levels. Panel B of Table 1.9 reports the CAPM alphas for portfolios sorted on each of the nine anomalies under study and the equal-weighted portfolio of nine anomaly portfolios (EW-Avg); Panel C reports the corresponding DGTW-adjusted excess returns. The results substantiate the existence of these anomalies in our sample, with the GP and NOA anomalies being the most pronounced. By investing in the corresponding long-short portfolios investors can obtain up to 0.65% per month in terms of abnormal returns relative to the CAPM, and 0.56% per month in terms of DGTW-adjusted returns, both signifiant at the 1% level (the NOA anomaly).

#### [Place Table 1.9 about here]

Table 1.10 reports CAPM alphas, betas, and liquidity for swapped stocks related to the equal-weighted combination of the market anomalies under consideration during the entire holding period, and Table 1.11 reports the DGTW-adjusted excess returns (Daniel et al., 1997), corresponding ex-post 2-factor alphas, and factor loadings. Swaps in which HFs sell/QIXs buy overpriced stocks deliver a significantly negative alpha of -0.46% per month, while swaps in which HFs buy/QIXs sell underpriced stocks exhibit a positive alpha of 0.51% per month. The differences in alphas of stocks bought by HFs/sold by QIXs and sold by HFs/bought by QIXs are positive

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup>The accounting information we used is this study is related to year t - 1. Thus, our last calendar year for the accounting data is 2016; based on this information our last holding period is from July 2017 to June 2018, that is, until the end of our return sample.

and highly statistically significant for both short leg and long leg of market anomalies. In terms of market betas in each sub-group of stocks (overpriced/underpriced relative to market anomalies), QIXs buy stocks with significantly higher market betas than those of stocks they sell. Swaps between HFs and other types of investors do not exhibit such patterns in either alpha or beta.

Similar to our main results, the negative abnormal returns of swapped stock in the short leg of anomaly trades which HFs sell and QIXs buy lose their significance when DGTW-adjusted returns are used and LIQ and BAB factors are controlled for, but the positive abnormal returns for the long leg of anomaly portfolios for stocks bought by HFs/sold by QIXs are still positive and significant.

#### [Place Tables 1.10 and 1.11 about here]

Overall, the results suggest that HFs are able to exploit return predictability associated with different market anomalies because they are able to find a willing counterparty – QIXs – investors that tilt their portfolios towards high-beta stocks and do not seem to be directly motivated to exploit return predictability.

The QIXs are the dominant group of institutional investors in our sample according to their asset size. Thus, as QIXs do not exploit the profitable opportunities arising from the market anomalies due to the peculiar objective function of these traders, and the total portfolio size of other institutions is not sufficient to offset the impact of the trading of QIXs, the market anomalies are still strongly pronounced nowadays, despite the availability of theoretical research explaining their nature and accounting information underlying the corresponding portfolio choice.

#### 1.5. Conclusion

Hedge funds earn positive abnormal returns and avoid negative abnormal returns when they trade in the opposite direction of quasi-indexers – highly-diversified and low turnover institutions. Stocks bought by hedge funds and simultaneously sold by quasi-indexers exhibit significantly positive future alphas relative to various benchmark models, while stocks sold by hedge funds and bought by quasi-indexers exhibit negative future alphas. The seemingly negative stock-picking skills of quasiindexers are likely to be related to their trading strategy, which is not explicitly alpha-maximizing. Being motivated by benchmarking relative to the market index, these institutions tend to purchase stocks with higher market betas, and sell stocks with low market betas, and hence, trading in alpha. Hedge funds provide liquidity for such trades, earning abnormal returns for their own investors. Other types of investors do not exhibit such patterns: hedge funds do not earn significant abnormal returns when trading with them.

The beta-over-alpha preferences seem to keep quasi-indexers from trading against well-established market anomalies, too. Even conditional on the anomaly-related accounting information being publicly available, quasi-indexers still invest into highbeta and low-alpha stocks. They do not exploit return predictability, and allow hedge funds that trade against them to earn abnormal returns. This finding echoes Giannetti and Kahraman (2017), who show that open-end investment structures may hamper the trading against mispricing. It also extends the work of Edelen et al. (2016) by showing that the negative relation between change in institutional holding and ex-post abnormal returns for anomaly stocks is mainly driven by quasiindexers, trading in the alpha for the market beta.

Our paper suggests that, as long as the largest amount of investible capital is allocated to traders that are not explicitly motivated to deliver high risk-adjusted expected returns, various profit-making opportunities (including but not limited to market anomalies) will persist in the market. More active and properly-motivated investors, such as hedge funds, will exploit these opportunities at the expense of individuals who delegate their money management to quasi-indexers.

# 1.6. Figures

The figure plots the time series of alphas and market betas from the CAPM model of stocks bought (solid line) by HFs from different groups of non-HF investors and sold (dashed line) by HFs to different groups of non-HF investors from 1994q2 to 2017q4. Non-HF investors include (1) quasiindexers (QIXs), (2) transient institutions (TRAs), and (3) other investors (OTHs), following Bushee (2001) and Ben-David et al. (2012). The estimation is performed over three-year rolling windows.



# 1.7. Tables

#### Table 1.1: Descriptive statistics: stocks traded and portfolios

This table reports the summary statistics of characteristics of stocks traded and different groups of investors from 1994q2 to 2018q4. Panel A reports the monthly returns, prices, and Amihud illiquidity (Amihud, 2002). We only consider common stocks (those with CRSP share codes of 10 or 11) traded on the NYSE, AMEX or NASDAQ (those with CRSP exchange codes of 1, 2 or 3) with monthly prices above \$5 at the end of previous quarter. We exclude the stocks of utility firms (those with standard industrial classification (SIC) codes from 6000 to 6999) and financial firms (those with SIC codes from 4900 to 4999). Panel B reports the portfolio characteristics of HF and non-HF institutional investors, including portfolio assets (PortAssets, in \$million), numbers of stock held per quarter (No.StockHold), and the turnover (Turnover, in % per quarter). Non-HF institutional investors are classified following Bushee (2001) into (1) quasi-indexers (QIXs), (2) transient institutions (TRAs), and (3) dedicated holders (DEDs).

Panel A: Characteristics of Stocks Traded								
	Mean	Std.Dev	P5	P25	Median	P75	P95	
Adjusted Return (% per month)	0.95	15.44	-21.64	-6.40	0.50	7.56	24.23	
Price or Bid/Ask Average (\$)	28.22	55.88	5.00	10.25	18.76	34.04	72.94	
Amihud Illiquidity $(\times 10^{-6})$	4.19	19.11	0.00	0.04	0.16	0.94	18.78	
Panel B: Portfolio Charactistics of Different Groups of Institutional Investors								
	Mean	Std.Dev	P5	P25	Median	P75	P95	No.Investors (per quarter)
$PortAssets^{HF}$ (\$m)	2392	11243	12	94	323	1278	8423	319
$PortAssets^{QIX}$ (\$m)	3434	24136	20	91	220	815	10648	1352
$\operatorname{PortAssets}^{\operatorname{TRA}}(\$m)$	2591	24020	7	74	246	975	7873	489
$\operatorname{PortAssets}^{\operatorname{DED}}(\$m)$	3470	17839	11	102	344	1297	11548	69
$No.StockHold^{HF}$	118	227	3	15	36	105	516	319
$No.StockHold^{QIX}$	170	326	8	37	67	137	735	1352
$No.StockHold^{TRA}$	166	295	3	24	62	160	706	489
$No.StockHold^{DED}$	52	174	1	4	10	33	186	69
Turnover <sup>HF</sup> (% per quarter)	22.04	17.97	0.21	8.36	17.27	32.19	57.76	306
Turnover <sup>QIX</sup> (% per quarter)	6.57	6.98	0.11	2.08	4.68	8.85	18.72	1293
Turnover <sup>TRA</sup> ( $\%$ per quarter)	23.73	17.73	0.46	10.73	19.80	33.45	58.79	462
Turnover <sup>DED</sup> ( $\%$ per quarter)	7.30	11.19	0.00	0.00	3.03	9.65	29.58	62
Table 1.2: Descriptive statistics: ownership and trading of different groups of investors

This table reports the summary statistics of the stock holding (StockHold, in %) and change in holding ( $\Delta$ StockHold, in % per quarter) of HFs, non-HF institutional investors, and other investors (OTHs) from 1994q2 to 2017q4. Non-HF institutional investors are classified following Bushee (2001) into (1) quasiindexers (QIXs), (2) transient institutions (TRAs), and (3) dedicated holders (DEDs). Characteristics of OTHs are calculated following Ben-David et al. (2012).

Panel A: Pre-Crisis (1994q2-2007q2)												
	Mean	Std.Dev	P5	P25	Median	P75	P95					
$\text{StockHold}^{\text{HF}}$ (% per quarter)	6.04	6.50	0.00	0.61	4.17	9.36	18.61					
$\text{StockHold}^{\text{QIX}}$ (% per quarter)	29.18	17.78	2.76	13.99	28.55	42.85	58.92					
$\text{StockHold}^{\text{TRA}}$ (% per quarter)	9.89	8.96	0.00	2.87	7.71	14.55	27.45					
$\text{StockHold}^{\text{DED}}$ (% per quarter)	1.94	4.68	0.00	0.00	0.03	1.61	10.25					
$\text{StockHold}^{\text{OTH}}$ (% per quarter)	52.29	26.09	11.35	30.95	51.57	74.16	94.03					
$\Delta$ StockHold <sup>HF</sup> (% per quarter)	0.30	2.36	-3.30	-0.61	0.10	1.09	4.40					
$\Delta$ StockHold <sup>QIX</sup> (% per quarter)	0.87	4.28	-5.73	-1.15	0.44	2.70	8.45					
$\Delta$ StockHold <sup>TRA</sup> (% per quarter)	0.28	3.61	-5.43	-1.12	0.06	1.49	6.65					
$\Delta$ StockHold <sup>DED</sup> (% per quarter)	0.04	1.35	-1.72	-0.07	0.00	0.10	2.02					
$\Delta$ StockHold <sup>OTH</sup> (% per quarter)	-0.07	6.51	-10.10	-2.92	-0.26	2.18	10.84					
Pane	el B: Ci	risis (200	7q3-200	9q1)								
	Mean	Std.Dev	P5	P25	Median	P75	P95					
$\operatorname{StockHold}^{\operatorname{HF}}(\% \operatorname{per quarter})$	10.89	7.85	0.54	5.25	9.45	15.11	25.60					
$\text{StockHold}^{\text{QIX}}$ (% per quarter)	40.49	19.77	5.28	25.41	43.13	55.77	69.79					
$\text{StockHold}^{\text{TRA}}$ (% per quarter)	12.63	8.50	0.82	6.30	11.49	17.65	28.15					
$\text{StockHold}^{\text{DED}}$ (% per quarter)	1.72	5.06	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.22	10.54					
$\text{StockHold}^{\text{OTH}}$ (% per quarter)	33.08	25.84	1.22	12.18	25.93	50.15	85.01					

$\Delta StockHold^{HF} (\% \text{ per quarter})$ $\Delta StockHold^{QIX} (\% \text{ per quarter})$ $\Delta StockHold^{TRA} (\% \text{ per quarter})$ $\Delta StockHold^{DED} (\% \text{ per quarter})$	0.02 0.40 -0.30 -0.20	$2.55 \\ 4.36 \\ 3.54 \\ 1.81$	-4.16 -6.66 -6.27 -3.80	-1.14 -1.69 -1.87 -0.21	-0.02 0.21 -0.18 -0.01
$\Delta$ StockHold <sup>DED</sup> (% per quarter)	-0.20	1.81	-3.80	-0.21	-0.01
$\Delta$ StockHold <sup>OTH</sup> (% per quarter)	0.59	5.54	-7.88	-1.91	0.27

#### Panel C: Post-Crisis (2009q2-2017q4)

		•						
	Mean	Std.Dev	P5	P25	Median	P75	P95	
$\operatorname{StockHold}^{\operatorname{HF}}(\% \operatorname{per quarter})$	10.51	7.56	0.42	5.17	9.26	14.47	24.45	
StockHold <sup>QIX</sup> ( $\%$ per quarter)	40.08	19.52	2.25	26.03	44.13	55.03	67.04	
$\operatorname{StockHold}^{\operatorname{TRA}}(\% \text{ per quarter})$	13.79	8.20	0.11	7.92	13.81	19.28	27.36	
$\operatorname{StockHold}^{\operatorname{DED}}(\% \operatorname{per quarter})$	1.33	5.25	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.01	8.27	
$\operatorname{StockHold}^{\operatorname{OTH}}(\% \text{ per quarter})$	33.26	27.33	2.87	12.18	24.24	48.59	94.07	
$\Delta$ StockHold <sup>HF</sup> (% per quarter)	0.15	2.24	-3.17	-0.78	0.01	0.89	3.99	
$\Delta$ StockHold <sup>QIX</sup> (% per quarter)	0.30	3.55	-5.03	-1.21	0.10	1.67	6.06	
$\Delta$ StockHold <sup>TRA</sup> (% per quarter)	0.33	2.99	-4.18	-0.91	0.07	1.39	5.67	
$\Delta$ StockHold <sup>DED</sup> (% per quarter)	-0.11	1.45	-2.34	-0.10	0.00	0.04	1.52	
$\Delta$ StockHold <sup>OTH</sup> (% per quarter)	-0.05	4.64	-6.74	-1.77	-0.07	1.49	6.37	

1.06

2.36

1.19

0.04

2.87

4.36

8.12

5.56

2.34

9.53

#### Table 1.3: Trading swaps and possible counterparties of hedge fund trades

This table reports monthly ex-post excess returns over the risk-free rate (measured as the 3-month T-bill rate), ex-post CAPM alphas and market betas, Amihud illiquidity (Amihud, 2002), DGTW-adjusted excess returns (Daniel et al., 1997), corresponding ex-post 2-factor alphas and factor loadings for the short-term portfolios of quarterly trading swaps between HFs and non-HF investors from 1994q2 to 2017q4. Non-HF investors include (1) quasi-indexers (QIXs), (2) transient institutions (TRAs), and (3) other investors (OTHs), following Bushee (2001) and Ben-David et al. (2012). Portfolios are constructed at the end of each quarter and held for the following quarter. Stocks with the change in holding below (above) the bottom (top) 20<sup>th</sup> percentile are considered as those that investors significantly sell (buy); they are denoted by S (B) respectively. Factors considered in the 2-factor model are betting-against-beta (Frazzini and Pedersen, 2014) and liquidity (Pástor and Stambaugh, 2003). \*, \*\*, \*\*\* indicate significance at the 10%, 5%, and 1% level respectively. The standard errors are adjusted for heteroscedasticity and serial correlation using the Newey-West estimator with 6 lags. t-statistics are reported in brackets.

	Panel A: Risk-Free Excess Returns, CAPM Alphas, CAPM Betas, and Amihud Illiquidity											
	Risk-l	Free Excess l	Returns (%)	CA	PM Alphas	(%)		CAPM Beta	ıs	Amihud	l Illiquidity	$(\times 10^{-6}))$
	HF/QIX	HF/TRA	HF/OTH	HF/QIX	HF/TRA	HF/OTH	HF/QIX	HF/TRA	HF/OTH	HF/QIX	HF/TRA	HF/OTH
S/B	0.58	$0.89^{**}$	$0.62^{*}$	-0.35**	0.03	-0.34*	$1.34^{***}$	$1.24^{***}$	$1.37^{***}$	$0.70^{***}$	$0.59^{***}$	$1.09^{***}$
	(1.49)	(2.51)	(1.68)	(-2.28)	(0.15)	(-1.81)	(26.36)	(29.49)	(20.59)	(7.03)	(7.99)	(9.30)
B/S	$1.34^{***}$	$0.97^{***}$	$1.04^{***}$	$0.57^{***}$	0.07	0.13	$1.10^{***}$	$1.29^{***}$	$1.30^{***}$	$1.10^{***}$	$0.74^{***}$	$1.13^{***}$
	(4.40)	(2.70)	(2.73)	(2.88)	(0.40)	(0.68)	(29.68)	(32.54)	(26.52)	(6.53)	(6.58)	(9.47)
B/S - S/B	$0.75^{***}$	0.08	$0.42^{**}$	$0.92^{***}$	0.05	$0.47^{**}$	-0.24***	0.05	-0.07	$0.40^{***}$	0.15	0.04
	(3.76)	(0.54)	(2.31)	(5.04)	(0.32)	(2.53)	(-4.04)	(1.23)	(-1.53)	(3.09)	(1.59)	(0.35)
		Panel B: I	GTW-Adjusted	Excess R	eturns, 2-I	Factor Alph	as, and Fa	ctor Loadi	ngs on LIQ	and BAB		
	DGTW-A	djusted Exc	ess Returns (%)	2-Fa	actor Alphas	s (%)	Factor Loadings on LIQ Factor Loadings on BAB					
	HF/QIX	HF/TRA	HF/OTH	HF/QIX	HF/TRA	HF/OTH	HF/QIX	HF/TRA	HF/OTH	HF/QIX	HF/TRA	HF/OTH
S/B	-0.19*	0.09	-0.06	-0.11	0.14	0.11	0.11**	0.10**	$0.13^{***}$	-0.17***	-0.13	-0.29***
,	(-1.66)	(0.70)	(-0.53)	(-0.86)	(1.00)	(0.98)	(2.28)	(2.30)	(3.66)	(-2.89)	(-1.46)	(-5.62)
B/S	$0.50^{***}$	0.18	0.19	$0.47^{***}$	0.18	0.25	$0.10^{***}$	0.08	0.06	-0.02	-0.04	-0.11
	(3.77)	(1.60)	(1.39)	(3.83)	(1.49)	(1.35)	(3.32)	(1.51)	(0.96)	(-0.39)	(-1.11)	(-1.02)
B/S - S/B	$0.69^{***}$	0.09	0.25	$0.58^{***}$	0.04	0.15	-0.01	-0.03	-0.07	$0.15^{***}$	0.09	0.17
	(4.15)	(0.60)	(1.51)	(3.39)	(0.22)	(0.65)	(-0.30)	(-0.43)	(-1.18)	(2.71)	(1.19)	(1.38)

# Table 1.4: Trading swaps: QIXs sub-groups

This table reports monthly ex-post excess returns over the risk-free rate (measured as the 3-month T-bill rate), ex-post CAPM alphas and market betas, Amihud illiquidity (Amihud, 2002), DGTW-adjusted excess returns (Daniel et al., 1997), corresponding ex-post 2-factor alphas and factor loadings for the short-term portfolios of quarterly trading swaps between HFs and different groups of QIXs from 1994q2 to 2017q4. QIXs include independent investment advisors (IIA), banks (BNK), and other QIXs like insurance companies, pension funds and endowments (OTQIX). Portfolios are constructed at the end of each quarter and held for the following quarter. Stocks with the change in holding below (above) the bottom (top) 20<sup>th</sup> percentile are considered as those that investors significantly sell (buy); they are denoted by S (B) respectively. Factors considered in the 2-factor model are betting-against-beta (Frazzini and Pedersen, 2014) and liquidity (Pástor and Stambaugh, 2003). \*, \*\*, \*\*\* indicate significance at the 10%, 5%, and 1% level respectively. The standard errors are adjusted for heteroscedasticity and serial correlation using the Newey-West estimator with 6 lags. t-statistics are reported in brackets.

		Pa	nel A: Risk-Free	e Excess R	eturns, C	APM Alphas,	CAPM B	etas, and A	Amihud Illiqu	idity		
	Risk-	-Free Excess	Returns (%)	C	APM Alph	as (%)		CAPM Be	tas	Amih	ud Illiquidit	$y (\times 10^{-6})$
	HF/IIA	HF/BNK	HF/OTQIX	HF/IIA	HF/BNK	HF/OTQIX	HF/IIA	HF/BNK	HF/OTQIX	HF/IIA	HF/BNK	HF/OTQIX
S/B	0.60	0.42	0.67	-0.37**	-0.52**	-0.29	$1.39^{***}$	$1.35^{***}$	$1.37^{***}$	$0.74^{***}$	$0.43^{***}$	$0.51^{***}$
	(1.47)	(0.97)	(1.58)	(-2.12)	(-2.40)	(-1.46)	(23.09)	(20.68)	(21.62)	(6.48)	(5.29)	(5.29)
B/S	1.38***	1.38***	1.30***	0.66***	0.63***	$0.47^{**}$	1.03***	1.08***	1.18***	1.10***	0.70***	0.78***
,	(4.80)	(4.53)	(3.76)	(2.85)	(2.71)	(2.24)	(24.33)	(25.13)	(28.05)	(5.49)	(5.43)	(5.35)
B/S - S/B	$0.78^{***}$	$0.96^{***}$	$0.62^{**}$	$1.04^{***}$	$1.15^{***}$	$0.76^{***}$	-0.36***	-0.26***	-0.19***	$0.36^{**}$	$0.27^{***}$	$0.26^{*}$
	(3.26)	(3.41)	(2.47)	(5.04)	(4.37)	(3.11)	(-5.05)	(-3.04)	(-2.75)	(2.55)	(3.01)	(1.92)
		Panel I	3: DGTW-Adjus	sted Exces	s Returns,	2-Factor Alp	ohas, and F	actor Load	lings on LIQ	and BAB		
	DGTW-	Adjusted Exc	cess Returns (%)	2-	Factor Alph	as (%)	Factor Loadings on LIQ Factor Loadings on B					
	HF/IIA	HF/BNK	HF/OTQIX	HF/IIA	HF/BNK	HF/OTQIX	HF/IIA	HF/BNK	HF/OTQIX	HF/IIA	HF/BNK	HF/OTQIX
S/B	-0.17	-0.34*	-0.10	-0.06	-0.23	0.00	0.09	$0.12^{*}$	0.12	-0.20***	-0.22**	-0.19**
	(-1.07)	(-1.86)	(-0.66)	(-0.33)	(-1.10)	(-0.00)	(1.58)	(1.69)	(1.55)	(-2.82)	(-2.28)	(-2.43)
B/S	$0.41^{***}$	$0.54^{***}$	$0.48^{***}$	$0.39^{***}$	$0.52^{***}$	$0.49^{***}$	$0.08^{***}$	0.09**	$0.12^{**}$	-0.02	-0.03	-0.07
	(2.71)	(3.65)	(2.95)	(2.62)	(3.74)	(2.75)	(2.89)	(2.27)	(2.22)	(-0.28)	(-0.64)	(-1.49)
B/S - S/B	$0.59^{***}$	0.88***	$0.58^{***}$	0.45**	$0.74^{***}$	0.49**	-0.01	-0.03	0.00	0.18***	$0.19^{*}$	0.12**
	(2.90)	(3.73)	(2.87)	(2.04)	(2.89)	(2.45)	(-0.12)	(-0.42)	(0.04)	(2.95)	(1.80)	(1.99)

Table 1.5: Average change in holdings of trading-swap stocks

This table reports the average quarterly change in holding ( $\Delta$ StockHold, in % per quarter) of trading-swap stocks between HFs and quasi-indexers (QIXs) in trading quarters (q) and corresponding average quarterly change in holding of HFs and non-HF investors of the same stocks in quarters following trading (q+1) from 1994q2 to 2017q4. In trading quarter, stocks with the change in holding below (above) the bottom (top) 20<sup>th</sup> percentile are considered as those that investors significantly sell (buy). Non-HF investors include (1) quasi-indexers (QIXs), (2) transient institutions (TRAs), and (3) other investors (OTHs), following Bushee (2001) and Ben-David et al. (2012).

	$\Delta StockHo$	old (%) in q	$\Delta \xi$	StockHold	(%) in q-	+1
	HF	/QIX	HF	QIX	TRA	OTH
S/B	-2.88***	$5.80^{***}$	0.04	0.86***	-0.01	0.33**
	(-61.39)	(34.68)	(0.79)	(9.15)	(-0.14)	(2.06)
B/S	$3.43^{***}$	-4.65***	$0.33^{***}$	0.11	$0.35^{***}$	-0.11
	(57.99)	(-44.56)	(7.19)	(0.86)	(4.17)	(-0.84)

#### Table 1.6: Impact of financial crisis on trading swaps: risk-free excess return, alpha, market beta, and Amihud illiquidity

This table reports monthly ex-post excess returns over the risk-free rate (measured as the 3-month T-bill rate), ex-post CAPM alphas and market betas, Amihud illiquidity (Amihud, 2002) for the short-term portfolios of quarterly trading swaps between HFs and non-HF investors in pre-crisis (1994q2-2007q2), crisis (2007q3-2009q1), and post-crisis (2009q2-2017q4) periods (Ben-David et al., 2012). Non-HF investors include (1) quasi-indexers (QIXs), (2) transient institutions (TRAs), and (3) other investors (OTHs), following Bushee (2001) and Ben-David et al. (2012). Portfolios are constructed at the end of each quarter and held for the following quarter. Stocks with the change in holding below (above) the bottom (top) 20<sup>th</sup> percentile are considered as those that investors significantly sell (buy); they are denoted by S (B) respectively. \*, \*\*, \*\*\* indicate significance at the 10%, 5%, and 1% level respectively. The standard errors are adjusted for heteroscedasticity and serial correlation using the Newey-West estimator with 6 lags. t-statistics are reported in brackets.

				Pa	nel A: Pre	-Crisis (199	94q2-2007q	2)				
	Risk-Fre	e Excess Re	turns (%)	CA	.PM Alphas	(%)		CAPM Beta	as	Amihu	d Illiquidity	$(\times 10^{-6})$
S/B	HF/QIX 0.64	HF/TRA 0.92**	HF/OTH 0.48	HF/QIX -0.33	HF/TRA 0.06	HF/OTH -0.55**	HF/QIX 1.43***	HF/TRA 1.25***	HF/OTH 1.50***	HF/QIX 0.83***	HF/TRA 0.67***	HF/OTH 1.20***
B/S	(1.34) $1.43^{***}$	(2.11) $0.92^{**}$	(1.02) $0.98^{*}$	(-1.41) $0.68^{**}$	(0.23) 0.03 (0.12)	(-2.51) 0.03	(17.02) $1.10^{***}$	(18.10) $1.29^{***}$ (10.70)	(15.81) $1.38^{***}$	(5.87) $1.39^{***}$	(6.52) $0.86^{***}$	(7.95) $1.14^{***}$
B/S - S/B	(3.75) $0.79^{**}$ (2.49)	(2.17) 0.00 (-0.01)	(1.90) $0.50^{*}$ (1.69)	(2.14) $1.01^{***}$ (3.47)	(0.12) -0.03 (-0.14)	(0.11) $0.58^{*}$ (1.97)	(18.03) $-0.33^{***}$ (-3.39)	(19.79) 0.04 (0.68)	(20.93) $-0.12^{*}$ (-1.80)	(5.69) $0.56^{***}$ (4.06)	(5.50) $0.19^{**}$ (2.19)	(0.81) -0.06 (-0.64)
					Panel B: C	Crisis (2007	q <b>3-2</b> 009q1)					
	Risk-Fre	e Excess Re	eturns (%)	CA	PM Alphas	(%)		CAPM Beta	as	Amihu	d Illiquidity	$(\times 10^{-6})$
	HF/QIX	HF/TRA	HF/OTH	HF/QIX	HF/TRA	HF/OTH	HF/QIX	HF/TRA	HF/OTH	HF/QIX	HF/TRA	HF/OTH
S/B	-2.52 (-1.08)	-1.68 (-0.80)	-0.68 (-0.28)	-0.06 (-0.15)	$0.71^{*}$ (1.90)	$1.95^{**}$ (2.37)	$1.24^{***}$ (29.77)	$1.21^{***}$ (24.08)	$1.33^{***}$ (24.31)	$0.38^{***}$ (5.42)	$\begin{array}{c} 0.33^{***} \\ (3.38) \end{array}$	$1.03^{***}$ (3.11)
B/S	-0.40 (-0.21)	-1.25 (-0.51)	-1.01 (-0.49)	$1.92^{***}$ (6.35)	$1.54^{***}$ (4.02)	$1.41^{***}$ (3.78)	$1.17^{***}$ (41.40)	$1.41^{***}$ (31.24)	$1.22^{***}$ (45.77)	$0.48^{***}$ (4.85)	$0.78^{***}$ (3.92)	$1.13^{***}$ (3.24)
B/S - S/B	$2.12^{***}$ (3.55)	0.43 (1.01)	-0.33 (-0.50)	$1.98^{***}$ (4.25)	$0.83^{**}$ (2.85)	-0.54 (-0.86)	-0.07 (-1.31)	$0.20^{***}$ (2.89)	$-0.11^{*}$ (-2.05)	$\begin{array}{c} 0.10 \\ (0.69) \end{array}$	$0.45^{*}$ (2.07)	0.10 (0.24)
				Pa	nel C: Pos	t-Crisis (20	09q2-2017c	<b>1</b> 4)				
	Risk-Fre	e Excess Re	eturns (%)	CA	.PM Alphas	(%)		CAPM Beta	as	Amihu	d Illiquidity	$(\times 10^{-6})$
S/B	HF/QIX 1.11**	HF/TRA 1.36***	HF/OTH 1.09***	HF/QIX -0.44**	HF/TRA -0.24	HF/OTH -0.45***	HF/QIX 1.24***	HF/TRA 1.27***	HF/OTH 1.22***	HF/QIX 0.58***	HF/TRA 0.53***	HF/OTH 0.94***
B/S	(2.49) $1.54^{***}$	(3.18) $1.49^{***}$	(2.63) $1.54^{***}$	(-2.05) 0.14	(-1.39) -0.08	(-3.02) -0.03	(20.36) $1.12^{***}$	(23.11) $1.26^{***}$	(23.10) $1.25^{***}$	(3.72) $0.79^{***}$	(4.41) $0.56^{***}$	(4.76) $1.12^{***}$
B/S - S/B	(4.04) $0.43^{***}$ (3.03)	(3.62) 0.14 (0.84)	(3.58) $0.45^{***}$ (2.71)	(0.83) $0.58^{***}$ (3.62)	(-0.38) 0.16 (0.92)	(-0.15) $0.41^{**}$ (2.03)	(19.67) -0.13** (-2.47)	(19.21) -0.02 (-0.34)	(15.99) 0.03 (0.45)	(3.41) 0.21 (0.80)	(3.06) 0.04 (0.16)	(5.87) 0.18 (0.65)
	(0.00)	(0.04)	(4.11)	(0.02)	(0.02)	(2.00)	(-2.11)	(-0.04)	(0.10)	(0.00)	(0.10)	(0.00)

# Table 1.7: Impact of financial crisis on trading swaps: DGTW-adjusted excess return, 2-factor alpha, and factor loading

This table reports DGTW-adjusted excess returns (Daniel et al., 1997), corresponding ex-post 2-factor alphas and factor loadings for the short-term portfolios of quarterly trading swaps between HFs and non-HF investors in pre-crisis (1994q2-2007q2), crisis (2007q3-2009q1), and post-crisis (2009q2-2017q4) periods (Ben-David et al., 2012). Non-HF investors include (1) quasi-indexers (QIXs), (2) transient institutions (TRAs), and (3) other investors (OTHs), following Bushee (2001) and Ben-David et al. (2012). Portfolios are constructed at the end of each quarter and held for the following quarter. Stocks with the change in holding below (above) the bottom (top) 20<sup>th</sup> percentile are considered as those that investors significantly sell (buy); they are denoted by S (B) respectively. Factors considered in the 2-factor model are betting-against-beta (Frazzini and Pedersen, 2014) and liquidity (Pástor and Stambaugh, 2003). \*, \*\*, \*\*\* indicate significance at the 10%, 5%, and 1% level respectively. The standard errors are adjusted for heteroscedasticity and serial correlation using the Newey-West estimator with 6 lags. t-statistics are reported in brackets.

				Pane	l A: Pre-C	risis (1994a	q2-2007q2)					
	DGTW-A	djusted Exce	ss Returns (%)	2-Fa	actor Alphas	s (%)	Facto	r Loadings (	on LIQ	Factor	· Loadings o	on BAB
	HF/QIX	HF/TRA	HF/OTH	HF/QIX	HF/TRA	HF/OTH	HF/QIX	HF/TRA	HF/OTH	HF/QIX	HF/TRA	HF/OTH
S/B	-0.10	0.13	-0.15	0.12	0.27	0.11	0.04	0.04	$0.13^{***}$	-0.24***	-0.17	-0.35***
	(-0.59)	(0.65)	(-0.90)	(0.76)	(1.22)	(0.57)	(0.59)	(0.65)	(2.87)	(-4.04)	(-1.45)	(-6.50)
B/S	$0.67^{***}$	0.27	0.21	$0.68^{***}$	$0.35^{*}$	0.43	0.04	0.00	-0.03	-0.04	-0.07	-0.18
	(3.44)	(1.55)	(0.92)	(3.52)	(1.79)	(1.40)	(0.76)	(-0.04)	(-0.37)	(-0.60)	(-1.56)	(-1.25)
B/S - S/B	$0.78^{***}$	0.14	0.36	$0.55^{**}$	0.08	0.32	0.00	-0.04	-0.16**	$0.21^{***}$	0.10	0.17
	(2.89)	(0.55)	(1.33)	(2.10)	(0.31)	(0.83)	(0.02)	(-0.49)	(-2.27)	(3.86)	(1.04)	(1.07)
				Pa	nel B: Cris	sis $(2007q3-$	-2009q1)					
	DGTW-A	djusted Exce	ss Returns (%)	2-Fa	actor Alphas	s (%)	Facto	r Loadings o	on LIQ	Factor	Loadings o	on BAB
	HF/QIX	HF/TRA	HF/OTH	HF/QIX	HF/TRA	HF/OTH	HF/QIX	HF/TRA	HF/OTH	HF/QIX	HF/TRA	HF/OTH
S/B	-0.67	0.06	0.91**	-0.55	0.01	0.91**	0.18***	$0.21^{***}$	0.11**	0.08	-0.04	0.00
	(-1.37)	(0.15)	(2.21)	(-1.14)	(0.01)	(2.15)	(5.01)	(3.90)	(2.83)	(1.53)	(-0.52)	(-0.07)
B/S	0.80	0.17	0.43	0.85	0.32	0.49	$0.18^{***}$	0.16	$0.19^{**}$	0.03	$0.10^{*}$	0.04
	(1.20)	(0.32)	(1.08)	(1.13)	(0.80)	(1.33)	(4.27)	(1.49)	(2.41)	(0.35)	(1.94)	(0.38)
B/S - S/B	$1.47^{***}$	0.11	-0.48	$1.40^{***}$	0.31	-0.42	0.00	-0.05	0.09	-0.05	$0.14^{*}$	0.04
	(4.13)	(0.22)	(-0.90)	(3.26)	(0.67)	(-0.73)	(-0.10)	(-0.45)	(1.06)	(-0.62)	(1.74)	(0.85)
				Panel	C: Post-C	Crisis (2009	q <b>2-20</b> 17q4)					
	DGTW-A	djusted Exce	ss Returns (%)	2-Fa	actor Alphas	s (%)	Facto	r Loadings o	on LIQ	Factor	Loadings o	on BAB
	HF/QIX	HF/TRA	HF/OTH	HF/QIX	HF/TRA	HF/OTH	HF/QIX	HF/TRA	HF/OTH	HF/QIX	HF/TRA	HF/OTH
S/B	-0.23*	0.02	-0.12	-0.20	0.10	-0.04	0.09	0.08	0.05	-0.01	-0.08	-0.09*
	(-1.87)	(0.21)	(-1.10)	(-1.46)	(0.76)	(-0.37)	(1.50)	(1.58)	(0.77)	(-0.24)	(-0.99)	(-1.96)
B/S	0.17	0.05	0.12	$0.19^{*}$	0.15	0.05	$0.11^{***}$	$0.08^{**}$	0.03	0.01	-0.11	0.10
	(1.60)	(0.42)	(0.99)	(1.70)	(1.07)	(0.38)	(3.86)	(2.37)	(0.69)	(0.10)	(-1.53)	(1.63)
B/S - S/B	$0.40^{***}$	0.02	$0.24^{*}$	$0.39^{**}$	0.05	0.09	0.02	0.00	-0.01	0.02	-0.03	$0.19^{***}$
	(3.05)	(0.15)	(1.69)	(2.49)	(0.24)	(0.69)	(0.29)	(0.01)	(-0.19)	(0.24)	(-0.28)	(2.95)

# Table 1.8: Trading swaps: long-term

This table reports monthly ex-post excess returns over the risk-free rate (measured as the 3-month T-bill rate), ex-post CAPM alphas and market betas, Amihud illiquidity (Amihud, 2002), DGTW-adjusted excess returns (Daniel et al., 1997), corresponding ex-post 2-factor alphas and factor loadings for the long-term portfolios of quarterly trading swaps between HFs and non-HF investors from 1994q2 to 2017q4. Non-HF investors include (1) quasi-indexers (QIXs), (2) transient institutions (TRAs), and (3) other investors (OTHs), following Bushee (2001) and Ben-David et al. (2012). Portfolios are constructed at the end of each quarter and held for the following four quarters. Stocks with the change in holding below (above) the bottom (top) 20<sup>th</sup> percentile are considered as those that investors significantly sell (buy); they are denoted by S (B) respectively. Factors considered in the 2-factor model are betting-against-beta (Frazzini and Pedersen, 2014) and liquidity (Pástor and Stambaugh, 2003). \*, \*\*, \*\*\* indicate significance at the 10%, 5%, and 1% level respectively. The standard errors are adjusted for heteroscedasticity and serial correlation using the Newey-West estimator with 6 lags. t-statistics are reported in brackets.

	Panel A: Risk-Free Excess Returns, CAPM Alphas, CAPM Betas, and Amihud illiquidity											
	Risk-l	Free Excess I	Returns (%)	CA	.PM Alphas	(%)		CAPM Beta	as	Amihuo	d Illiquidity	$(\times 10^{-6})$
	HF/QIX	HF/TRA	HF/OTH	HF/QIX	HF/TRA	HF/OTH	HF/QIX	HF/TRA	HF/OTH	HF/QIX	HF/TRA	HF/OTH
S/B	$0.68^{*}$	$0.72^{*}$	$0.64^{*}$	-0.19	-0.11	-0.24	$1.32^{***}$	$1.26^{***}$	$1.34^{***}$	$0.73^{***}$	$0.60^{***}$	$1.07^{***}$
	(1.87)	(1.96)	(1.74)	(-1.37)	(-0.75)	(-1.65)	(35.10)	(39.24)	(26.11)	(7.23)	(7.87)	(10.72)
B/S	$1.05^{***}$	$0.92^{***}$	$0.85^{**}$	0.30**	0.10	-0.01	1.15***	$1.25^{***}$	$1.31^{***}$	$1.15^{***}$	$0.75^{***}$	$1.12^{***}$
	(3.34)	(2.71)	(2.23)	(1.99)	(0.70)	(-0.07)	(32.66)	(40.38)	(33.59)	(6.82)	(6.72)	(10.05)
B/S - S/B	$0.37^{***}$	$0.20^{**}$	$0.21^{**}$	$0.48^{***}$	$0.20^{**}$	$0.23^{**}$	-0.17***	-0.01	-0.03	$0.41^{***}$	$0.15^{**}$	0.05
	(3.83)	(2.05)	(2.01)	(4.79)	(2.05)	(2.24)	(-3.57)	(-0.21)	(-0.99)	(3.96)	(2.07)	(0.63)
		Panel B: D	GTW-Adjusted	l Excess R	eturns, 2-I	Factor Alph	as, and Fao	ctor Loadi	ngs on LIQ	and BAB		
	DGTW-A	djusted Exc	ess Returns (%)	2-Fa	actor Alpha	s (%)	Factor Loadings on LIQ Factor Loadings on BAB					
	HF/QIX	HF/TRA	HF/OTH	HF/QIX	HF/TRA	HF/OTH	HF/QIX	HF/TRA	HF/OTH	HF/QIX	HF/TRA	HF/OTH
S/B	-0.07	-0.03	-0.05	0.00	-0.01	0.04	0.10***	0.09**	$0.11^{***}$	-0.15***	-0.07	-0.18***
·	(-0.79)	(-0.29)	(-0.60)	(0.00)	(-0.11)	(0.56)	(2.64)	(2.49)	(4.11)	(-2.69)	(-1.13)	(-4.85)
B/S	0.23***	0.14**	0.11	0.18**	0.13	0.16	0.10***	0.09**	0.09**	0.01	-0.04	-0.12
	(3.15)	(2.05)	(0.95)	(2.03)	(1.49)	(1.11)	(3.24)	(2.31)	(2.11)	(0.19)	(-0.72)	(-1.24)
B/S - S/B	0.30***	$0.17^{**}$	$0.16^{*}$	0.18**	$0.15^{*}$	0.12	0.00	0.00	-0.02	$0.16^{***}$	0.03	0.06
· · ·	(3.58)	(2.12)	(1.83)	(1.98)	(1.83)	(0.96)	(0.04)	(-0.13)	(-0.48)	(4.04)	(1.40)	(0.75)

#### Table 1.9: Market anomalies: descriptive statistics and portfolio performance

This table reports the descriptive statistics, portfolio CAPM alphas and DGTW-adjusted excess returns (Daniel et al., 1997) from 1994q3 to 2018q2 for nine market anomalies, including the OP (operating profit), GP (gross profitability), O-Score, IVA (investment-to-assets), IK (investment growth), NOA (net operating assets), NSI (net stock issues), ACR (accrual), and AG (asset growth) anomalies. Portfolios are constructed in the second quarter of year t using anomaly information for the fiscal year ending in calendar year t-1 and are held for the following one year. Short (Long) leg is defined as portfolios that expect to have negative (positive) ex-post alphas, which comprise stocks at the bottom (top) 20% of OP and GP anomaly and those at the top (bottom) 20% of O-Score, IVA, IK, NOA, NSI, ACR, or AG anomaly. EW-Avg refers to the equal-weighted portfolio of portfolios for nine anomalies. \*, \*\*, \*\*\* indicate significance at the 10%, 5%, and 1% level respectively. The standard errors are adjusted for hereroscedasticity and serial correlation using the Newey-West estimator with 12 lags. t-statistics are reported in brackets.

		Panel A	A: Descrip	otive Sta	tistics of	f Market	Anomal	ies		
	Mean	Std.Dev	P5	P25	Median	P75	P95			
OP	0.20	0.37	-0.38	0.10	0.22	0.33	0.66			
GP	0.36	0.27	0.00	0.20	0.33	0.50	0.85			
O-Score	-3.16	2.52	-6.63	-4.67	-3.41	-2.01	1.04			
IVA	0.10	0.21	-0.07	0.01	0.05	0.13	0.45			
IK	0.58	1.73	-0.61	-0.18	0.13	0.64	3.14			
NOA	0.68	0.45	0.07	0.45	0.65	0.82	1.37			
NSI	0.12	0.39	-0.06	0.00	0.01	0.05	0.60			
ACR	0.01	0.25	-0.26	-0.04	0.01	0.07	0.30			
AG	0.37	1.00	-0.16	0.00	0.10	0.28	1.76			
		Pane	el B: CAI	PM Alph	as of Ar	nomaly Po	$\operatorname{ortfolios}$			
	OP	GP	O-Score	IVA	IK	NOA	NSI	ACR	AG	EW-Avg
Short Leg	-0.27	$-0.27^{*}$	-0.22	-0.34**	-0.12	-0.40***	-0.24	-0.21	-0.09	-0.24*
	(-1.27)	(-1.72)	(-1.20)	(-2.02)	(-0.71)	(-3.04)	(-1.40)	(-1.28)	(-0.52)	(-1.72)
Long Leg	0.18	$0.36^{***}$	0.13	0.12	0.20	0.25	0.28	0.15	0.16	$0.20^{*}$
	(1.21)	(3.08)	(1.00)	(0.78)	(1.09)	(1.60)	(1.45)	(1.17)	(0.92)	(1.79)
Long – Short	0.45	$0.64^{***}$	$0.35^{**}$	$0.46^{**}$	$0.31^{**}$	$0.65^{***}$	$0.53^{*}$	$0.35^{**}$	0.26	$0.44^{***}$
	(1.45)	(3.78)	(2.29)	(2.45)	(2.44)	(3.50)	(1.79)	(2.13)	(0.96)	(3.67)
	Pane	l C: DGI	W-Adju	sted Exc	ess Retu	rns of An	iomaly I	Portfolio	s	
	OP	GP	O-Score	IVA	IK	NOA	NSI	ACR	AG	EW-Avg
Short Leg	-0.12	-0.15	-0.09	-0.24**	-0.05	-0.35***	-0.09	-0.16**	-0.01	-0.14
	(-0.68)	(-1.25)	(-0.59)	(-2.23)	(-0.51)	(-3.44)	(-0.77)	(-2.12)	(-0.07)	(-1.46)
Long Leg	0.05	$0.23^{***}$	0.06	0.07	0.21	$0.21^{*}$	0.01	0.11	0.07	$0.11^{*}$
	(0.58)	(2.63)	(0.74)	(0.99)	(1.56)	(1.78)	(0.15)	(1.11)	(1.07)	(1.92)
Long – Short	0.17	$0.38^{**}$	0.16	$0.31^{**}$	$0.26^{**}$	$0.56^{***}$	0.10	$0.27^{**}$	0.08	$0.25^{***}$
	(0.76)	(2.58)	(1.08)	(2.37)	(2.26)	(3.66)	(0.59)	(2.22)	(0.59)	(3.01)

#### Table 1.10: Trading swaps for market anomalies: risk-free excess return, alpha, market beta, and Amihud illiquidity

This table reports the monthly ex-post excess returns over the risk-free rate (measured as the 3-month T-bill rate), ex-post CAPM alphas and market betas, Amihud illiquidity (Amihud, 2002) for the equal-weighted portfolio of trading-swap portfolios from 1994q3 to 2018q2 for nine anomalies, including the operating profit, gross profitability, O-Score, investment-to-assets, investment growth, net operating assets, net stock issues, accrual, and asset growth anomalies. Trading swaps are between HFs and Non-HF investors, which include (1) quasi-indexers (QIXs), (2) transient institutions (TRAs), and (3) other investors (OTHs), following Bushee (2001) and Ben-David et al. (2012). Portfolios are constructed in the second quarter of year t using the change in holding information in the same quarter and the anomaly information for the fiscal year ending in calendar year t-1, and are held for the following one year. Stocks with the change in holding below (above) the bottom (top) 20<sup>th</sup> percentile are considered as those that investors significantly sell (buy); they are denoted by S (B) respectively. Short (Long) leg is defined as portfolios that expect to have negative (positive) ex-post alphas, which comprise stocks at the bottom (top) 20% of OP and GP anomaly and those at the top (bottom) 20% of O-Score, IVA, IK, NOA, NSI, ACR, or AG anomaly. \*, \*\*, \*\*\* indicate significance at the 10%, 5%, and 1% level respectively. The standard errors are adjusted for heteroscedasticity and serial correlation using the Newey-West estimator with 12 lags. t-statistics are reported in brackets.

					Pane	l A: HF/QIX	Swap					
	Risk-Fr	ee Excess	Returns (%)	CA	APM Alph	nas (%)		CAPM Be	etas	Amihu	ıd Illiquidi	ty (×10 <sup>-6</sup> )
Short Leg	S/B 0.65 (1.50)	B/S 1.44*** (3.33)	$\frac{B/S - S/B}{0.79^{**}}$ (2.13)	S/B -0.46** (-2.07)	B/S 0.46 (1.28)	$\frac{B/S - S/B}{0.92^{***}}$ (2.62)	S/B 1.41*** (25.56)	B/S 1.24*** (25.63)	B/S - S/B -0.16** (-2.34)	S/B 0.85*** (3.21)	B/S 1.06*** (4.57)	B/S - S/B 0.21 (0.85)
Long Leg	$1.06^{***}$	$1.37^{***}$ (5.03)	$0.31^{*}$	0.09	$0.51^{***}$ (2.73)	$0.43^{***}$	$1.23^{***}$	$1.08^{***}$	-0.15*** (-5.90)	$0.67^{***}$	$0.90^{***}$	0.23 (1.64)
Long - Short	(2.26) $0.41^{**}$ (2.26)	-0.07 (-0.30)	-0.48 (-1.42)	(0.57) $(0.55^{***})$ (3.08)	(2.10) 0.05 (0.24)	-0.49 (-1.49)	$-0.17^{***}$ (-3.32)	$-0.16^{***}$ (-2.71)	(0.00) (0.20)	(-1.82)	-0.16 (-1.24)	(1.01) 0.02 (0.13)
					Panel	B: HF/TRA	Swap					
	Risk-Free Excess Returns (%)     CAPM Alphas (%)     CAPM Betas							etas	Amihu	ıd Illiquidi	ty (×10 <sup>-6</sup> )	
Short Leg	S/B 0.99**	B/S 0.97**	B/S - S/B -0.02	S/B -0.11	B/S -0.18	B/S - S/B -0.07	S/B 1.40***	B/S 1.46***	B/S - S/B 0.06 (0.51)	S/B $0.72^{***}$	B/S $0.68^{***}$	B/S - S/B -0.04
Long Leg	(2.15) $1.09^{***}$ (2.15)	(2.23) $1.33^{***}$ (4.20)	(-0.10) 0.24 (1.15)	(-0.43) 0.16 (0.50)	(-0.64) $0.37^{*}$ (1.68)	(-0.27) 0.20 (0.77)	(20.40) $1.17^{***}$ (22.75)	(17.34) $1.22^{***}$ (16.17)	(0.51) 0.05 (0.45)	(3.54) $0.52^{***}$ (2.64)	(3.49) $0.92^{***}$ (2.45)	(-0.28) $0.41^{*}$ (1.75)
Long – Short	(0.10) (0.42)	(4.29) $0.36^{*}$ (1.76)	(1.13) 0.26 (1.12)	(0.33) 0.27 (1.24)	(1.03) $0.55^{***}$ (3.02)	(0.11) 0.27 (1.11)	(23.73) $-0.22^{***}$ (-3.58)	(10.17) -0.24*** (-4.39)	(0.43) -0.01 (-0.16)	(3.04) $-0.21^{**}$ (-2.00)	(3.43) (0.24) (1.30)	(1.73) $0.45^{**}$ (2.03)
					Panel	C: HF/OTH	I Swap					
	Risk-Fr	ee Excess	Returns (%)	CA	APM Alph	nas (%)		CAPM Be	etas	Amihu	ıd Illiquidi	ty (×10 <sup>-6</sup> )
Short Leg	S/B 0.65 (1.26)	B/S 1.19*** (2.90)	B/S - S/B 0.53* (1.74)	S/B -0.50 (-1.64)	$B/S \\ 0.06 \\ (0.21)$	B/S - S/B 0.56 (1.57)	S/B 1.45*** (12.69)	B/S 1.42*** (25.28)	B/S - S/B -0.03 (-0.29)	S/B 1.43*** (4.84)	$B/S \\ 0.91^{***} \\ (4.54)$	B/S - S/B -0.52* (-1.70)
Long Leg	$1.04^{***}$ (2.95)	$1.29^{***}$ (3.69)	0.25 (1.12)	0.04 (0.19)	0.29 (1.06)	(0.25) (0.94)	$1.26^{***}$ (15.70)	$1.26^{***}$ (15.85)	0.00	$1.36^{***}$ (3.73)	$0.68^{***}$ (3.59)	-0.68** (-2.20)
Long – Short	$\begin{array}{c} 0.39\\ (1.62) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.10 \\ (0.56) \end{array}$	-0.28 (-1.36)	$0.54^{**}$ (2.19)	$\begin{array}{c} 0.23 \\ (1.13) \end{array}$	-0.31 (-1.44)	-0.19*** (-2.92)	-0.16 (-1.62)	$\begin{array}{c} 0.03 \\ (0.31) \end{array}$	-0.07 (-0.20)	-0.23** (-2.27)	-0.15 (-0.37)

#### Table 1.11: Trading swaps for market anomalies: DGTW-adjusted excess return, 2-factor alpha, and factor loading

This table reports the DGTW-adjusted excess returns (Daniel et al., 1997), corresponding ex-post 2-factor alphas and factor loadings for the equal-weighted portfolio of trading-swap portfolios from 1994q3 to 2018q2 for nine anomalies, including the operating profit, gross profitability, O-Score, investment-to-assets, investment growth, net operating assets, net stock issues, accrual, and asset growth anomalies. Trading swaps are between HFs and Non-HF investors, which include (1) quasi-indexers (QIXs), (2) transient institutions (TRAs), and (3) other investors (OTHs), following Bushee (2001) and Ben-David et al. (2012). Portfolios are constructed in the second quarter of year t using the change in holding information in the same quarter and the anomaly information for the fiscal year ending in calendar year t-1, and are held for the following one year. Stocks with the change in holding below (above) the bottom (top) 20<sup>th</sup> percentile are considered as those that investors significantly sell (buy); they are denoted by S (B) respectively. Short (Long) leg is defined as portfolios that expect to have negative (positive) ex-post alphas, which comprise stocks at the bottom (top) 20% of OP and GP anomaly and those at the top (bottom) 20% of O-Score, IVA, IK, NOA, NSI, ACR, or AG anomaly. Factors considered in the 2-factor model are betting-against-beta (Frazzini and Pedersen, 2014) and liquidity (Pástor and Stambaugh, 2003). \*, \*\*, \*\*\* indicate significance at the 10%, 5%, and 1% level respectively. The standard errors are adjusted for heteroscedasticity and serial correlation using the Newey-West estimator with 12 lags. t-statistics are reported in brackets.

					Panel A	: HF/QIX Sv	wap					
	DGTW	-Adjusted	Excess Returns (%)	2-1	Factor Alp	ohas (%)	Fact	or Loading	gs on LIQ	Facto	r Loading	s on BAB
Short Leg	S/B -0.24 (-1.51)	B/S 0.39 (1.47)	B/S - S/B 0.63* (1.95)	S/B -0.21 (-1.20)	B/S 0.37 (1.24)	B/S - S/B 0.58* (1.82)	S/B 0.03 (0.41)	$B/S \\ 0.29^{***} \\ (2.81)$	$\frac{B/S - S/B}{0.26^{***}}$ (2.93)	S/B -0.06 (-0.86)	B/S -0.13 (-0.79)	B/S - S/B -0.07 (-0.62)
Long Leg	0.11 (0.68)	$0.39^{***}$ (3.45)	$0.28^{*}$ (1.69)	(0.14) (0.83)	$0.34^{***}$ (2.97)	0.20 (1.17)	0.06 (1.35)	0.00 (-0.02)	-0.06* (-1.69)	-0.08 (-1.19)	0.07 (0.83)	$0.15^{**}$ (2.39)
Long – Short	$0.35^{*}$ (1.89)	0.00 (-0.00)	-0.35 (-1.04)	$0.35^{*}$ (1.93)	-0.03 (-0.13)	-0.38 (-1.14)	$\begin{array}{c} 0.03 \\ (0.64) \end{array}$	-0.29*** (-3.26)	$-0.32^{***}$ (-3.61)	-0.02 (-0.53)	$0.20^{*}$ (1.76)	$0.22^{*}$ (1.88)
					Panel B:	HF/TRA S	wap					
	DGTW	-Adjusted	Excess Returns (%)	2-1	Factor Alp	ohas (%)	Fact	or Loading	gs on LIQ	Facto	r Loading	s on BAB
Short Log	S/B	B/S	B/S - S/B	S/B	B/S	B/S - S/B	S/B	B/S	B/S - S/B	S/B 0.05	B/S	B/S - S/B
Long Log	(0.37)	(-0.03)	(-0.40)	(0.02) (0.07)	(0.63)	(0.82)	(0.60)	(1.24)	(1.01)	(0.37)	(-1.71)	(-2.83)
	(0.67)	(2.30)	(1.31)	(0.41)	(2.68)	(2.18)	(0.92)	(1.26)	(0.27)	(0.44)	-0.19 (-2.17)	(-1.77)
Long – Short	(0.05) (0.25)	(2.08)	(1.57)	(0.05) $(0.26)$	(1.47)	(1.26)	(-0.01)	-0.07 (-0.70)	(-0.78)	(-0.03)	(1.10)	(1.52)
					Panel C:	HF/OTH S	wap					
	DGTW	-Adjusted	Excess Returns (%)	2-1	Factor Alp	ohas (%)	Fact	or Loading	gs on LIQ	Facto	r Loading	s on BAB
Short Leg	S/B -0.27 (-1.22)	B/S 0.16 (0.75)	B/S - S/B 0.43 (1.58)	S/B -0.15 (-0.73)	B/S 0.24 (1.00)	B/S - S/B 0.39 (1.24)	S/B 0.03 (0.56)	$B/S = 0.15^{*} = (1.68)$	B/S - S/B 0.12 (1.11)	S/B -0.20*** (-2.95)	B/S -0.21 (-1.31)	B/S - S/B -0.01 (-0.05)
Long Leg	-0.01 (-0.08)	$0.31^{**}$ (2.12)	0.32 (1.55)	0.11 (0.81)	$0.34^{*}$ (1.83)	0.23 (0.96)	0.01 (0.21)	0.08 (1.28)	0.08 (0.91)	-0.18*** (-3.34)	-0.08 (-0.57)	0.10 (0.79)
Long – Short	$0.26 \\ (1.60)$	$ \begin{array}{c} 0.16 \\ (0.87) \end{array} $	-0.11 (-0.58)	$0.26 \\ (1.65)$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.09\\ (0.58) \end{array}$	-0.16 (-0.78)	-0.03 (-0.55)	-0.07 (-1.32)	-0.04 (-0.74)	$ \begin{array}{c} 0.02 \\ (0.38) \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{c} 0.13 \\ (1.46) \end{array} $	0.11 (1.21)

# 1.8. Online Appendix

# Table 1.1a: Trading swaps and possible counterparties of hedge fund trades: different models

This table reports monthly ex-post alphas and market betas based on Fama-French 3-factor model (Fama and French, 1993) and Carhart 4-factor model (Carhart, 1997) for the short-term portfolios of quarterly trading swaps between HFs and non-HF investors from 1994q2 to 2017q4. Non-HF investors include (1) quasi-indexers (QIXs), (2) transient institutions (TRAs), and (3) other investors (OTHs), following Bushee (2001) and Ben-David et al. (2012). Portfolios are constructed at the end of each quarter and held for the following quarter. Stocks with the change in holding below (above) the bottom (top) 20<sup>th</sup> percentile are considered as those that investors significantly sell (buy); they are denoted by S (B) respectively. \*, \*\*, \*\*\* indicate significance at the 10%, 5%, and 1% level respectively. The standard errors are adjusted for heteroscedasticity and serial correlation using the Newey-West estimator with 6 lags. t-statistics are reported in brackets.

Panel A: Fama-French 3-Factor Alphas and Market Betas											
	3-	Factor Alph	nas		3-Factor Market Betas						
	HF/QIX HF/TRA HF/OT			•	HF/QIX	HF/TRA	HF/OTH				
S/B	-0.32***	0.04	-0.30**		1.20***	1.12***	1.27***				
	(-3.15)	(0.31)	(-2.00)		(37.01)	(37.02)	(26.60)				
B/S	$0.53^{***}$	0.05	0.17		$1.04^{***}$	$1.21^{***}$	$1.15^{***}$				
	(3.46)	(0.38)	(1.38)		(30.80)	(33.95)	(33.60)				
B/S - S/B	$0.86^{***}$	0.01	$0.47^{**}$		-0.17***	$0.09^{**}$	-0.11**				
	(4.94)	(0.10)	(2.46)		(-3.88)	(2.29)	(-2.18)				
Panel B: Carhart 4-Factor Alphas and Market Betas											
	4-	Factor Alph	nas		4-Factor Market Betas						
	HF/QIX	HF/TRA	HF/OTH		HF/QIX	HF/TRA	HF/OTH				
S/B	-0.26**	0.01	-0.13		1.17***	$1.14^{***}$	1.18***				
	(-2.29)	(0.08)	(-0.92)		(39.33)	(38.55)	(23.57)				
B/S	$0.64^{***}$	0.19	0.13		0.98***	1.14***	1.18***				
	(4.27)	(1.40)	(1.01)		(28.38)	(31.04)	(31.10)				
B/S - S/B	$0.91^{***}$	0.18	0.26		-0.19***	0.01	-0.01				
	(5.02)	(1.23)	(1.38)		(-4.53)	(0.18)	(-0.13)				

# Table 1.2a: Trading swaps and possible counterparties of hedge fund trades: 10% cutoff

This table reports monthly ex-post excess returns over the risk-free rate (measured as the 3-month T-bill rate), ex-post CAPM alphas and market betas, Amihud illiquidity (Amihud, 2002), DGTW-adjusted excess returns (Daniel et al., 1997), corresponding ex-post 2-factor alphas and factor loadings for the short-term portfolios of quarterly trading swaps between HFs and non-HF investors from 1994q2 to 2017q4. Non-HF investors include (1) quasi-indexers (QIXs), (2) transient institutions (TRAs), and (3) other investors (OTHs), following Bushee (2001) and Ben-David et al. (2012). Portfolios are constructed at the end of each quarter and held for the following quarter. Stocks with the change in holding below (above) the bottom (top) 10<sup>th</sup> percentile are considered as those that investors significantly sell (buy); they are denoted by S (B) respectively. Factors considered in the 2-factor model are betting-against-beta (Frazzini and Pedersen, 2014) and liquidity (Pástor and Stambaugh, 2003). \*, \*\*, \*\*\* indicate significance at the 10%, 5%, and 1% level respectively. The standard errors are adjusted for heteroscedasticity and serial correlation using the Newey-West estimator with 6 lags. t-statistics are reported in brackets.

	Panel A: Risk-Free Excess Returns, CAPM Alphas, CAPM Betas, and Amihud Illiquidity											
	Risk-Free Excess Returns $(\%)$		CA	CAPM Alphas (%)			CAPM Betas			Amihud Illiquidity $(\times 10^{-6}))$		
	HF/QIX	HF/TRA	HF/OTH	HF/QIX	HF/TRA	HF/OTH	HF/QIX	HF/TRA	HF/OTH	HF/QIX	HF/TRA	HF/OTH
S/B	0.40	$0.70^{*}$	0.56	-0.58**	-0.15	-0.48	$1.41^{***}$	$1.22^{***}$	$1.49^{***}$	$0.85^{***}$	$0.69^{***}$	$1.01^{***}$
	(0.86)	(1.69)	(1.15)	(-2.31)	(-0.59)	(-1.47)	(21.90)	(17.62)	(17.70)	(5.46)	(4.86)	(7.80)
B/S	$1.08^{***}$	$0.87^{**}$	$1.03^{**}$	0.30	-0.10	0.05	$1.11^{***}$	$1.39^{***}$	$1.40^{***}$	0.93***	$0.76^{***}$	$1.33^{***}$
	(3.25)	(2.06)	(2.24)	(1.59)	(-0.44)	(0.17)	(24.48)	(19.84)	(18.83)	(4.54)	(5.37)	(7.07)
B/S - S/B	0.67***	0.17	0.46	0.88***	0.05	0.53	-0.30***	$0.17^{*}$	-0.09	0.08	0.07	0.33
	(2.71)	(0.64)	(1.28)	(4.04)	(0.19)	(1.47)	(-4.20)	(1.90)	(-1.39)	(0.39)	(0.35)	(1.62)
		Panel B: D	GTW-Adjusted	Excess R	eturns, 2-I	Factor Alph	as, and Fao	ctor Loadi	ngs on LIQ	and BAB		
	DGTW-Adjusted Excess Returns (%)			2-Fa	2-Factor Alphas (%) Factor Loadings on LIQ			on LIQ	Factor Loadings on BAB			
	HF/QIX	HF/TRA	HF/OTH	HF/QIX	HF/TRA	HF/OTH	HF/QIX	HF/TRA	HF/OTH	HF/QIX	HF/TRA	HF/OTH
S/B	-0.36*	-0.21	-0.13	-0.18	-0.15	0.08	0.11	0.16**	0.22***	-0.29***	-0.17	-0.40***
	(-1.85)	(-1.00)	(-0.55)	(-0.76)	(-0.65)	(0.33)	(1.58)	(2.30)	(3.53)	(-2.75)	(-1.38)	(-5.56)
B/S	0.05	0.14	0.17	0.04	0.16	0.21	0.05	0.05	0.1	-0.02	-0.06	-0.12
	(0.33)	(0.71)	(0.70)	(0.24)	(0.75)	(0.73)	(1.02)	(0.65)	(1.04)	(-0.30)	(-0.88)	(-0.87)
B/S - S/B	$0.42^{*}$	0.35	0.30	0.23	0.32	0.13	-0.05	-0.12	-0.11	0.27**	0.11	0.28**
	(1.73)	(1.22)	(0.88)	(0.80)	(0.95)	(0.35)	(-0.77)	(-1.23)	(-1.19)	(2.30)	(0.87)	(2.49)

# Table 1.3a: Trading swaps and possible counterparties of hedge fund trades: 30% cutoff

This table reports monthly ex-post excess returns over the risk-free rate (measured as the 3-month T-bill rate), ex-post CAPM alphas and market betas, Amihud illiquidity (Amihud, 2002), DGTW-adjusted excess returns (Daniel et al., 1997), corresponding ex-post 2-factor alphas and factor loadings for the short-term portfolios of quarterly trading swaps between HFs and non-HF investors from 1994q2 to 2017q4. Non-HF investors include (1) quasi-indexers (QIXs), (2) transient institutions (TRAs), and (3) other investors (OTHs), following Bushee (2001) and Ben-David et al. (2012). Portfolios are constructed at the end of each quarter and held for the following quarter. Stocks with the change in holding below (above) the bottom (top) 30<sup>th</sup> percentile are considered as those that investors significantly sell (buy); they are denoted by S (B) respectively. Factors considered in the 2-factor model are betting-against-beta (Frazzini and Pedersen, 2014) and liquidity (Pástor and Stambaugh, 2003). \*, \*\*, \*\*\* indicate significance at the 10%, 5%, and 1% level respectively. The standard errors are adjusted for heteroscedasticity and serial correlation using the Newey-West estimator with 6 lags. t-statistics are reported in brackets.

Panel A: Risk-Free Excess Returns, CAPM Alphas, CAPM Betas, and Amihud Illiquidity												
	Risk-Free Excess Returns (%)		CA	CAPM Alphas (%)			CAPM Betas			Amihud Illiquidity $(\times 10^{-6}))$		
	HF/QIX	HF/TRA	HF/OTH	HF/QIX	HF/TRA	HF/OTH	HF/QIX	HF/TRA	HF/OTH	HF/QIX	HF/TRA	HF/OTH
S/B	$0.67^{*}$	$0.84^{**}$	0.57	-0.23*	0.01	-0.34***	$1.28^{***}$	$1.18^{***}$	$1.29^{***}$	$0.79^{***}$	$0.64^{***}$	$1.17^{***}$
	(1.88)	(2.50)	(1.59)	(-1.70)	(0.10)	(-2.65)	(32.00)	(31.53)	(30.97)	(8.53)	(7.86)	(10.77)
B/S	$1.19^{***}$	$1.02^{***}$	$1.02^{***}$	$0.43^{***}$	0.17	0.14	$1.09^{***}$	$1.22^{***}$	$1.25^{***}$	$1.09^{***}$	$0.81^{***}$	$1.32^{***}$
	(3.97)	(3.01)	(2.79)	(2.60)	(1.06)	(0.93)	(31.71)	(37.80)	(34.22)	(7.61)	(8.67)	(9.64)
B/S - S/B	$0.53^{***}$	0.18	$0.45^{***}$	$0.66^{***}$	0.15	$0.48^{***}$	$-0.19^{***}$	0.04	-0.04	0.30***	$0.17^{***}$	0.14
	(3.57)	(1.32)	(3.35)	(4.60)	(1.16)	(3.56)	(-3.89)	(0.97)	(-0.89)	(3.16)	(2.75)	(1.21)
		Panel B: D	GTW-Adjusted	l Excess R	eturns, 2-I	Factor Alph	as, and Fac	tor Loadi	ngs on LIQ	and BAB		
	DGTW-Adjusted Excess Returns (%)		2-Factor Alphas (%)			Factor Loadings on LIQ			Factor Loadings on BAB			
	HF/QIX	HF/TRA	HF/OTH	HF/QIX	HF/TRA	HF/OTH	HF/QIX	HF/TRA	HF/OTH	HF/QIX	HF/TRA	HF/OTH
S/B	-0.13	0.02	-0.07	-0.06	0.04	0.01	$0.08^{**}$	$0.08^{**}$	$0.12^{***}$	-0.13**	-0.07	-0.17***
	(-1.59)	(0.20)	(-0.95)	(-0.63)	(0.28)	(0.13)	(2.00)	(2.03)	(4.00)	(-2.33)	(-0.78)	(-5.12)
B/S	$0.36^{***}$	$0.23^{***}$	$0.21^{*}$	$0.31^{***}$	$0.20^{***}$	0.24	$0.08^{**}$	$0.08^{**}$	0.06	0.01	-0.01	-0.08
	(3.75)	(2.87)	(1.85)	(3.19)	(2.62)	(1.60)	(2.58)	(2.37)	(1.55)	(0.26)	(-0.39)	(-0.78)
B/S - S/B	$0.49^{***}$	$0.21^{*}$	$0.28^{**}$	$0.37^{***}$	0.16	0.23	0.00	0.00	-0.05	$0.15^{***}$	0.05	0.09
	(4.34)	(1.66)	(2.49)	(3.10)	(1.16)	(1.48)	(0.02)	(0.08)	(-1.29)	(3.16)	(0.88)	(1.06)

# Table 1.4a: Market anomalies: description

This table describes the market anomalies used in this study. "Positive" predictability means that stocks with high value of the anomaly-related characteristic are expected to have positive future abnormal returns, whereas "negative" predictability means that the expected abnormal returns are negative. The variable names (items) are as used in COMPUSTAT.

Market anomaly	Variable	Predictability	Construction	Reference
Gross profitability	GP	Positive	Total revenue (item REVT) minus the cost of goods sold (item COGS), divided by total assets (item AT).	Novy-Marx (2013)
Operating profit	OP	Positive	Total revenue minus the cost of goods sold, minus selling, general, and adminis- trative expenses (item XSGA) if available, minus interest expense (item XINT) if available, divided by book equity. Book equity is stockholders' book equity (item SEQ), plus balance sheet deferred taxes (Compustat item ITCB) and in- vestment tax credit (TXDB) if available, minus the book value of preferred stock (zero if missing). Book value of preferred stock is redemption value (PSTKRV), liquidating value (PSTKL), or par value (PSTK).	Fama and French (2015)
O-Score	O-Score	Negative	$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	Ohlson (1980)
Investment-to-assets	IVA	Negative	The change in gross property, plant, and equipment (item PPEGT) plus the change in inventory (item INVT), divided by lagged total assets.	Titman et al. (2004)
Investment growth	IK	Negative	The change in capital expenditure (item CAPX) divided by lagged capital expenditure.	Xing (2008)
Net operating assets	NOA	Negative	Debt included in current liabilities (item DLC, zero if missing), plus long-term debt (item DLTT, zero if missing ), plus common equity (item CEQ), plus minority interests (item MIB), plus book value of preferred stocks, minus cash and short-term investment (item CHE), divided by lagged total assets.	Hirshleifer et al. (2004)
Net stock issues	NSI	Negative	The annual log change in split-adjusted shares outstanding. Split-adjusted shares outstanding equals shares outstanding (item CSHO) times the adjustment factor (item AJEX).	Fama and French (2008)
Accrual	ACR	Negative	The change in operating working capital per split-adjusted share, divided by book equity per split-adjusted share. Operating working capital is computed as current assets, minus cash and short-term investments, minus the difference of current liability and debt included in current liabilities if available.	Fama and French (2008)
Asset growth	AG	Negative	The change in total assets divided by lagged total assets.	Cooper et al. (2008)

# Chapter 2

# Do Outflows Drive Hedge Fund Stock-Picking Skills?

Keywords: Flows, Trading Skills, Hedge Funds.

Hedge funds are widely considered to be sophisticated institutional investors with superior stock-picking skills and advanced trading strategies (see Brunnermeier and Nagel, 2004; Kosowski et al., 2007; Agarwal et al., 2013, among others), which often improve market efficiency (Akbas et al., 2015; Kokkonen and Suominen, 2015; Cao et al., 2018). In this paper, we test if hedge fund superior stock-picking skills flourish also under tighter constraints, such as outflows. For mutual funds, for example, Coval and Stafford (2007) and Lou (2012) show that in extreme financial situations, the times when investors face large outflows/inflows, mutual funds make immediate but suboptimal trading decisions, such as fire sales, moving stock prices away from their fundamental values and ultimately losing money for remaining investors.

Using company-level data of hedge funds from TASS Lipper, we document superior stock-picking skills of hedge funds, pronounced upon strong changes in investor flows. In particular, we observe a remarkable "trading against the flow" pattern in hedge funds. Those stocks, in which hedge funds increase their holdings<sup>1</sup>, despite

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>As the Form 13F only reports the long side holdings of institutional investors, we are not able to investigate funds' short positions.

experiencing large outflows, deliver a significant ex-post abnormal return of +0.06% per month, revealing stock-picking skills of hedge funds. One potential explanation of this phenomenon is that hedge funds tend to put more effort in adjusting their portfolios when facing large outflows. Such trading against the flow pattern is even more pronounced after the 2007-2008 financial crisis, when flows to the hedge fund industry as a whole decrease, further supporting the argument that managers seem to perform better in more adverse conditions. These findings are consistent with Theory X of management style (McGregor, 1957) and managerial reputation concerns (Li et al., 2011; Guerrieri and Kondor, 2012).

We identify several sources that contribute to the success of hedge fund stockpicking upon outflows. First is the flow-related change in managerial income: managers of larger funds or with higher management fee income exhibit better stockpicking skills when facing large outflows. Second is the portfolio illiquidity: trading against the flow is more successful for funds with higher return serial correlation, which tend to hold more illiquid assets. Third is the time frame for decision marking: managers of funds with longer notice period prior to redemption deliver higher abnormal returns on purchased stocks upon outflows. Last but not least, the effect is further amplified for managers that are more motivated to put effort into work. Younger funds that need to build up a track record display superior stock-picking skills upon outflows.

Those funds that engage in trading agains the flow successfully ameliorate the adverse effect of outflows on their survival, and reduce the liquidation probability over the following quarter.

# 2.1. Literature Review

Our paper builds upon a large body of literature on hedge fund trading skills, with majority of works documenting stock-picking, market-timing, or volatilitytiming skills of hedge funds. Hedge funds largely held technology stocks during the technology bubble and reduced their holdings before the bubble burst (Brunnermeier and Nagel, 2004). Performance of top hedge funds cannot be attributed to pure luck, and these managers possess asset-selection skills (Kosowski et al., 2007). Hedge funds' directional option positions predict future stock returns and their non-directional positions predict future market volatility (Aragon and Martin, 2012). Hedge funds also possess ability in timing market liquidity (Cao et al., 2013). Aggregate hedge fund demand shocks predict subsequent returns (Sias et al., 2016).

Hedge funds seem to be sophisticated arbitrageurs. After controlling for the changes in stock volatility, liquidity, and turnover, only hedge fund trading (and not trading by other institutional investors) significantly improves market efficiency (Cao et al., 2018). Style-shifting hedge funds are able to time the outperforming new styles and have skills in trading in both new and old styles (Jiang et al., 2019).

Griffin and Xu (2009), on the contrary, find that controlling for past quarterly returns, hedge fund trading does not have any predictive power for future stock returns, similar to that of mutual funds, hence, little stock-picking skill. This can be driven, however, by hedge funds not disclosing all of their tradings. Hedge funds' confidential holdings significantly outperform the normally disclosed ones (Agarwal et al., 2013), suggesting that hedge funds stock-picking skill may be driven by private information and hidden for some time due to confidential treatment of such trades.

Comparing the impact of trading by hedge funds and mutual funds on stock prices, Akbas et al. (2015) find that aggregate flows to hedge funds correct the aggregate market mispricing, whereas aggregate flows to mutual funds exacerbate it. Other studies also confirm beneficial impact of flow-related hedge fund trading on financial markets. Hedge fund aggregate flows are negatively correlated with changes in the misvaluation spread (Kokkonen and Suominen, 2015). They are also negatively related to the changes in bond yields, and reduce profitability of various bond-related arbitrage strategies (Kolokolova et al., 2018). Hedge fund order flows have positive and permanent impact on future stock prices, whereas those of other institutional investors cause only temporary price pressure (Ha and Hu, 2018).

Hedge fund skill, however, is not displayed all the time. Chen and Liang (2007)

document that market-timing ability in hedge funds at both the aggregate and fund levels is especially pronounced when the market is in decline and when it is more volatile. Lu et al. (2016) test the limited attention hypothesis and show that when hedge fund managers go through turbulent periods in personal life, such as marriages and divorces, they invest in more conventional stocks and their funds' alphas decrease around the events.

In this paper, we build upon this literature and set out to identify if during more stressful periods such as times of outflows managers are able to show some extra skill, by possibly being more focused on managing their portfolios.

Prior literature suggests that mutual funds with past inflows outperform their peers with past outflows (Lou, 2012). The authors also show that past-winning funds expand their existing holdings in past-winning stocks, while past-losing funds liquidate their holdings in past-losing stocks, leading to a stock price momentum. Mutual funds trading, however, leads to a substantial price pressure when mutual funds face outflows (Coval and Stafford, 2007). The cumulative average abnormal returns of stocks that experience fire sales by mutual funds are significantly negative during the selling period, which turn to significantly positive afterwards. At the same time, Alexander et al. (2006) show that mutual funds make successful purchases if their trades are motivated by stock valuation, and happen during times of outflows. Trades linked to the need to deploy excess investor liquidity at times of inflows are not so profitable.

# 2.2. Data

Our hedge fund data are from TASS Lipper database, and data on institutional holdings are from Thomson Reuters Institutional (13f) Holdings database (CDA/Spectrum s34). To identify hedge fund companies (hereafter HFCs), we create a list of HFCs' 13f identifiers, i.e. manager numbers, by matching the names of HFCs and those of the institutions reporting to 13f. We manually check that the identified companies do not have any mutual fund or insurance business as sidebusiness, thus assuring that we obtain a list of pure HFCs. In total, from TASS Lipper merged database, we identify 324 HFCs that report to the 13f database from 1994q1 to 2017q4.

To ensure the quality of our data, we impose two requirements following previous literature. First, we exclude extremely small HFCs with the total net asset (hereafter TNA) below \$1 million (Lou, 2012). Second, following Coval and Stafford (2007), we exclude observations with the extreme monthly percentage changes of the TNA of HFCs, and keep only observations in the following range:

$$-0.5 \le \frac{\text{TNA}_{j,t} - \text{TNA}_{j,t-1}}{\text{TNA}_{j,t-1}} \le 2,$$
 (2.1)

Stock return data are collected from the Center for Research in Security Prices (CRSP) Monthly Stock File. We use monthly returns of common stocks (those with CRSP share codes of 10, or 11) traded on NYSE, AMEX, or NASDAQ (those with CRSP exchange codes of 1, 2, or 3) from 1994/01 to 2018/03. Stock returns are adjusted to the stock splits and delistings. In each quarter q, we only consider the stocks with the price above \$5 at the end of quarter q-1 to purge the estimation noise from minimum tick effect (Harris, 1994; Amihud, 2002). We exclude the stocks of utility firms (those with standard industrial classification (SIC) codes from 4900 to 4999) and financial firms (those with SIC codes from 6000 to 6999).

Next, we calculate monthly flows. For HFC j at the end of month t, the flow  $(\mathrm{flow}_{j,t})$  is computed as

$$flow_{j,t} = \frac{TNA_{j,t} - TNA_{j,t-1} \times (1 + R_{j,t})}{TNA_{j,t-1}},$$
(2.2)

where R<sub>j,t</sub> is the TNA-weighted hedge fund return in month t, calculated as

$$R_{j,t} = \frac{\sum_{k=1}^{N} TNA_{j,k,t} \times R_{j,k,t}}{\sum_{k=1}^{N} TNA_{j,k,t}},$$
(2.3)

and  $TNA_{j,k,t}$  and  $R_{j,k,t}$  are the TNAs and the monthly return, respectively, of hedge

fund k managed by HFC j in month t.

We start our sample in 2000q1, when the number of HFCs, for which we are able to compute flows and which report holdings, exceeds 50 for the first time. Panel A of Table 2.1 reports the descriptive statistics<sup>2</sup> for our sample of 324 HFCs from 2000q1 to 2017q4. HFCs, on average, control 2.35 funds, charge 1.31% management fee and 18.36% incentive fee. 80% of hedge funds have the high-water mark (hereafter HWM), and 68% report using leverage. The average monthly flow of HFCs is 1.68%, consistent with hedge fund market growth over the period, despite the shrinkage of the industry during the financial crisis 2007-2008. The average alpha relative to the Fung and Hsieh (2004) seven factors is 1.13% per month, indicating the presence of some skill in the industry. It is, however, quite disperse with the 5th percentile of -23.20% and 95th percentile of 24.77%.

#### [Place Table 2.1 about here]

# 2.3. Research Design and Hypotheses

The goal of this paper is to assess the quality of decision making by HFC facing extreme outflows or inflows. Being sophisticated investors, when suddenly experiencing large outflows, HFCs should sell most liquid stocks to obtain the required amount of cash to meet redemptions without a substantial price impact, and avoid selling underpriced stocks with high expected returns. Thus, stocks sold by HFCs upon outflows should not exhibit positive future abnormal returns, if the trades are correctly managed. At the same time, some HFCs may still be willing to buy stocks even experiencing outflows to maintain future fund profitability, if managers have confidence in future good stock returns. The trading against the flow strategy should lead to positive ex-post abnormal returns, if it truly reflects managerial skill and informed buying. Such valuation-based trades are found to be profitable even

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$ Except for fund age, HFCs' characteristics in quarter q are computed as the mean of the monthly TNA-weighted characteristics in this quarter. The calculation of first-order serial correlation and past alpha is detailed in Section 2.5.2.

for mutual funds (Alexander et al., 2006).

But should not one expect all stocks purchased by HFCs to deliver (on average) positive abnormal returns if HFC managers are skilful? We hypothesise that a HFC manager may put different levels of effort into managing their portfolios depending on the level of investor flows, with strong outflows inducing higher effort. This would be one of the implications of Theory X of management style (McGregor, 1957), suggesting that when employees are more self-interested and individual-goal oriented, they tend to work more efficiently under the threat of punishment as motivation (Hersey et al., 2000). Since in the context of HFCs, the main tool for investors to express their dissatisfaction with the managers is to redeem their shares, outflows can perform this disciplinary role and induce higher managerial effort.

At the same time, flows are directly related to managerial compensation stemming from management fees. Management fees represent a large share of the overall expected present value of managerial compensation. According to the model of Lan et al. (2013), management fee accounts for 75% of the total managerial surplus. When hedge fund size increases due to inflow, the expected compensation of managers goes up, even if the expected returns remain unchanged. Upon outflows, however, the expected fee income decreases. Thus, in order to assure the same level of expected compensation, managers need to increase the expected returns, which can be achieved, for example, by proactively searching for more profitable stocks.

Moreover, outflows increase probability of hedge fund liquidation (see, e.g., Kolokolova, 2011, among others), which can lead to reputation loss and career concerns of managers. Li et al. (2011) document that hedge fund managers who face pressure of establishing their careers tend to put more effort than established ones. A theoretical model built by Guerrieri and Kondor (2012) suggests that fund managers earn reputation premium for investing in risky bonds. Higher default risk is linked to higher premium, which compensates managers for the risk of being fired.

Our key hypothesis is, thus, as follows:

Trading against the flow: Stocks purchased by HFCs experiencing large outflows exhibit positive ex-post abnormal returns.

To test our hypothesis, we first, rank HFCs based on their average monthly flows in quarter q. HFCs with the lowest 30th percentile of flows are those with large outflows<sup>3</sup>; HFCs with average flows between 30th and 70th percentiles are those having moderate flows; and those HFCs with average flows above 70th percentile experience strong inflows<sup>4</sup>. Then, for HFCs with different levels of flows, we calculate the aggregate change in holding, a commonly-used trading measure (see Nofsinger and Sias, 1999; Gompers and Metrick, 2001; Griffin and Xu, 2009, among others). For each HFC j, stock i, and quarter q, we calculate the change in holding ( $\Delta$ Holding<sup>HFC<sub>j</sub></sup><sub>i,q</sub>) as follows:

$$\Delta \text{Holding}_{i,q}^{\text{HFC}_{j}} = \frac{\text{Holding}_{i,q}^{\text{HFC}_{j}} - \text{Holding}_{i,q-1}^{\text{HFC}_{j}}}{\text{SHROUT}_{j,q-1}},$$
(2.4)

where  $\text{Holding}_{i,q}^{\text{HFC}_{j}}$  is the number of stock i held by HFC j in quarter q, and  $\text{SHROUT}_{i,q-1}$  is the total number of outstanding shares of stock i at the end of quarter q-1. We then sum the change in holding of all HFCs that trade the same stock, and obtain the aggregate change in holding for stock i in quarter q (Trade<sub>i,q</sub>), i.e.

$$\operatorname{Trade}_{i,q} = \sum_{j=1}^{K} \Delta \operatorname{Holding}_{i,q}^{\operatorname{HFC}_{j}},$$
 (2.5)

where K is the number of HFCs that trade stock i in quarter q. Stocks with aggregate change in holding below (above) the bottom (top) 30th percentile are considered as those that HFCs significantly sell (buy)<sup>5</sup>.

We evaluate the performance of these stocks using the adjusted abnormal returns following Daniel et al. (1997) (hereafter DGTW). At the end of each June, we assign stocks into one of 125 portfolios constructed based on market capitalization using

 $<sup>^{3}</sup>$ We also require the "large outflows" to be smaller than zero. If the 30th percentile is positive in some quarters, only negative flows are classified as "large outflows".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Likewise, we also require the "strong inflows" to be larger than zero.

 $<sup>{}^{5}</sup>$ We also require the aggregate change in holding to be smaller (larger) than zero for stocks classified as "sell (buy)".

NYSE breakpoints, the industry-adjusted book-to-market ratio using the Fama-French 48 industries, and the prior 12-month return. Portfolios are held for one year and then rebalanced. For each of the 125 portfolios, we calculate the valueweighted monthly returns as the benchmark. The DGTW-adjusted monthly return is the difference between the stock's monthly return and the return on the benchmark portfolio which this stock belongs to. We then regress the DGTW-adjusted monthly return in quarter q+1 on a set of dummy variables capturing HFC trading upon different flow levels in quarter q. For example, a dummy variable Buy<sup>Outflow</sup> for stock i during months of quarter q+1 takes a value of one if this stock is among significantly bought ones (Trade > 70th) in quarter q by HFCs experiencing large outflows (Flow  $\leq 30$ th).

# 2.4. Empirical Results: Trading Against the Flow

Panel B of Table 2.1 reports the equal-weighted average of HFC monthly flows within different flow-level groups during the whole sample period (2000q1-2017q4), as well as pre-crisis (2000q1-2007q2), crisis (2007q3-2009q1), and post-crisis (2009q2-2017q4) periods (Ben-David et al., 2012). Overall, HFCs attract around twice larger inflows than outflows. This pattern, however, varies during different periods. Before the financial crisis of 2007-2008, the average large inflow of HFCs is 12.22%, almost four times larger in absolute value than the average large outflow of -3.71%. After the crisis, the average large inflow of HFCs significantly shrinks to 5.53%, while the average large outflow increases in absolute value to -4.46% per month.

Table 2.2 reports the regression results. According to the full-sample results in Columns (1)-(3), stocks sold by HFCs upon large outflows do not exhibit any significant abnormal returns. Even facing larger redemptions, HFCs do not seem to make "bad deals" and do not lose money for their investors. They also do not seem to exhibit a substantial price pressure while selling stocks, as no positive ex-post abnormal return can be documented. In this respect they are quite different from the mutual funds, which move stock prices substantially away from their fundamental The stocks that HFCs buy when facing large outflows exhibit an abnormal return of 0.06% per month, on average, which is highly statistically significant. Purchasing decisions at times when HFCs face redemptions are, thus, more likely to be driven by HFC stock-picking skills and expectations of higher future profits. Remarkably, such stock-picking skills cannot be detected for stocks bought upon inflows, consistent with our hypothesis. The abnormal returns are not statistically significant in this case. When capital is abundant, HFCs seem to take less efficient decisions, potentially investing in more "conventional" shares or paying less attention to their portfolios, contributing to a negative flow-performance relation found in Berk and Green (2004), Naik et al. (2007), and Joenväärä et al. (2018) among others.

An interesting pattern emerges in this setting, however. The abnormal returns of stock sold upon inflow are negative and highly statistically significant of approximately -0.14% per month. That is, even if HFC managers do not take efficient purchasing decisions when capital is in abundance upon large inflows, they still monitor their existing portfolios and sell future losing stocks.

One can expect some variation in trading performance around the financial crisis of 2007-2008. Schaub and Schmid (2013), for example, find that hedge funds with more stringent share restrictions hold more illiquid assets and earn an illiquidity premium during the period before the financial crisis. However, during the financial crisis, these funds experience lower returns and lower alphas. Columns (4)-(12) of Table 2.2 indicate that the trading against the flow pattern indeed varies across different time periods, and it is mostly pronounced during the post-crisis period (2009q2-2017q4). During the pre-crisis period (2000q1- 2007q2) stocks purchased by HFCs experiencing strong outflows, on the contrary to our expectations, exhibit smaller abnormal returns, while we cannot document any abnormal returns related to flow-induced trading during the crisis period. During the post-crisis period, HFCs with both strong inflows and outflows exhibit extra stock-picking skills. This is likely to be driven by the generally lower flows into the hedge fund industry and the increasing competition between managers.

## [Place Table 2.2 about here]

We further check if HFCs tend to trade stocks with different characteristics upon inflows and outflows. We run a regression similar to that in Column (3) of Table 2.2 using different stock characteristic as dependent variables. In particular, we compute Amihud illiquidity measure using daily returns in quarter q (Amihud, 2002), average market capitalisation during quarter q, holdings of the stock by large diversified institutional investors – quasi-indexers (Bushee, 2001), as well as holdings of non-institutional investors (Ben-David et al., 2012) at the end of quarter q-1. We further use stock CAPM beta, and loadings on size, value, and momentum factors from the Carhart (1997) model. The results reported in Table 2.3 show that HFCs in general sell more liquid (less illiquid) stocks than they buy (Column (1)), and buy stocks with relatively larger holdings of non-institutional investors compared to stocks they sell (Column (3)). Upon both strong inflows and outflows HFCs trade low CAMP-beta stocks (Column (5)). Hedge funds tend to trade stocks that are smaller than an average listed firm in the market, what can be seen from all negative loadings in Column (2). Remarkably, upon large outflows HFCs tent to buy somewhat larger firms than they do upon inflow.

[Place Table 2.3 about here]

# 2.5. Determinants of Trading Against the Flow

In order for HFCs to display higher skills under "pressure" of outflows, they need to be motivated to put extra effort in managing the fund, and also be able to do so. We consider several aspects that contribute to manager's motivation and ability to trade. Direct financial losses of managers due to outflows, their compensation structure, and career concerns all contribute to managerial motivations while illiquidity of assets, flexibility in decision making and access to capital facilitate potentially profitable trades. We extend the panel regression from Column (3) of Table 2.2 by interacting  $Buy^{Outflow}$  with dummies capturing particular types of HFCs that trade this stock. For example,  $Buy^{Outflow} \times TNA^{Low}$  captures the abnormal returns of stocks bought by HFCs experiencing large outflows with TNAs below median. We discuss each group of determinants in detail below.

# 2.5.1. Direct losses of managers

Management fee is an important source of managerial compensation. According to Lan et al. (2013), management fee accounts for 75% of the total expected lifelong present value of managerial compensation. Funds with higher management fees tend to perform better; within a HFC, performance difference between the first and consequently launched funds is greater for funds with relatively higher management fees (Fung et al., 2018). Management fee also plays a role in strategic decisions, such as fund liquidation and risk taking. Funds with higher management fees within their families are less likely to be liquidated (Kolokolova, 2011). High-management-fee funds take a less aggressive risk-taking approach. Having poor performance at the beginning of a year, they tend to reduce their risk taking to increase the chances of survival (Kolokolova and Mattes, 2018).

A substantial portion of managerial income of profitable funds is also generated by incentive fees. Funds with higher incentive fees are often perceived as more motivated and skilled (Ackermann et al., 1999; Edwards and Caglayan, 2001; Agarwal et al., 2009). Outflows reduce the fee-base, having an immediate effect on managerial compensation. The higher the fees, the higher compensation losses are for a given level of outflow.<sup>6</sup>

Fund size is another component directly linked to the absolute value of managerial compensation. The same percentage outflow implies much larger absolute losses for managers of large funds as opposed to small funds. In order to restore

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Flow-related indirect incentives in hedge fund industry are found to be 1.4 times higher than direct incentives stemming from nominal fees (Lim et al., 2016).

the expected level of compensation to at least the pre-outflow level, managers would need to adjust their strategies and may be putting more effort in managing the portfolios and searching for more profitable opportunities. Inflows, on the contrary, do not provide such incentives to the managers. Inflows immediately increase expected managerial compensation (related to management fees at least) without the need of fast trading. The new capital can be gradually invested in the existing products, which would not require extra search/research cost for managers. Hence, we expect that funds with higher management and incentive fees and larger size to exhibit stronger trading against the flow patterns.

Column (1)-(6) of Table 2.4 report the regression results associated with each of the factors, as well as the sum of the coefficients on Buy<sup>Outflow</sup> and the products of the fund classification dummy variables and Buy<sup>Outflow</sup> (labeled as "Joint coefficients"). According to the joint coefficients, the trading against the flow is more profitable for HFCs with larger size and higher incentive fees (Columns (4) and (6)), consistent with our expectation. Stocks bought by large HFCs earn an additional abnormal return of +0.11% per month significant at the 1% level, which is largely driven by the fund size effect based on the significance of corresponding coefficients on the interaction Buy<sup>Outflow</sup> × TNA<sup>High</sup>. HFC with higher-than-the-median incentive fees incentive fees (that is, fees above 20%) exhibit an impressive 0.58% of additional abnormal return per month on the stocks they buy during times of outflow.

## [Place Table 2.4 about here]

# 2.5.2. Career concerns

Career concerns generally motivate managers to put more effort into their work (Li et al., 2011; Guerrieri and Kondor, 2012). This is especially true for younger funds which still need to establish a reliable track record and reputation, and which are more likely to experience outflows (Getmansky et al., 2019). Thus, younger funds may be more likely to engage in trading against the flow to boost their performance in tough times. In the regression, we consider HFCs with above-median ages as older funds.

Career concerns can be further amplified for managers with poor past performance. When experiencing large outflows, HFCs with low recent alpha may be under much more pressure to perform, as they not only need to respond to the outflow, but also to make up for past losses to assure long-term survival. Thus, they may be expected to put more effort into managing their funds.

To measure the alpha, for each HFC in each quarter q, we use its past 24-month returns (from q-8 to q-1)<sup>7</sup> and estimate their alphas relative to the seven-factor model of Fung and Hsieh (2004). As before, monthly returns on a company level is the TNA-weighted average of monthly returns of individual funds belonging to the company:

$$\frac{\sum_{k=1}^{N} \text{TNA}_{j,k,t} \times R_{j,k,t}}{\sum_{k=1}^{N} \text{TNA}_{j,k,t}} = \alpha_{j,Q} + \beta_{j}^{1} \text{SNPMRF}_{t} + \beta_{j}^{2} \text{SCMLC}_{t}$$
(2.6)

$$+ \beta_j^3 BD10RET_t + \beta_j^4 BAAMTSY_t + \beta_j^5 PTFSBD_t \qquad (2.7)$$

$$+\beta_{j}^{6} PTFSFX_{t} + \beta_{j}^{7} PTFSCOM_{t} + \varepsilon_{j}, \qquad (2.8)$$

where SNPMRF is the Standard & Poors 500 index monthly total return (Datastream item: S&PCOMP RI), SCMLC is the difference between Russell 2000 index monthly total return (item: FRUSS2L RI) and Standard & Poors 500 monthly total return (item: S&PCOMP RI), BD10RET is the monthly change in the Federal Reserve's 10-year treasury constant maturity yield<sup>8</sup> (month end-to-month end), BAAMTSY is the monthly change in the difference between Moody's Baa yield<sup>9</sup> and the Federal Reserve's 10-year treasury constant maturity yield (month end-to-month end), PTFSBD, PTFSFX, and PTFSCOM are correspondingly the returns on portfolios of lookback straddles on bond, currency, and commodity futures.<sup>10</sup> We rank HFCs based on their past alpha in quarter q. HFCs with past above-median alphas

 $<sup>^7\</sup>mathrm{We}$  only consider the HFCs with more than 18 monthly returns over past 24 months.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>https://fred.stlouisfed.org/series/DGS10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>https://fred.stlouisfed.org/series/DBAA.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>http://faculty.fuqua.duke.edu/~dah7/DataLibrary/TF-FAC.xls.

are considered as past-winning HFCs, otherwise they are considered as past-losing ones.

Column (7)-(10) of Table 2.4 report the regression results associated with determinants of career concerns. According to the joint coefficients, stocks purchased by HFCs with younger ages or lower past alphas earn abnormal returns of +0.19% or +0.10% per month, respectively, supporting our hypothesis that career concerns are indeed a motivating factor for managerial productivity. Looking at the coefficients on each intersection variable, we can see that the trading against the flow pattern is especially strong for HFCs with younger age.

# 2.5.3. Asset illiquidity and decision making flexibility

To meet redemptions, especially large ones, fund managers may have to sell most liquid stocks to obtain the required amount of cash. This may be harder to achieve for those funds, that hold illiquid portfolios. If selling the assets leads to additional losses, funds are adversely impacted through both channels – investor outflows and trading losses. Therefore, managers of illiquid funds may be expected to experience even more pressure than those of liquid funds and hence put further effort into managing the portfolios.

We measure HFC asset illiquidity using return serial correlation following Getmansky et al. (2004), who argue that funds with higher return serial correlation tend to be more illiquid. For each quarter q and each HFC in our sample, we calculate the first-order return serial correlation using past 24-month returns (from q-8 to q-1)<sup>11</sup>. HFCs with above-median first-order serial correlations are classified as those holding less liquid assets.

Fund illiquidity is closely related to share restrictions. Aragon (2007) find a positive relation between share restrictions of HFCs and fund asset illiquidity, suggesting that HFCs with more stringent share restrictions tend to manage illiquid assets more efficiently and earn illiquidity premium. Hence, illiquid HFCs tend to

 $<sup>^{11}\</sup>mathrm{We}$  use only HFCs with more than 18 monthly returns over past 24 months.

have more share restrictions, but HFC with tighter restrictions have higher flexibility and are able to trade more efficiently. Investors in hedge funds with shorter notice periods have easier access to their money, and such funds are more likely to experience sudden capital outflows. Agarwal et al. (2015) find that funds of funds tend to liquidate holdings in individual funds with few redemption constraints when experiencing large outflows. HFCs with longer notice periods receive the information on the coming outflows earlier. They have more time to adjust their portfolios and avoid fire sales even if their holdings are less liquid, which can lead to better trading against the flow results for these HFs. We use a notice period prior to redemption as a proxy for outflow share restrictions.<sup>12</sup> In each quarter q, we classify HFCs as having a long notice period, if the reported notice period is longer than 30 days.

To finance an investment programme, a manager needs capital. During times of outflow, new purchases can be financed either by portfolio rebalancing and selling more assets than required to meet investor redemptions, or though borrowing.<sup>13</sup> Stable relations with prime brokers are important for HFCs to be able to finance their strategies, borrowing assets for short selling or getting leverage for their long positions. Healthy prime brokers facilitate trading, and adverse shocks to prime brokers are harmful for hedge fund performance (Boyson et al., 2010; Brunnermeier and Pedersen, 2008; Kruttli et al., 2018). At the same time, individual shocks to prime brokers are diversified and not propagated to their client hedge funds, if hedge funds have multiple prime brokers (Dahlquist et al., 2019). Thus, having multiple prime brokers and allows them to diversify borrowing opportunities. To capture borrowing flexibility, we classify HFCs into those reporting only a single prime broker and those reporting multiple prime brokers. We expect trading agains the flow to be more profitable for HFCs with multiple prime brokers.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>According to Getmansky et al. (2019), share restrictions can be classified into two key groups: outflow restrictions (e.g. lockup period, redemption frequency, and notice period) and inflow restrictions (e.g. subscription period, closure to new investors).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>HFs can also use their cash reserves to finance the extra purchases. The data on cash reserves of HFs is, however, not available.

Table 2.5 reports the regression results associated with HFC asset illiquidity and flexibility. Consistent with our expectation, the trading against the flow pattern is more pronounced among HFCs with higher return serial correlation and a longer notice period. Stocks bought by those HFCs earn abnormal returns of +0.12% and +0.22% per month, respectively. These returns are highly statistically significant, suggesting that managers of illiquid funds display better stock-picking skills upon large outflows. Remarkably, however, stocks purchases upon outflows earn a negative abnormal return of -0.06% for HFCs with shorter notice periods. For trading against the flow to be successful, managers need to have enough time to make optimal decisions. In this respect, a longer notice period provides managers with this time and flexibility and enables profitable trading decisions when facing outflows.

In terms of the number of prime brokers, even thought the signs of the interaction terms of  $Buy^{Outflow} \times PrimeBroker^{=1}$  and  $Buy^{Outflow} \times PrimeBroker^{>1}$  point into the expected direction of more profitable trading by HFCs with multiple prime brokers, the effects are not statistically significant.

# [Place Table 2.5 about here]

# 2.6. Implications for liquidation probability

During times of outflows, less resilient funds are more likely to be liquidated. The documented superior performance of trading against the flow is associated with those funds that are able to sustain outflows and then redirect their trading based on their stock-picking abilities. This can come at a cost of, for example, increasing leverage, investing in riskier stocks or stocks in which HFC managers do not have much expertise. In this section we test if HFCs survival probability is affected by their trading against the flow.

We estimate a logit model for HFC liquidation probability over the following quarter. We control for the known characteristics that can impact the liquidation probability, including quarterly returns, return standard deviation, fund size, and investor restrictions among others. We control for average monthly fund flow during quarter q (Flow) and also include the flow if it is smaller than 30th percentile during this quarter (Flow<sup> $\leq 30th$ </sup>) to check for possible non-linearity of the effect of net flows.<sup>14</sup> We also include year fixed effects to capture potential systematic time variation in the HFC liquidation probability.

The key question to answer here is if trading against the flow affects chances of HFC survival. To quantify the level of such trading, we introduce a HFC-level *Trading Intensity* (TI) measure. For HFC j, stock i, and quarter q, we calculate the proportional change in value holding ( $\Delta$ Value Holding<sup>HFC<sub>j</sub></sup>) as follow:

$$\Delta \text{Value Holding}_{i,q}^{\text{HFC}_{j}} = \frac{\left(\text{Holding}_{i,q}^{\text{HFC}_{j}} - \text{Holding}_{i,q-1}^{\text{HFC}_{j}}\right) \times \overline{P}_{i,q}}{\text{TNA}_{j,q-1}}, \quad (2.9)$$

where  $\overline{P}_{i,q}$  is the average daily price of stock i in quarter q, and TNA<sub>j,q-1</sub> is the TNAs of HFC j at the end of quarter q-1. We then average the proportional change in value holding across all stocks traded by the same HFC, and obtain the trading intensity measure for HFC j (TI<sub>j,q</sub>), i.e.

$$TI_{j,q} = \frac{1}{K} \sum_{i=1}^{K} \Delta Value \text{ Holding}_{i,q}^{HFC_j}, \qquad (2.10)$$

where K is the number of stocks traded by HFC j in quarter q.

Next, we calculate the against-the-flow trading intensity (ATF-TI<sub>j,q</sub>) for each HFC facing large outflows. For each HFC j with Flow  $\leq 30$ th in quarter q, we compute its TI measure only for stocks with aggregate change in HFC holding above the top 30th percentile in quarter q (Trade<sub>i,q</sub> > 70th). HFCs with other level of flows or that do not trade any stocks with Trade<sub>i,q</sub> > 70th will have zero ATF-TI.<sup>15</sup> We include the product of ATF-TI<sub>j,q</sub> and Flow<sup> $\leq 30$ th</sup> in the final specification of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup>Jorion and Schwarz (2015) find evidence that funds receiving higher inflows have higher future performance and a lower probability of failure. However, they do not find evidence that outflows predict poor performance or fund failure. Their findings indicate an asymmetric smart money effect in the hedge fund industry.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup>Note, that the ATF-TI measure can be negative. For example, if a HFC with llarge outflows sells a stock, which is simultaneously bought by other HFCs who trade against the flow.

model. If HFCs that do trade against the flow are more likely to survive (less likely to be liquidated), we should observe a positive coefficient for this interaction term, since  $\text{Flow}^{\leq 30\text{th}}$  is negative.

The estimation results (Table 2.6) reveal that, as expected, flows are negatively related to the liquidation probability. The corresponding coefficient of -1.823 is highly statistically significant in Column (1). However, the effect seems to be driven completely by strong outflows. The coefficients for  $Flow^{\leq 30th}$  are highly statistically significant and range from -5.664 to -8.516 in Columns (2)-(3), and when we control for large outflows, the general flow variable loses significance.<sup>16</sup> The product  $Flow^{\leq 30th} \times ATF$ -TI is positive and significant at 1% level. The values of the coefficient is 1.007 in Columns (3). Therefore, by trading against the flow, HFCs significantly decreases their liquidation probability through ameliorating the adverse impact of outflows. Such trading seems to be an effective strategy for managers with stock-picking skills to weather financial distress.

# [Place Table 2.6 about here]

# 2.7. Conclusion

We analyze trading patterns of HFCs, facing substantial inflows or outflows of capital and find that HFC managers are likely to reveal their skills under "pressure". Some HFCs display a trading against the flow pattern: despite facing outflows and requiring cash to meet redemptions, they still purchase stocks. The purchased stocks exhibit a positive and significant ex-post abnormal return adjusted using DGTW methodology. Large outflows reduce the base for fees and may put the very survival of the fund at risk. Such financial and reputation concerns seem to motivate managers to put higher effort into managing the funds, innovate, and search for especially profitable opportunities.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup>We also consider a different specification, in which flows below 30th percentile, between 30th and 70th percentiles, and above 70th percentile are used as separate variables. The results are almost identical to those discussed in this section. Only  $Flow^{\leq 30th}$  is negative and significant, whereas other two flow variables are not significant.

The abnormal returns associated with trading against the flow are more pronounced after 2007-2008 financial crisis, and for HFCs with large size or higher fees – HFCs for which managerial compensation is relatively more strongly affected by outflows. Abnormal returns are significantly higher for funds that manage more illiquid assets and have more time to adjust their portfolios due to longer notice periods. The purchasing decisions upon large outflows are also more successful for those funds that are motivated to perform because of additional reasons, such as a need to establish track record for young funds. These findings further support our intuition that some extra pressure is required to induce managers to put more effort into their day-to-day investment job, echoing Theory X of management style of McGregor (1957). The extra effort put into trading against the flow by fund managers pays off and reduces the next-quarter liquidation probability of the funds facing outflows.

Our findings call for devising a new generation of theoretical models of managerial decision in HFCs, building upon the existing works (Hodder and Jackwerth, 2007; Lan et al., 2013; Buraschi et al., 2014, among others) but allowing for the choice of the effort level managers put into their work, similar to the approach pioneered by Holmström (1999) and further developed in, for example, Dewatripont et al. (1999). From an investor's point of view, the question arises of how to incentivise a manager to perform during good times and not only during bad times, as the existing compensation structure of a management plus incentive fee does not seem to be sufficient for that task.

# 2.8. Tables
#### Table 2.1: Descriptive statistics for hedge fund companies

This table reports the numbers of observations, means, standard deviations, minimums, medians, maximums, and the 5th, 25th, 75th, and 95th percentiles of characteristics for 324 hedge fund companies (HFCs) from 2000q1 to 2017q4, including flows, total net assets (TNAs), high-water mark (HWM), and past alphas, as well as the equal-weighted average of HFC monthly flows within different flow-level groups during the whole sample period (2000q1-2017q4), as well as pre-crisis (2000q1-2007q2), crisis (2007q3-2009q1), and post-crisis (2009q2-2017q4) periods (Ben-David et al., 2012). Except for fund age, HFCs' characteristics of quarter q are proxied as the mean of the monthly TNA-weighted characteristics in quarter q. Fund age is computed since inception of HFC. Flow and past alpha are winsorized at 1% and 99% levels.

		Par	el A: Ch	Panel A: Characteristics of HFCs										
	Ν	Mean	Std Dev	Minimum	P5	P25	P50	P75	P95	Maximum				
Fund age (month)	10037	91.92	65.09	2.00	12.00	42.00	78.00	128.00	217.00	389.00				
No. funds in HFC	10037	2.36	2.02	1.00	1.00	1.00	2.00	3.00	6.33	17.00				
Flow (% per month)	10037	0.02	0.08	-0.16	-0.08	-0.01	0.00	0.03	0.16	0.48				
Management fee $(\%)$	10021	1.31	0.42	0.00	0.90	1.00	1.22	1.50	2.00	3.31				
TNA (\$million)	10037	746.26	2829.12	1.00	7.29	44.67	148.33	528.00	2811.23	51166.67				
Incentive fee $(\%)$	10019	18.38	4.63	0.00	7.13	20.00	20.00	20.00	20.00	50.00				
HWM	10021	0.80	0.36	0.00	0.00	0.78	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00				
Leveraged	10037	0.67	0.43	0.00	0.00	0.09	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00				
Notice period (day)	10037	44.17	27.61	0.00	6.14	30.00	40.71	60.00	90.00	259.92				
Lock-up period (day)	10037	5.13	6.59	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.50	12.00	12.00	36.00				
Redemption frequency (day)	9960	90.13	81.56	1.00	30.00	30.00	90.00	90.00	360.00	360.00				
No. prime brokers in HFC	8947	1.75	1.23	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	2.00	4.00	12.00				
First-order serial correlation	8770	-0.04	0.22	-0.72	-0.41	-0.18	-0.04	0.11	0.31	0.64				
Past alpha (% per month)	8770	1.06	15.30	-48.62	-23.34	-5.01	0.65	6.75	24.92	61.22				
Panel B: Equal-weighted average flows of HFCs (% per month)														
	]	Flow < 3	0th	30 th < 1	Flow < 1	70th	F	low > 70	)th					

	$Flow \leq 30th$	$30$ th $<$ Flow $\le 70$ th	Flow > 70th	
Full sample	-4.226%	0.517%	9.551%	
Pre-crisis	-3.707%	1.026%	12.221%	
Crisis	-6.196%	-0.255%	6.495%	
Post-crisis	-4.461%	-0.156%	5.528%	

2.8

#### Table 2.2: Trading against the flow: abnormal returns

This table reports the estimation results of panel regressions for DGTW-adjusted monthly returns (Daniel et al., 1997) in quarter q+1 on industry and year fixed effects, and a set of dummy variables capturing HFC trading upon different flow levels in quarter q during the whole sample period (2000q1-2017q4), as well as pre-crisis (2000q1-2007q2), crisis (2007q3-2009q1), and post-crisis (2009q2-2017q4) periods (Ben-David et al., 2012). "Sell" ("Buy") takes a value of 1 if the aggregate change in holding of the stock is below (above) the bottom (top) 30th percentile. Superscripts "Outflow" and "Inflow" indicate if corresponding HFCs experienced large outflows and inflows respectively. HFCs with the lowest 30th percentile of average flows are those with large outflows, and those HFCs with average flows above 70th percentile experience large inflows. \*, \*\*, \*\*\* indicate significance at the 10%, 5%, and 1% level respectively. Robust standard errors clustered by both HFC and year are in parentheses.

	Full sample		9		Pre-crisis			Crisis			Post-crisis	
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)	(10)	(11)	(12)
$\mathrm{Sell}^{\mathrm{Outflow}}$	-0.029		-0.039	-0.027		-0.053	-0.123		-0.104	-0.011*		-0.015
$\operatorname{Buy}^{\operatorname{Outflow}}$	(0.028) $0.061^{***}$		(0.031) $0.051^{**}$	(0.047) -0.011**		(0.064) - $0.037^{**}$	(0.155) 0.202		(0.129) 0.221	(0.005) $0.095^{**}$		(0.014) $0.090^{**}$
$\mathrm{Sell}^{\mathrm{Inflow}}$	(0.013)	-0.140**	(0.019) - $0.138^{**}$	(0.004)	-0.192	(0.013) -0.203	(0.109)	-0.014	(0.140) 0.005	(0.030)	-0.132**	(0.033) - $0.123^{**}$
$\operatorname{Buy}^{\operatorname{Inflow}}$		(0.059) 0.046	(0.063) 0.047		(0.128) -0.013	(0.135) -0.024		(0.090) 0.132	(0.111) 0.151		(0.040) $0.073^{***}$	(0.043) $0.082^{***}$
Constant	$0.097^{***}$ (0.000)	(0.037) $0.109^{***}$ (0.002)	$(0.040) \\ 0.107^{***} \\ (0.003)$	$0.117^{***}$ (0.000)	(0.074) $0.132^{***}$ (0.004)	$\begin{array}{c} (0.079) \\ 0.142^{***} \\ (0.006) \end{array}$	-0.003 (0.002)	(0.189) -0.003** (0.001)	(0.191) -0.022** (0.002)	$0.104^{***}$ (0.000)	$\begin{array}{c} (0.012) \\ 0.117^{***} \\ (0.000) \end{array}$	(0.020) $0.108^{***}$ (0.001)
$\mathrm{Buy}^{\mathrm{Outflow}} - \mathrm{Sell}^{\mathrm{Outflow}}$	0.090**		0.090**	0.016		0.016	0.325		0.325	0.106**		0.106**
$\mathrm{Buy}^{\mathrm{Outflow}}-\mathrm{Buy}^{\mathrm{Inflow}}$	(0.041)		(0.041) 0.003 (0.034)	(0.051)		(0.062) -0.013 (0.086)	(0.209)		(0.217) 0.070 (0.135)	(0.035)		(0.037) 0.009 (0.021)
Industry FE	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Year FE Observations	Yes 952,040	Yes 952,040	Yes 952,040	Yes 426,475	Yes 426,475	Yes 426,475	Yes 108,187	Yes 108,187	Yes 108,187	Yes 417,378	Yes 417,378	Yes 417,378
K-squared	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.003	0.003	0.003	0.001	0.001	0.001

74

Table 2.3: 7	Trading	against	the flow:	$\operatorname{stock}$	characteristics
--------------	---------	---------	-----------	------------------------	-----------------

This table reports the estimation results of panel regressions for different stock characteristics on industry and year fixed effects, and a set of dummy variables capturing HFC trading upon different flow levels in quarter q during the whole sample period (2000q1-2017q4). "Sell" ("Buy") takes a value of 1 if the aggregate change in holding of the stock is below (above) the bottom (top) 30th percentile. Superscripts "Outflow" and "Inflow" indicate if corresponding HFCs experienced large outflows and inflows respectively. HFCs with the lowest 30th percentile of average flows are those with large outflows, and those HFCs with average flows above 70th percentile experience large inflows. The bottom panel reports the Wald test for the difference in the estimated coefficients. \*, \*\*, \*\*\* indicate significance at the 10%, 5%, and 1% level respectively. Robust standard errors clustered by both HFC and year are in parentheses.

	A 1 1:11: 11: (10=6)	hud illiquidity $(\times 10^{-6})$ Market Cap (in thillion)		ng (%)	Factor loading			
	Amhud illiquidity (×10°)	Market Cap (in \$billion)	Non-institutional investors	Quasi-indexers	CAPM Beta	Carhart SMB	Carhart HML	Carhart UMD
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)
$\mathrm{Sell}^{\mathrm{Outflow}}$	-0.315***	-5.387***	-2.203***	-0.071	0.077***	0.097***	0.005	0.000
	(0.103)	(1.001)	(0.343)	(0.264)	(0.011)	(0.017)	(0.014)	(0.009)
$Buy^{Outflow}$	-0.095	-5.180***	-1.055**	-0.564*	$0.063^{***}$	$0.099^{***}$	0.014	0.011
	(0.087)	(1.000)	(0.373)	(0.280)	(0.011)	(0.016)	(0.015)	(0.009)
Sell <sup>Inflow</sup>	-0.386***	-5.403***	-2.623***	0.413	$0.087^{***}$	$0.095^{***}$	-0.005	0.005
	(0.080)	(1.138)	(0.349)	(0.275)	(0.012)	(0.017)	(0.014)	(0.012)
Buy <sup>Inflow</sup>	-0.124	-6.411***	-0.807*	-0.895**	$0.051^{***}$	0.102***	$0.036^{*}$	-0.018
	(0.085)	(1.262)	(0.455)	(0.348)	(0.010)	(0.017)	(0.019)	(0.013)
Constant	0.707***	9.839***	30.638***	45.252***	$1.256^{***}$	$0.685^{***}$	0.083***	-0.064***
	(0.023)	(0.392)	(0.091)	(0.056)	(0.000)	(0.002)	(0.001)	(0.000)
$\mathrm{Buy}^{\mathrm{Outflow}} - \mathrm{Sell}^{\mathrm{Outflow}}$	0.219***	0.207	1.148**	-0.492	-0.014	0.002	0.008	0.011
	(0.072)	(0.301)	(0.433)	(0.385)	(0.013)	(0.021)	(0.022)	(0.011)
$Buy^{Outflow} - Buy^{Inflow}$	0.029	1.232**	-0.248	0.331	0.012	-0.003	-0.022	0.029*
	(0.090)	(0.515)	(0.478)	(0.402)	(0.012)	(0.015)	(0.019)	(0.014)
Industry FE	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Year FÉ	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Observations	952,040	932,637	845,759	930,560	876,282	876,282	876,282	876,282
R-squared	0.005	0.053	0.089	0.090	0.107	0.027	0.057	0.018

25

#### Table 2.4: Determinants of trading against the flow: managerial income and incentives

This table reports the estimation results of panel regressions for DGTW-adjusted monthly returns (Daniel et al., 1997) in quarter q+1 on industry and year fixed effects, a set of dummy variables capturing HFC trading upon different flow levels with different levels of given characteristics in quarter q from 2000q1 to 2017q4. "Sell" ("Buy") takes a value of 1 if the aggregate change in holding of the stock is below (above) the bottom (top) 30th percentile. Superscripts "Outflow" and "Inflow" indicate if corresponding HFCs experienced large outflows and inflows respectively. HFCs with the lowest 30th percentile of average flows are those with large outflows, and those HFCs with average flows above 70th percentile experience large inflows. The dummy variables indicate if the HFCs belong to a group with a given characteristic above or below median, including management fee (ManFee), Incentive fee (IncentiveFee), total net assets (TNA), HFC age since inception (FundAge), and past alpha relative to the Fund and Hsieh (2004) seven factors (PastAlpha). "Joint coefficients" refers to the sum of the products of dummy variables containing Buy<sup>Outflow</sup> and Buy<sup>Outflow</sup> itself. \*, \*\*, \*\*\*\* indicate significance at the 10%, 5%, and 1% level respectively. Robust standard errors clustered by both HFC and year are in parentheses.

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)	(10)
Sell <sup>Outflow</sup>	-0.039	-0.039	-0.039	-0.039	-0.039	-0.039	-0.039	-0.039	-0.039	-0.039
$\mathrm{Buy}^{\mathrm{Outflow}}$	(0.031) 0.077 (0.005)	(0.031) 0.043 (0.048)	(0.031) $0.140^{**}$ (0.064)	(0.031) -0.064 (0.041)	(0.031) 0.614 (0.592)	(0.031) $0.040^{**}$ (0.010)	(0.031) -0.160* (0.070)	(0.031) $0.193^{***}$ (0.053)	(0.031) -0.006 (0.043)	(0.031) $0.085^{*}$ (0.044)
$\mathrm{Sell}^{\mathrm{Inflow}}$	-0.138**	-0.138**	-0.138** (0.063)	-0.138** (0.063)	-0.138** (0.063)	-0.138** (0.063)	-0.138**	-0.138**	-0.138**	-0.138** (0.063)
$\mathrm{Buy}^{\mathrm{Inflow}}$	(0.003) 0.047 (0.040)	(0.003) 0.047 (0.040)	(0.003) 0.048 (0.040)	(0.003) 0.047 (0.040)	(0.003) 0.047 (0.040)	(0.003) 0.047 (0.040)	(0.003) 0.047 (0.040)	(0.003) 0.047 (0.040)	(0.003) 0.047 (0.040)	(0.003) 0.047 (0.040)
$\mathrm{Buy}^{\mathrm{Outflow}} \times \mathrm{ManFee}^{\mathrm{Low}}$	(0.040) -0.035 (0.119)	(0.040)	(0.040)	(0.040)	(0.040)	(0.040)	(0.040)	(0.040)	(0.040)	(0.040)
$\mathrm{Buy}^{\mathrm{Outflow}} \times \mathrm{ManFee}^{\mathrm{High}}$	(0.115)	0.020 (0.130)								
$\mathrm{Buy}^{\mathrm{Outflow}} \times \mathrm{TNA}^{\mathrm{Low}}$		(0.100)	-0.181 (0.106)							
$\mathrm{Buy}^{\mathrm{Outflow}} \times \mathrm{TNA}^{\mathrm{High}}$			(01200)	0.176** (0.073)						
$\mathrm{Buy}^{\mathrm{Outflow}} \times \mathrm{IncentiveFee}^{\mathrm{Low}}$				()	-0.570 (0.603)					
$\mathrm{Buy}^{\mathrm{Outflow}} \times \mathrm{IncentiveFee}^{\mathrm{High}}$					. /	0.542* (0.300)				
$\mathrm{Buy}^{\mathrm{Outflow}} \times \mathrm{FundAge}^{\mathrm{Young}}$						( )	0.349*** (0.119)			
$\rm Buy^{\rm Outflow} \times FundAge^{\rm Old}$							. ,	-0.264** (0.122)		
$\rm Buy^{\rm Outflow} \times PastAlpha^{\rm Low}$									0.102 (0.067)	
$\rm Buy^{\rm Outflow} \times PastAlpha^{\rm High}$										-0.062 (0.080)
Constant	$\begin{array}{c} 0.107^{***} \\ (0.004) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.107^{***} \\ (0.004) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.107^{***} \\ (0.003) \end{array}$	$0.107^{***}$ (0.003)						
Joint coefficients	$\begin{array}{c} 0.042\\ (0.033) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.063 \\ (0.088) \end{array}$	-0.041 (0.046)	$\begin{array}{c} 0.113^{***} \\ (0.037) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.044^{*} \\ (0.022) \end{array}$	$0.582^{*}$ (0.296)	$\begin{array}{c} 0.190^{***} \\ (0.042) \end{array}$	-0.071 (0.071)	$\begin{array}{c} 0.097^{**} \\ (0.034) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.023\\ (0.045) \end{array}$
Industry FE Year FE	Yes Yes	Yes Yes								
Observations R-squared	952,040 0.001	952,040 0.001								

#### Table 2.5: Determinants of trading against the flow: liquidity and managerial flexibility

This table reports the estimation results of panel regressions for DGTW-adjusted monthly returns (Daniel et al., 1997) in quarter q+1 on industry and year fixed effects, a set of dummy variables capturing HFC trading upon different flow levels with different levels of given characteristics in quarter q from 2000q1 to 2017q4. "Sell" ("Buy") takes a value of 1 if the aggregate change in holding of the stock is below (above) the bottom (top) 30th percentile. Superscripts "Outflow" and "Inflow" indicate if corresponding HFCs experienced large outflows and inflows respectively. HFCs with the lowest 30th percentile of average flows are those with large outflows, and those HFCs with average flows above 70th percentile experience large inflows. Notice<sup>Short</sup> (Notice<sup>Long</sup>) is equal to one when the notice periods of HFCs are less (more) than 30 days. SerialCorr<sup>Low</sup> (SerialCorr<sup>High</sup>) is equal to one when the first-order reported return serial correlation is below (above) the botker (more than one prime brokers). "Joint coefficients" refers to the sum of the products of dummy variables containing Buy<sup>Outflow</sup> and Buy<sup>Outflow</sup> itself. \*, \*\*, \*\*\*\* indicate significance at the 10%, 5%, and 1% level respectively. Robust standard errors clustered by both HFC and year are in parentheses.

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)
$\mathrm{Sell}^{\mathrm{Outflow}}$	-0.039	-0.039	-0.039	-0.039	-0.039	-0.039
	(0.032)	(0.031)	(0.031)	(0.031)	(0.031)	(0.031)
Buy <sup>Outflow</sup>	$0.091^{*}$	-0.057	$0.280^{***}$	-0.092**	0.076	0.045
	(0.045)	(0.058)	(0.063)	(0.043)	(0.070)	(0.035)
Sell <sup>Inflow</sup>	-0.138**	-0.138**	-0.138**	-0.138**	-0.138**	-0.138**
T 0	(0.063)	(0.063)	(0.063)	(0.063)	(0.063)	(0.063)
Buymnow	0.048	0.047	0.048	0.047	0.047	0.047
D Outflow a Low	(0.040)	(0.040)	(0.040)	(0.040)	(0.040)	(0.040)
$Buy^{Outhow} \times SerialCorr^{Low}$	-0.085					
P Outflow a contract High	(0.094)	a i Haik				
$Buy^{Outflow} \times SerialCorr^{High}$		$0.172^{*}$				
D Outflow N Low		(0.096)	0.040***			
Buy Value × Notice			$-0.342^{***}$			
DOutflow			(0.087)	0.914**		
Buy X Notice 9				$(0.314^{++})$		
Buroutflow & DrimoBrokor=1				(0.112)	0.047	
buy × i miebiokei					-0.047	
Buy <sup>Outflow</sup> × PrimeBroker <sup>&gt;1</sup>					(0.101)	0.014
						(0.014)
Constant	0 107***	0 107***	0 107***	0 107***	0 107***	0.107***
Constant	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.004)	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.003)
	()	()	()	()	()	()
Joint coefficients	0.007	0.115**	-0.062**	0.222***	0.029	0.059
	(0.058)	(0.044)	(0.027)	(0.070)	(0.036)	(0.059)
	· /	· /	· · · ·	· · · ·	· /	· /
Industry FE	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Year FE	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Observations	$952,\!040$	$952,\!040$	$952,\!040$	$952,\!040$	$952,\!040$	$952,\!040$
R-squared	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001

#### Table 2.6: HFC liquidation probability

This table reports the estimation results for a logit model for HFC liquidation probability in quarter q+1 from 2000q1 to 2017q4. Flow<sup> $\leq 30$ th</sup> is the flow if it is smaller than 30th flow percentile in quarter q. ATF-TI is the "against-the-flow" trading intensity. \*, \*\*, \*\*\* indicate significance at the 10%, 5%, and 1% level respectively. Standard errors are in parentheses.

	(1)	(2)	(3)
Flow	-1.983***	0.414	0.606
	(0.712)	(0.898)	(0.865)
$\mathrm{Flow}^{\leq 30\mathrm{th}}$		-5.315***	-8.390***
		(1.767)	(1.638)
AFT-TI			0.020
			(0.022)
$\mathrm{Flow}^{\leq 30\mathrm{th}} \times \mathrm{ATF}\text{-}\mathrm{TI}$			1.047***
			(0.237)
No.funds in HFC	-0.241***	-0.243***	-0.251***
	(0.058)	(0.058)	(0.059)
Past volatility	-0.036	-0.035	-0.034
	(0.035)	(0.034)	(0.034)
Past alpha	0.002	0.002	0.001
	(0.005)	(0.005)	(0.005)
Fund age	-0.001	-0.001	-0.001
	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)
Management fee	0.010	-0.022	-0.052
	(0.180)	(0.180)	(0.182)
TNA	-0.000	-0.000	-0.000
	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)
Incentive fee	0.028	0.027	0.024
	(0.021)	(0.021)	(0.021)
HWM	0.146	(0.150)	0.155
T 1	(0.207)	(0.208)	(0.208)
Leveraged	$-0.333^{+0.1}$	$-0.329^{+0.1}$	$-0.323^{+}$
Nation wowie l	(0.105)	(0.105)	(0.100)
Notice period	-0.004	-0.003	-0.003
Look up poriod	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.003)
Lock-up period	-0.007	-0.003	-0.004
Redomption frequency	(0.011)	(0.011)	(0.011)
Redemption nequency	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)
No primo brokors in HEC	(0.001) 0.170**	(0.001) 0.101**	(0.001) 0.188**
No.prime brokers in fire	(0.082)	(0.131)	(0.081)
Constant	-4 528***	-4 616***	-4 608***
Constant	(0.950)	(0.951)	(0.952)
	(0.550)	(0.001)	(0.002)
Strategy FE	Yes	Yes	Yes
Year FE	Yes	Yes	Yes
Pseudo R-squared	0.122	0.126	0.133
Observations	$7,\!845$	$7,\!845$	7,845

# Chapter 3

# Do Hedge Funds Still Manipulate Stock Prices?

*Keywords*: Stock Manipulation, Post-Publication, Hedge Funds.

## **3.1.** Introduction

Many studies in finance and economics cannot be replicated<sup>1</sup>. The reasons of the lack of replicability may be either incorrect statistical inference, including phacking and short-sample biases (e.g. Harvey et al., 2016; Ioannidis et al., 2017; Harvey, 2017; Linnainmaa and Roberts, 2018; Chordia et al., 2019), or the actual change in the documented phenomenon. After an academic paper is published, new information is released and incorporated in prices in systematic way. It may be reflected in changing of financial regulations and behaviour of investors, thus, altering the observed patterns in prices and returns.

One of the examples of such changes is the case of market anomalies. After

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>For example, Camerer et al. (2016) show that the keys findings of at least 7 studies published in the American Economic Review and the Quarterly Journal of Economics between 2011 and 2014 cannot be statistically replicated. Furthermore, Chang and Li (2017) show that 30 out of 59 papers published in 13 well-regarded journals cannot be replicated due to (1) the authors not providing files to the journal replication archives, or (2) the provided files either not working or producing opposite results. More evidence is well concluded in Christensen and Miguel (2018).

an academic paper discussing a particular market anomaly is published, trading on this anomaly intensifies and consequently the anomaly weakens (McLean and Pontiff, 2016). Another example concerns mutual funds, that were found to engage in portfolio pumping (Carhart et al., 2002; Bhattacharyya and Nanda, 2013; Hu et al., 2014) and window dressing (Ng and Wang, 2004; Agarwal et al., 2014), but after the academic papers exposing them were published, the effect has become milder (Duong and Meschke, 2020).

Among professional investors, hedge funds tend to be seen as the most "skilful" in market timing (Brunnermeier and Nagel, 2004; Cao et al., 2013) and stock picking (Kosowski et al., 2007; Agarwal et al., 2013). The information available to researchers on hedge funds through commercial databases may be not completely accurate, however, since it is self-reported and thus may be subject to return manipulation. Hedge funds reporting to commercial databases outperform nonreporting funds (Aiken et al., 2013). Managers are more likely to list their small, best-performing funds in multiple outlets immediately, while keeping an option to list other funds in additional databases later (Jorion and Schwarz, 2014b). Hedge fund managers tend to strategically delay the release of poor returns. The delayed negative returns are often clustered with subsequent positive returns smoothing the performance (Aragon and Nanda, 2017).<sup>2</sup> Such potential "management of reported returns" can mislead investors and benefit fund managers<sup>3</sup>, but it does not seem to directly affect

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Still, researchers up to date do not completely agree whether the documented stylized facts of hedge fund performance should be attributed to return misreporting or instead they are natural consequences of hedge fund trading strategies. High return serial correlation (Bollen and Pool, 2008), distribution-discontinuity (Bollen and Pool, 2009), and December spikes (Agarwal et al., 2011) suggest hedge fund return misreporting. But such patterns can be triggered by managers' pricing control (Cassar and Gerakos, 2011), incentive-fee mechanism (Jorion and Schwarz, 2014a), overvaluation of equity positions (Cici et al., 2016), and properties of the underlying assets (Cao et al., 2017).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Return misreporting can temporarily improve the observed performance, attracting inflows and avoiding outflows (Berk and Green, 2004). Bollen and Pool (2008) find that funds with more volatile cash flows are more likely to "smooth" their returns. Agarwal et al. (2011) suggest that as incentive fees are often paid annually at the end of December, hedge funds are able to earn higher incentive fees by reporting higher December returns. Jylha (2011) concludes that hedge fund misreporting is mainly motivated by charging higher management fee, attracting more future inflow, and/or transferring wealth from new investors to the old ones.

financial markets.<sup>4</sup> At the same time, hedge funds were found to engage in actual stock price manipulation (and not only misreporting). With investors' flows chasing good performance, fund managers have incentives to manipulate stock prices at the end of a quarter (Bernhardt and Davies, 2009).

The starting point of our paper is the findings in Ben-David et al. (2013), which suggest clear stock price manipulation by hedge funds. The authors find a strong "blip" pattern among stocks held by hedge funds: stocks in the top quartile of hedge fund holding experience large abnormal returns on the last trading day of a quarter, most of which reverts the next day. This finding echoes Comerton-Forde and Putniņš (2011, 2014), who show similar patterns in the prosecuted market manipulation cases for mutual funds.

In this short paper<sup>5</sup>, we re-examine the key findings in Ben-David et al. (2013) and ask if stock price manipulation by hedge funds has weakened after it has been exposed by the paper on Feb 17, 2011.<sup>6</sup> We, first, replicate the keying findings of Ben-David et al. (2013) using the same time period as in the original paper (2000q1 to 2010q3), and then show that the blip pattern substantially shrinks in magnitude and turns statistically insignificant in the post-publication period (2011q1 to 2018q4). Further, using the fund-level blip suggested by Ben-David et al. (2013), we find that after publication of that paper, the portfolio blip of hedge funds significantly decreases by approximately 6 percentage points per quarter, and the probability of large blips reduces too.

As an extension, we test if hedge funds benefit from stock price manipulation by attracting higher future flows and whether such benefits reduce after the academic "exposure". We find a concave relation between fund-level blip and future fund flow: moderate stock price manipulation is positively related to future flows, which

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>In fact, some studies find that hedge funds improve market efficiency (e.g. Akbas et al., 2015; Kokkonen and Suominen, 2015; Cao et al., 2018).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Without the extension part, this short paper is mainly targeted for the "Replications and Corrigenda" section of The Journal of Finance.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>This is the posted date when this paper was first published on the website of Social Science Research Network (SSRN) https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract\_id=1763225.

is reduced for extreme levels of manipulation. Interestingly, this pattern remains unchanged after the publication of the original paper. Further looking into the flowperformance sensitivity and its relation with fund-level blip, we find that before the publication flows were less sensitive to performance for high-blip funds, but they become more sensitive to fund performance afterwards. This finding suggests that in the earlier period poor performing funds were benefitting more from return manipulation, while in the later period, the beneficiaries are well-performed funds.

Overall, our findings suggest that after Ben-David et al. (2013) publication, stock price manipulation by hedge funds has reduced substantially on both the aggregate and individual levels, such that no significant pattern can be detected during recent years. An average hedge fund is not expected by investors to engage in return manipulation anymore. Consequently, those hedge funds that still do it to some degree receive higher flows in response to their good performance.

## **3.2.** Hypothesis and Methodology

In this paper, we check if hedge funds still manipulate stock prices after the findings of Ben-David et al. (2013) became publicly available. If such academic "exposure" makes stock manipulation costly due to more regulatory scrutiny, hedge funds may choose to reduce stock price manipulation. Coincidently, on Feb 24, 2011, one week after the working paper was posted online, the Security and Exchange Commission (SEC) charged a hedge fund trader involved in a "portfolio pumping" scheme.<sup>7</sup> This leads to our key hypothesis:

HYPOTHESIS 1: The stock manipulation pattern found in Ben-David et al. (2013) reduces after the findings of the paper become publicly avaiable.

Throughout the paper, we use data from 2000q1 to 2010q3 as the benchmark

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>See SEC Charges Securities Professionals and Traders in International Hedge Fund Portfolio Pumping Scheme, https://www.sec.gov/news/press/2011/2011-51.htm for more details. Besides, on Sep 8, 2014, SEC charged a Minneapolis-based hedge fund manager with "portfolio pumping". See SEC Charges Minneapolis-Based Hedge Fund Manager With Bilking Investors and Portfolio Pumping, https://www.sec.gov/news/press-release/2014-187 for more details.

sample matching the one from Ben-David et al. (2013), and data from 2011q1 to 2018q4 as the true out-of-sample period.<sup>8</sup> We closely follow the methodology of Ben-David et al. (2013) when investigating the link between the daily stock returns around a quarter end and hedge fund ownership.

We first construct DGTW-adjusted daily stock returns, following Daniel et al. (1997) (hereafter DGTW). At the end of each June, we assign stocks into one of 125 portfolios constructed based on market capitalization using NYSE breakpoints, the industry-adjusted book-to-market ratio using the Fama-French 48 industries, and the prior 12-month return. Portfolios are held for one year and then rebalanced. For each of the 125 portfolios, we calculate the value-weighted daily returns as the benchmark. The DGTW-adjusted daily return is the difference between the stock's daily return and the return on the benchmark portfolio which this stock belongs to.

We then regress last-day of a quarter DGTW-adjusted returns and last-day-plus-1 DGTW-adjusted returns on the indicators of ownership by hedge fund companies (hereafter HFCs). We split the stock universe according to the ownership quartiles and halves as in the original paper, and use robust standard errors in the regressions.

Next, following Ben-David et al. (2013), we calculate the fund-level "blip" measure. For HFC j, we calculate the dollar-holding-weighted adjusted returns of their long equity portfolio on the last trading day of quarter q and the first trading day of quarter q+1, DW-Return<sup>last</sup> and DW-Return<sup>first</sup>. The portfolio returns are adjusted by subtracting corresponding daily market returns proxied by the valueweighted return of all CRSP firms incorporated in U.S. and listed on NYSE, AMEX, or NASDAQ. Then, for HFC j at the end of quarter q, we calculate the adjusted fund-level "blip" measure (Adj blip<sub>i,q</sub>) as

$$Adj blip_{j,q} = DW-Return_{j,q}^{last} - DW-Return_{j,q+1}^{first}.$$

To control for the effect of stock return volatility on the size of the blip, the fund-

 $<sup>^{8}\</sup>mathrm{As}$  the stock manipulation is around quarter-end, we regard 2011q1 as the first quarter after the publication.

level blip measure is scaled by the portfolio daily volatility: Adj blip/vol<sub>j,q</sub>. The volatility is calculated using the daily returns of the long equity portfolio weighted by the quarter-end dollar holdings on all trading days of the quarter q except for the very last trading day, in order to prevent the potential manipulation from artificially inflating the volatility of the portfolio.

We compare the average sizes of blips in pre- and post-publication periods, and then assess the changes in a multivariate setting. We regress fund-level blips on various characteristics of HFCs (such as fees, past returns, flows etc., following the original paper) and the time dummy for the after-publication period. We use two different specifications for the dependent variable: (1) the volatility-adjusted blip, and (2) the volatility-adjusted blip if it is positive (and zero otherwise), which closer corresponds to potential stock price manipulation. Additionally, we test if the probability of large volatility adjusted blips – those above 50% – changes over time using a Logit model with the same set of control variables.

We expect the level of blip on stock- and fund-levels, as well as the probability of large blips to reduce in the post-publication period, if regulators and investors pay attention to the academic research and if hedge fund managers are aware of it.

## 3.3. Data

Our hedge fund data is from TASS database, and institutional holding data are from Thomson Reuters Institutional (13f) Holdings database (CDA/Spectrum s34). To identify HFCs that report to 13f, we create a list of HFCs' 13f identifiers (i.e. manager numbers, hereafter MGRNOs), by matching the names of HFCs and those of the institutions reporting to 13f. We manually check that the identified companies do not have any mutual fund or insurance business as side-business, thus assuring that we obtain a list of pure HFCs. In total, from 2000q1 to 2018q4, we identify 315 HFCs from TASS database. Figure 3.1 plots the time series of the numbers of matched HFCs with holding observations. The number of 13f-reporting HFCs in TASS database decreases after 2007-2008 financial crisis, consistent with Joenväärä et al. (2019).

#### [Place Figure 3.1 about here]

Note, the exact replication of the hedge fund sample used in Ben-David et al. (2013) is not feasible for us. The authors obtain a proprietary list of hedge funds directly from Thompson Reuters, which is not available for general research purpose. They also impose a weaker criterion to define a HFC. Any investment company with more than 50% of the asset in hedge fund business is classified as a HFC in Ben-David et al. (2013), whereas we require no other business apart from hedge fund business for the company to be included in the sample. Table 3.1 indicates that on average during the overlapping years we have around 50% of the HFCs compared to Ben-David et al. (2013). At the same time, as will be discussed later, we are able to replicate the results of Ben-David et al. (2013) even using our reduced, but available for every researcher, sample of HFCs.

#### [Place Table 3.1 about here]

To construct fund-level control variables, we calculate company-level total net assets (hereafter TNA) as the sum of TNA of all managed hedge funds. Other HFC characteristic are computed as the TNA-weighted company-level fund characteristics. To match the quarterly frequency of 13f holding reports, we further calculate within-quarter averages of the monthly TNA-weighted company-level fund characteristics.

Stock return data are from the Center for Research in Security Prices (CRSP) Monthly Stock File. We use daily returns of common stocks (those with CRSP share codes of 10, or 11) traded on NYSE, AMEX, or NASDAQ (those with CRSP exchange codes of 1, 2, or 3) from Jan 3, 2000 to Jan 2, 2019. We manually pick the last trading day of the quarter and the first trading day of the next quarter to exclude holidays or other market-closing days.<sup>9</sup> Stock returns are adjusted using

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>For example, Mar 29, 2002, Mar 29, 2013, Mar 30, 2018 are Good Friday; Jan 02, 2006, Jan 02, 2012, Jan 02, 2017 are New Year Holiday; Jan 02, 2007 is Tribute to former US President Gerald Ford. On these weekday days, exchanges were closed.

the cumulative adjusted factor provided by CRSP.

To assure the comparability of the results, we try to match our stock sample as close as possible to that of Ben-David et al. (2013). The challenge here is that no details on the stock data filtering is provided in the original paper. For example, it is not specified if the returns are winsorized, or whether micro-caps are excluded from the sample. Thus we resort to matching the reported descriptive statistics, and are able to identify the following criteria:

- Stocks with returns on the last day of a quarter or the first day of a quarter are included in the sample; they are not required to have both consecutive returns. This is informed by the fact that in Ben-David et al. (2013) the number of DGTW-adjusted daily stock returns on the last trading day of the quarter is 128,841, and it is not equal to the number of returns on the first trading day of the following quarter of 122,804 (Ben-David et al. (2013), Tables II).
- 2. The DGTW-adjusted daily stock returns are winsorized only from above at the 99% level using the complete sample. The maximum value of DGTW-adjusted daily stock returns on different days as reported in Ben-David et al. (2013) is always the same of 14.469%, whereas the minimum value varies depending on the day (Ben-David et al. (2013), Table I).
- 3. Small stocks with the price below USD 5 are excluded from the sample, matching well the mean market capitalization of 4.08E+09 and its 25th percentile of 1.60E+08 reported in Ben-David et al. (2013) Table I.

Table 3.2 reports the day-level summary statistics of stocks before and after the first publication of the paper. Panel A reproduces the data as reported in Ben-David et al. (2013). Panel B of Table 3.2 reports the descriptive statistics of our sample using only the first two criteria from 2000q1 to 2010q3. The number of last-day stock returns is 190,775, approximately 48% higher than that reported in the original paper. The 25th percentile of market capitalization on the last trading day of the quarter is 5.67E+07, which is approximately 35% of that in the original

paper. Panel C of Table 3.2 removes small-cap stocks with unadjusted current prices smaller than \$5, resulting in a much better alignment of the moments in our sample and in that used in Ben-David et al. (2013).

Panel D of Table 3.2 applies all three criteria to data from 2011q1-2018q4. The average last-day return after publication of 1.5 bps is a bit smaller than that before the publication. While the average last-day-plus-1 return shrinks by almost a half from -6.3 bps to -3.8 bps in the later sample. This points into the direction of a reduced manipulation pattern.

#### [Place Table 3.2 about here]

Table 3.3 reports the quarter-level summary statistics of HFCs before and after the first publication of the paper. Overall, the descriptive statistics of HFC are very similar during both sub-samples. The strongest difference is in the net fund flow, which reduces in the later period. It is likely to be driven by substantial outflows from the hedge fund industry during the recent years. Remarkably, the fund level adjusted blip decreases from 0.32% pre-publication to only 0.06% post-publication, and volatility adjusted blip drops from 19.52% to 7.09%. This also indicates a substantial reduction of potential return manipulation at the individual hedge fund level during the later period.

#### [Place Table 3.3 about here]

## **3.4.** Empirical Results

Table 3.4 reports the stock-level results in pre- and post-publication samples. The last-day DGTW-adjusted returns and last-day-plus-1 DGTW-adjusted returns are regressed on the dummies indicating different levels of hedge fund ownership. Panel A uses ownership quartiles, and Panel B uses the indicator for hedge fund ownership being above the median. The results in the earlier sample are consistent with those in Ben-David et al. (2013). The daily returns of stocks in the top ownership quartile, on average, increase by 17.9 bps on the last trading day of the quarter, and decrease by 8.2 bps on the first trading day of the following quarter. The magnitude of the effect is somewhat smaller than in the original paper, but the corresponding t-statistics are equally high, reaching 7.23 for the last day return and high HFC ownership quartile compared to 6.80 reported in Ben-David et al. (2013). Similar pattern can be seen using the above-the-median hedge fund ownership indicator. After the publication, the patterns in abnormal returns completely disappear. The loadings on the dummies for top quartile and top half of ownership are closer to zero and not statistically significant.

#### [Place Table 3.4 about here]

Moving to the fund-level manipulation measure, we compare the average volatilityadjusted blip and positive volatility-adjusted blip before and after the publication (Table 3.5). The average volatility-adjusted blip is 19.92% before publication, which reduces to just 5.88% after the publication, with the difference being significant at the 5% level. Similarly, the average positive volatility-adjusted blip significantly decreases after the publication.

#### [Place Table 3.5 about here]

Table 3.6 reports the regression results for fund-level blips. The fund-level blip pattern is more pronounced for funds with poor performance, charging lower management fee, that are younger and with less frequent redemptions. Consistent with HYPOTHESIS 1, the volatility-adjusted blip significantly decreases by approximately 6 percentage points after the publication, and the likelihood of strong manipulation also significantly reduces after publication.

#### [Place Table 3.6 about here]

Overall, the stock-level and fund-level results indicate significant reduction of stock price manipulation by hedge funds in the period following the publication of Ben-David et al. (2013).

#### 3.4.1. Extension: the impact on fund flow

One of the reasons why hedge funds may have engaged in stock return manipulation is that they have been benefiting from such practice by obtaining higher future capital flows from investors. The academic "exposure" of such behavior may have made regulators aware of such practices. Facing potential penalties from regulators, hedge funds have reduces portfolio pumping at quarter end. There can be a second mechanism here too, related to changing investor behavior. If prior to the publication investors rewarded hedge funds with higher inflow but stoped doing this after they have learned about the potential "dark sider" of hedge fund trades, hedge funds would have very little incentive to manipulate stocks. Such activity is turning costly from the regulatory cost point of view, and does not result in substantial benefits anymore.

We test if the effect of potential return manipulation on future fund flow has changed in the post-publication period. Net HFC flow in quarter q+1 is regressed on the fund-level blip a the end of the previous quarter, time dummy for the afterpublication period, HFC past return, the interaction terms among them, as well as other controls that impact fund future capital flows. We include past quarter flow, natural logarithm of past quarter TNA of the HFC, incentive and management fees, HFC age, number of hedge funds in the HFC, the existence of the high-water mark, usage of leverage, and the length of the notice and lock-up periods. We also control for the aggregate fund flow in the hedge fund industry during quarter q+1.

To obtain the net fund flow of HFC j in month t, we first calculate the TNAweighted monthly return of HFC j in month t and then use it for flow computation:

$$R_{j,t} = \frac{\sum_{k=1}^{N} TNA_{j,k,t} \times R_{j,k,t}}{\sum_{k=1}^{N} TNA_{j,k,t}},$$
(3.1)

$$flow_{j,t} = \frac{TNA_{j,t} - TNA_{j,t-1} \times (1 + R_{j,t})}{TNA_{j,t-1}},$$
(3.2)

Fund-level blip is measured using a positive volatility-adjusted blip (Adj blip<sup>+</sup>/vol). To control for potential non-linearities in the relation between return manipulation and flow, we first include the quadratic term of fund-level blip (Adj blip<sup>+</sup>/vol)<sup>2</sup>, and then use two different measures for large and very large blips: a dummy taking a value of one if the volatility-adjusted blip is larger than the 25th percentile, and a dummy taking the value of one if the volatility-adjusted blip is larger than the 75th percentile.

The estimation results (Tables 3.7) reveal that on average HFC stock manipulation is beneficial for HFCs. It is positively related to future fund flow, and the relation does not significantly change after the publication. This positive relation, however, weakens if the portfolio blip is too extreme as suggested by the negative and significant coefficient on the quadratic term of fund-level blip (Tables 3.7) and insignificant coefficients on Adj blip<sup>+</sup>/vol > 75th percentile in columns (5) to (8) of Tables 3.8. The results may suggest that investors identify extremely high price changes at a quarter end as suspicious and do not reward such hedge funds with higher flows.

The flow-performance sensitivity decreased substantially in the post publication period.<sup>10</sup> More importantly, the shape of the flow-performance relation conditional on individual fund portfolio blip has changed. Funds with large blips exhibited lower flow-performance sensitivity in the pre-publication period, but a higher sensitivity after the publication. This suggests that, during the earlier period, poorly performing funds may have additionally benefited from return manipulation, as it reduced the effect of past poor returns on future flows. However after the publication, stock return manipulation benefits only well performing funds, attracting even

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>Such overall decline in flow-performance sensitivity may not necessarily be related to the publication, however. Other factors could have impacted fund flow during this period, indulging, for example, regulatory changes in the US, restricting investment into hedge funds by banking institutions.

higher flows in response to good past performance. Using the insights from Ben-David et al. (2013) that poorly performing funds have been more likely to engage is stock price manipulation, it seems that post publication investors do not expect well performing funds to engage in this activity, thus, benefitting those well performing funds that still choose to manipulate stock prices, despite the overall reduction in such activities.

[Place Tables 3.7 and 3.8 about here]

## 3.5. Conclusion

In early 2011, Ben-David et al. (2013) reported evidence that hedge funds manipulate stock prices at quarter ends in order to "pump" their portfolios. Stocks held by hedge funds exhibited high positive abnormal returns on the last trading day in a quarter, and a significant negative abnormal return during the first day of a quarter between 2000q1 and 2010q3, forming a so-called return "blip". We replicate this result using a somewhat different sample of hedge funds, and find a similarly strong pattern during the same time period. Applying the methodology during the period following the publication of the original paper (2011q1 to 2018q4) we can no longer detect a significant pattern of end-of-quarter abnormal returns at the stock level, suggesting that hedge funds as a group engage much less in portfolio pumping activities after this pattern was "exposed" though the academic publication. On a fund level, potential return manipulation, measured by the stock portfolio return blip around quarter end, also significantly decreases compared to the pre-publication level, making it not statistically significant on average.

Our findings contribute to the literature showing changes in investor behavior and various financial market phenomena after research exposing those become public knowledge (McLean and Pontiff, 2016; Duong and Meschke, 2020), and highlight a strong feedback loop between the financial market and financial research, when the latter studies the former but also shapes it.

# 3.6. Figures

Figure 3.1: Time series of the numbers of matched hedge fund companies

The figure plots the time series of the number of hedge fund companies (HFCs) from the TASS database from 2000q1 to 2018q4 and also report their holdings to SEC through 13f filings.



# 3.7. Tables

Table 3.1: Numbers of hedge fund company per year

This table reports the numbers of HFCs in the sample per year as reported in Ben-David et al. (2013) and those used in our paper.

Year	Number of Hedge Fund Companies in Ben-David at al. (2013)	Number of Hedge Fund Companies Our Sample	Percentage
2000	309	160	51.73%
2001	328	186	56.68%
2002	387	202	52.26%
2003	419	209	49.80%
2004	470	205	43.51%
2005	530	208	39.25%
2006	552	197	35.61%
2007	531	184	34.56%
2008	415	158	37.97%
2009	317	139	43.93%
2010	288	130	45.10%

#### Table 3.2: Summary statistics: stocks (day-level)

This table reports the summary statistics of the sample of stocks, including returns on the last trading day and the first trading day of a quarter, market capitalization on the last trading day of a quarter, and ownership of hedge fund companies (HFCs). We use common stocks (CRSP share codes of 10, or 11) traded on NYSE, AMEX, or NASDAQ (CRSP exchange codes of 1, 2, or 3). Returns are adjusted following procedures detailed in Daniel et al. (1997) (DGTW). Panel A reproduces the numbers reported in (Ben-David et al., 2013). Panel B uses our sample with returns winsorized at the 99% level from 2000q1 to 2010q3, the same period as used in Ben-David et al. (2013). Panel C reports the descriptive statistics of the same sample excluding stocks with the market value below \$5. Panel D reports the statistics of winsorized returns excluding small cap stocks from 2011q1 to 2018q4.

	Ν	Mean	Std.Dev	Min	P25	P50	P75	Max
		Pan	el A: 2000	q1 to 2010q	3 (Ben-Da	vid et al. (	<b>2013</b> ))	
Return last day (%, DGTW adjusted)	128,841	0.021	3.772	-74.251	-1.361	-0.067	1.260	14.469
Return first day (%, DGTW adjusted)	128,868	-0.126	3.728	-81.250	-1.539	-0.072	1.398	14.469
HF ownership $(\%)$	128,910	2.615	3.803	0.000	0.440	1.258	3.246	100.000
Market capitalization last day	$125,\!861$	4.08E + 09	$1.77E{+}10$	-1.03E+09	1.60E + 08	5.40E + 08	1.89E + 09	$5.71E{+}11$
		Pa	nel B: 2000	q1 to 2010	q3 (with si	nall-cap st	$\mathbf{ocks})$	
Return last day (%, DGTW adjusted)	190,775	-0.040	4.278	-75.345	-1.534	-0.093	1.375	13.568
Return first day (%, DGTW adjusted)	$189,\!694$	-0.136	4.148	-80.757	-1.696	-0.095	1.495	13.568
HFC ownership $(\%)$	190,775	3.058	5.581	0.000	0.000	1.318	4.039	100.000
Market capitalization	190,775	2.78E + 09	$1.45E{+}10$	1.67E + 05	5.67E + 07	2.42E + 08	1.07E + 09	5.72E + 11
		Pane	el C: 2000q	1 to 2010q3	B (without	small-cap	$\mathbf{stocks})$	
Return last day (%, DGTW adjusted)	142,979	0.017	3.118	-52.867	-1.260	-0.075	1.130	13.568
Return first day (%, DGTW adjusted)	$141,\!897$	-0.063	3.032	-64.121	-1.385	-0.054	1.300	13.568
HFC ownership $(\%)$	142,979	3.356	5.180	0.000	0.301	1.820	4.557	100.000
Market capitalization	$142,\!979$	3.68E + 09	$1.67E{+}10$	1.80E + 06	1.43E + 08	4.72E + 08	1.67E + 09	$5.72E{+}11$
		Pane	el D: 2011q	$1 to 2018q^{2}$	4 (without	small-cap	$\mathbf{stocks})$	
Return last day (%, DGTW adjusted)	84,482	0.015	1.859	-67.554	-0.829	-0.031	0.791	8.581
Return first day (%, DGTW adjusted)	84,000	-0.038	2.057	-55.228	-1.014	-0.050	0.922	8.581
HF ownership $(\%)$	84,482	3.829	4.849	0.000	1.089	2.628	5.131	100.000
Market capitalization	84,482	7.45E + 09	$2.90E{+}10$	2.22E + 06	3.16E + 08	1.10E + 09	3.85E + 09	1.07E + 12

#### Table 3.3: Summary statistics: hedge funds (quarter-level)

This table reports the summary statistics of characteristics of hedge fund companies (HFCs). We calculate the mean of the monthly TNA-weighted company-level fund characteristics as the proxies of HFC characteristics in a quarter. Panel A reports the statistics from 2000q1 to 2018q4, whereas Panel B reports those from 2011q1 to 2018q4.

	Ν	Mean	Std.Dev	Min	P25	P50	P75	Max
			Pan	el A: 200	0q1 to 2	010q3		
Adj blip (%)	4,390	0.324	1.856	-35.746	-0.318	0.144	0.773	36.803
Adj blip/vol (%)	4,390	19.517	82.460	-206.234	-25.170	12.059	59.755	289.415
Adj blip <sup>+</sup> /vol (%)	4,390	40.290	59.663	0.000	0.000	12.059	59.755	289.415
Fund return (%)	4,390	0.606	2.977	-21.497	-0.367	0.654	1.740	38.941
Net fund flow $(\%)$	4,326	1.641	11.139	-25.237	-1.624	0.238	2.569	70.458
Ln(TNA)	4,390	19.003	1.734	0.693	17.983	19.074	20.182	24.216
Ln(#stock under management)	4,390	4.105	1.506	0.000	3.219	4.025	5.226	7.749
#Fund under management	4,390	2.488	2.175	1.000	1.000	2.000	3.000	16.333
Management fee $(\%)$	4,381	1.282	0.412	0.000	1.000	1.136	1.500	3.308
Incentive fee (%)	4,381	18.576	4.199	0.000	20.000	20.000	20.000	40.000
HWM dummy	4,381	0.776	0.374	0.000	0.638	1.000	1.000	1.000
Levered dummy	4,390	0.678	0.426	0.000	0.156	1.000	1.000	1.000
Notice period (day)	4,390	43.495	25.069	0.000	30.000	41.881	60.000	259.916
Lockup period (month)	4,390	5.148	6.637	0.000	0.000	1.417	12.000	36.000
Redemption frequency (day)	4,368	98.231	87.019	1.000	30.000	90.000	90.000	360.000
Fund age (month)	4,390	84.330	51.399	1.000	44.000	76.069	117.244	281.000
			Pan	el B: 201	1q1 to 2	018q4		
Adj blip (%)	1,688	0.062	0.916	-8.269	-0.265	0.069	0.448	5.486
Adj blip/vol (%)	1,688	7.089	69.241	-207.520	-25.845	6.178	40.798	205.823
Adj blip <sup>+</sup> /vol (%)	$1,\!688$	28.607	43.773	0.000	0.000	6.178	40.798	205.823
Fund return (%)	$1,\!688$	0.362	8.134	-15.322	-0.562	0.360	1.294	320.549
Net fund flow (%)	1,665	0.085	9.404	-28.665	-1.659	-0.172	0.633	62.838
Ln(TNA)	$1,\!688$	19.352	2.076	11.606	18.028	19.200	20.901	24.675
Ln(#stock under management)	$1,\!688$	4.096	1.587	0.000	2.996	4.025	5.257	7.779
#Fund under management	$1,\!688$	2.500	2.076	1.000	1.000	2.000	3.000	17.000
Management fee $(\%)$	$1,\!688$	1.296	0.420	0.342	1.000	1.215	1.500	2.626
Incentive fee $(\%)$	$1,\!682$	17.655	5.181	0.000	18.702	20.000	20.000	25.486
HWM dummy	$1,\!688$	0.792	0.370	0.000	0.769	1.000	1.000	1.000
Levered dummy	$1,\!688$	0.682	0.429	0.000	0.147	1.000	1.000	1.000
Notice period (day)	$1,\!688$	45.740	33.826	0.000	30.000	44.136	60.000	231.756
Lockup period (month)	$1,\!688$	5.209	6.370	0.000	0.000	0.000	12.000	24.000
Redemption frequency (day)	$1,\!678$	83.240	85.829	7.000	30.000	74.669	90.000	360.000
Fund age (month)	$1,\!688$	154.043	80.752	1.000	90.000	143.000	211.040	383.000

#### Table 3.4: Stock-level manipulation

This table reports the estimation results for the regression of stock abnormal returns during the last day or a quarter and the last-day-plus-1 day on indicators of hedge fund ownership quartiles (Panel A) and halves (Panel B) following Ben-David et al. (2013) using two time periods. First period is from 2000q1 to 2010q3, as used in Ben-David et al. (2013). The second period is from 2011q1 to 2018q4, starting after the first publication of the paper "Do Hedge Funds Manipulate Stock Prices?" (Ben-David et al., 2013) on Feb 17, 2011. T-statistics with robust standard errors are in parentheses. \*, \*\*, \*\*\* indicate significance at the 10%, 5%, and 1% level respectively.

	2000	q1-2010q3	2011	q1-2018q4
	Last Day	Last Day $+ 1$	Last Day	Last Day $+ 1$
	Panel A	A: Regression of	n Ownershi	ip Quartiles
Ownership Q4 (high)	0.179***	-0.082***	0.019	0.001
	(7.229)	(-3.453)	(0.927)	(0.045)
Ownership Q3 (median)	$0.119^{***}$	-0.006	0.022	0.014
	(4.933)	(-0.267)	(1.141)	(0.691)
Ownership Q2 (low)	$0.077^{***}$	$0.059^{***}$	0.004	$0.042^{**}$
	(3.157)	(2.605)	(0.201)	(1.998)
Constant	-0.075***	-0.055***	0.004	$-0.052^{***}$
	(-4.016)	(-3.216)	(0.281)	(-3.190)
Observations	142,979	141,897	84,482	84,000
R-squared	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
	Panel	B: Regression	on Owners	hip Halves
Ownership (top half)	0.112***	-0.073***	0.018	-0.013
	(6.808)	(-4.510)	(1.431)	(-0.923)
Constant	-0.039***	-0.026**	0.006	-0.032***
	(-3.167)	(-2.299)	(0.656)	(-3.045)
Observations	142.979	141.897	84.482	84.000
R-squared	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000

#### Table 3.5: Average fund-level blip

This table reports the descriptive statistics of volatility-adjusted blips and positive volatility-adjusted blips, as well as the corresponding differences. "Before" denotes the period from 2000q1 to 2010q3, as used in Ben-David et al. (2013), whereas "After" denotes the period from 2011q1 to 2018q4, the period after the first publication of the paper "Do Hedge Funds Manipulate Stock Prices?" (Ben-David et al., 2013) on Feb 17, 2011. \*, \*\*, \*\*\* indicate significance at the 10%, 5%, and 1% level respectively.

	Number of quarter	Average #HFs per quarter	Average Adj blip/vol per quarter (%)	Average #HFs with positive Adj blip/vol per quarter	Average positive Adj blip/vol per quarter (%)
Before	43	158.512	$19.916^{***}$ (4.5090)	90.907	$68.381^{***}$ (13.8764)
After	32	163.125	5.884 (1.3856)	89.469	52.649*** (15.2029)
Before – After	11	-4.613	$14.032^{**}$ (2.2281)	1.438	$15.732^{**}$ (2.4383)

66

#### Table 3.6: Fund-level blip: regression results

This table reports the estimation results of regressions for fund-level blips on the characteristics of HFCs and the time dummy for the after-publication period. Fund-level blip is measured using: (1) volatility-adjusted blip, and (2) positive volatility-adjusted blip. Column (3) reports the estimation results for the Logit model for the probability of the volatility-adjusted blip being larger than 50%. Standard error are corrected for heteroskedasticity and fund-level clustering with t-statistics reported in parentheses. \*, \*\*, \*\*\* indicate significance at the 10%, 5%, and 1% level respectively.

	О	DLS	Logit		
	Adj blip/vol	Adj blip <sup>+</sup> /vol	Adj blip/vol > $50\%$		
	(1)	(2)	(3)		
After publication dummy	-5.397**	-6.067***	-0.214**		
	(-2.325)	(-2.879)	(-2.254)		
Fund return	-0.343*	-0.189*	-0.030***		
	(-1.753)	(-1.654)	(-2.781)		
Log(TNA)	0.655	0.154	0.012		
	(1.006)	(0.248)	(0.462)		
Net fund flow	14.179	8.848	0.185		
	(1.492)	(1.238)	(0.588)		
#Fund under management	0.201	0.333	0.020		
	(0.243)	(0.523)	(0.826)		
Management fee	-11.354***	-8.627***	-0.298**		
	(-3.715)	(-3.080)	(-2.444)		
Incentive fee	0.394	0.386	0.018		
	(1.138)	(1.080)	(1.086)		
HWM dummy	-1.208	-3.778	-0.136		
	(-0.350)	(-1.177)	(-1.069)		
levered dummy	$6.817^{**}$	$5.761^{**}$	0.135		
	(2.418)	(2.321)	(1.432)		
Notice period	-0.093***	0.025	0.001		
	(-2.688)	(0.642)	(0.694)		
Lock-up period	-0.210	0.039	0.001		
	(-1.106)	(0.227)	(0.152)		
Redemption frequency	$0.055^{***}$	$0.057^{***}$	$0.002^{***}$		
	(2.957)	(3.428)	(4.326)		
Fund age	$-0.074^{***}$	-0.056***	-0.002**		
	(-3.571)	(-2.868)	(-2.354)		
Constant	15.837	$36.941^{***}$	-1.226**		
	(1.229)	(2.976)	(-2.183)		
Observations	6.031	6.031	6.031		
R-squared	0.014	0.023	0.016		

100

#### Table 3.7: Fund-level blip and future fund flows

This table reports the estimation results of regressions for the net fund flow in q+1 on the fund-level blip, a time dummy for the after-publication period, fund return, and the interaction terms among them. Fundlevel blip is measured using the positive volatility-adjusted blip. The quadratic term of fund-level blip  $((Adj blip^+/vol)^2)$  captures potential non-linearities. We control for other known characteristics impacting fund future capital flows. Standard error are corrected for heteroskedasticity and fund-level clustering with t-statistics reported in parentheses. \*, \*\*, \*\*\* indicate significance at the 10%, 5%, and 1% level respectively.

	Dependent variable: Net fund flow $(q+1)$			
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
	0.004	0.070	0.007	0.000
Avg net fund flow of all HFC in TASS $(q+1)$	(1.084)	0.076	0.067	(0.068)
Not frind flow	(1.227)	(1.134)	(0.977)	(0.988)
Net rund now	(2.506)	$(2 \pm 0.0)$	(9.447)	(2.420)
After publication durant	(2.500)	(2.008)	(2.447)	(2.429) 0.521
After publication dummy			(0.420)	(1.001)
Fund roturn	0 1/8**	0.120*	(0.974) 0.402***	(1.224) 0 546***
runa return	(2.062)	(1.022)	(6.520)	(6.024)
× After publication dummy	(2.002)	(1.932)	0.339***	(0.024) 0.480***
× After publication duminy			(5.058)	(5.283)
$A di blin^+/vol$	0.016***	0.01/**	0.018***	0.020***
Auj blip / voi	(2.888)	(2527)	(2.846)	(3.170)
× Fund return	(2.000)	(2.021) 0.004*	(2.040)	-0.005**
		(1.841)		(-2.080)
× After publication dummy		(1.011)	-0.004	-0.010
× The publication duminy			(-0.378)	(-0.858)
$\times$ Fund return $\times$ After publication dummy			( 0.010)	0.015***
				(3.240)
$(Adi blip^+/vol)^2$	-0.000***	-0.000**	-0.000***	-0.000***
(J	(-3.003)	(-2.590)	(-3.043)	(-3.169)
$\times$ Fund return	( )	-0.000*		0.000
		(-1.920)		(1.210)
$\times$ After publication dummy			0.000	0.000
			(0.683)	(1.023)
$\times$ Fund return $\times$ After publication dummy			· · · ·	-0.000**
				(-2.089)
Constant	$6.166^{**}$	6.331**	$6.344^{**}$	$6.189^{**}$
	(2.485)	(2.555)	(2.569)	(2.511)
Controls of HF characteristics	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Observations	5,813	5,813	5,813	5,813
R-squared	0.031	0.032	0.037	0.040

#### Table 3.8: Fund-level "blip" dummies and future fund flow

This table reports the estimation results of regressions for the net fund flow in q+1 on the fund-level blip, a time dummy for the after-publication period, fund return, and the interaction terms among them. Fund-level blip is measured as a dummy variables taking the value of one if the positive volatility-adjusted blip is above 25th percentile and zero otherwise, and a dummy variables taking the value of one if the positive volatility-adjusted blip is above 75th percentile and zero otherwise. We control for other known characteristics impacting fund future capital flows. Standard error are corrected for heteroskedasticity and fund-level clustering with t-statistics reported in parentheses. \*, \*\*, \*\*\* indicate significance at the 10%, 5%, and 1% level respectively.

	Dependent variable: Net fund flow $(q+1)$							
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)
Avg net fund flow of all HFC in TASS $(\mathbf{q}{+}1)$	0.086	0.076	0.071	0.075	0.086	0.086	0.071	0.076
Net fund flow	(1.202) $0.075^{**}$ (2.489)	(1.145) $0.075^{**}$ (2.478)	(1.041) $0.073^{**}$ (2.433)	(1.034) $0.073^{**}$ (2.428)	(1.200) $0.075^{**}$ (2.493)	(1.205) $0.075^{**}$ (2.495)	(1.035) $0.073^{**}$ (2.436)	(1.100) $0.072^{**}$ (2.401)
After publication dummy	(2.400)	(2.410)	(2.435) 0.254 (0.571)	(2.420) 0.377 (0.845)	(2.455)	(2.450)	(2.430) 0.275 (0.651)	(2.401) 0.382 (0.904)
Fund return	$0.147^{**}$ (2.072)	$0.115^{**}$ (2.004)	(0.011) $0.395^{***}$ (6.468)	(5.010) $0.548^{***}$ (5.303)	$0.147^{**}$ (2.065)	$0.145^{*}$ (1.896)	(0.001) $0.395^{***}$ (6.476)	$(0.530^{***})$ (6.557)
$\times$ After publication dummy	(2:012)	(2:001)	$-0.325^{***}$ (-4.979)	$-0.493^{***}$ (-4.707)	(2.000)	(1000)	-0.325*** (-4.991)	$-0.469^{***}$ (-5.643)
Adj blip <sup>+</sup> /vol > 25th percentile	$0.488^{**}$ (2.194)	$0.390^{*}$ (1.716)	(1.589)	(2.155)			(1001)	( 0.010)
$\times$ Fund return	()	(2.472)	()	$-0.265^{**}$ (-2.404)				
$\times$ After publication dummy		()	0.302 (0.621)	(0.043) (0.089)				
$\times$ Fund return $\times$ After publication dummy			()	$0.667^{***}$ (4.104)				
Adj blip <sup>+</sup> /vol > 75th percentile					0.378 (1.286)	0.369 (1.215)	0.247 (0.764)	0.490 (1.429)
$\times$ Fund return					()	(0.022) (0.190)	(00-)	$-0.425^{***}$ (-3.235)
$\times$ After publication dummy						()	0.585 (1.027)	0.245 (0.433)
$\times$ Fund return $\times$ After publication dummy							()	$0.899^{***}$ (4.234)
Constant	$6.068^{**}$ (2.429)	$6.219^{**}$ (2.502)	$6.264^{**}$ (2.525)	$6.180^{**}$ (2.505)	$6.278^{**}$ (2.515)	$6.294^{**}$ (2.527)	$6.458^{***}$ (2.598)	(1.201) $6.222^{**}$ (2.503)
Controls of HF characteristics Observations	Yes 5 813	Yes 5 813	Yes 5 813	Yes 5 813	Yes 5 813	Yes 5 813	Yes 5 813	Yes 5 813
R-squared	0.031	0.032	0.036	0.038	0.030	0.030	0.036	0.039

102

# References

- Ackermann, C., R. McEnally, and D. Ravenscraft (1999). The performance of hedge funds: Risk, return, and incentives. *The Journal of Finance* 54(3), 833–874.
- Agarwal, V., G. O. Aragon, and Z. Shi (2015). Funding liquidity risk of funds of hedge funds: Evidence from their holdings. *Working Paper*.
- Agarwal, V., N. D. Daniel, and N. Y. Naik (2009). Role of managerial incentives and discretion in hedge fund performance. The Journal of Finance 64(5), 2221–2256.
- Agarwal, V., N. D. Daniel, and N. Y. Naik (2011). Do hedge funds manage their reported returns? The Review of Financial Studies 24(10), 3281–3320.
- Agarwal, V., G. D. Gay, and L. Ling (2014). Window dressing in mutual funds. The Review of Financial Studies 27(11), 3133–3170.
- Agarwal, V., W. Jiang, Y. Tang, and B. Yang (2013). Uncovering hedge fund skill from the portfolio holdings they hide. *The Journal of Finance* 68(2), 739–783.
- Agarwal, V., K. A. Mullally, and N. Y. Naik (2015). The economics and finance of hedge funds: A review of the academic literature. *Foundations and Trends® in Finance 10*(1), 1–111.
- Agarwal, V. and N. Y. Naik (2000). Multi-period performance persistence analysis of hedge funds. *Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis*, 327–342.
- Aghion, P., J. V. Reenen, and L. Zingales (2013). Innovation and institutional ownership. American Economic Review 103(1), 277–304.
- Aiken, A. L., C. P. Clifford, and J. Ellis (2013). Out of the dark: Hedge fund reporting biases and commercial databases. *The Review of Financial Studies* 26(1), 208–243.
- Akbas, F., W. J. Armstrong, S. Sorescu, and A. Subrahmanyam (2015). Smart money, dumb money, and capital market anomalies. *Journal of Financial Eco*nomics 118(2), 355–382.

- Alexander, G. J., G. Cici, and S. Gibson (2006). Does motivation matter when assessing trade performance? an analysis of mutual funds. *The Review of Financial Studies* 20(1), 125–150.
- Amihud, Y. (2002). Illiquidity and stock returns: Cross-section and time-series effects. Journal of Financial Markets 5(1), 31–56.
- Appel, I. R., T. A. Gormley, and D. B. Keim (2016). Passive investors, not passive owners. Journal of Financial Economics 121(1), 111–141.
- Aragon, G. O. (2007). Share restrictions and asset pricing: Evidence from the hedge fund industry. *Journal of Financial Economics* 83(1), 33–58.
- Aragon, G. O. and S. J. Martin (2012). A unique view of hedge fund derivatives usage: Safeguard or speculation? *Journal of Financial Economics* 105(2), 436– 456.
- Aragon, G. O. and V. Nanda (2017). Strategic delays and clustering in hedge fund reported returns. Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis 52(1), 1–35.
- Baker, M., B. Bradley, and J. Wurgler (2011). Benchmarks as limits to arbitrage: Understanding the low-volatility anomaly. *Financial Analysts Journal* 67(1), 40– 54.
- Ben-David, I., F. Franzoni, A. Landier, and R. Moussawi (2013). Do hedge funds manipulate stock prices? The Journal of Finance 68(6), 2383–2434.
- Ben-David, I., F. Franzoni, and R. Moussawi (2012). Hedge fund stock trading in the financial crisis of 2007–2009. *The Review of Financial Studies* 25(1), 1–54.
- Berk, J. B. and R. C. Green (2004). Mutual fund flows and performance in rational markets. *Journal of Political Economy* 112(6), 1269–1295.
- Bernhardt, D. and R. J. Davies (2009). Smart fund managers? stupid money? Canadian Journal of Economics/Revue canadienne d'économique 42(2), 719–748.
- Bhattacharyya, S. and V. Nanda (2013). Portfolio pumping, trading activity and fund performance. *Review of Finance* 17(3), 885–919.
- Blake, C. R., E. J. Elton, and M. J. Gruber (1993). The performance of bond mutual funds. *Journal of Business*, 371–403.
- Bollen, N. P. and V. K. Pool (2008). Conditional return smoothing in the hedge fund industry. *Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis* 43(2), 267–298.

- Bollen, N. P. and V. K. Pool (2009). Do hedge fund managers misreport returns? evidence from the pooled distribution. *The Journal of Finance* 64(5), 2257–2288.
- Boone, A. L. and J. T. White (2015). The effect of institutional ownership on firm transparency and information production. *Journal of Financial Economics* 117(3), 508–533.
- Boyson, N. M., C. W. Stahel, and R. M. Stulz (2010). Hedge fund contagion and liquidity shocks. *The Journal of Finance* 65(5), 1789–1816.
- Brunnermeier, M. K. and S. Nagel (2004). Hedge funds and the technology bubble. *The Journal of Finance* 59(5), 2013–2040.
- Brunnermeier, M. K. and L. H. Pedersen (2008). Market liquidity and funding liquidity. The Review of Financial Studies 22(6), 2201–2238.
- Buffa, A. M., D. Vayanos, and W. Paul (2019). Asset management contracts and equilibrium prices. *Working paper*.
- Buraschi, A., R. Kosowski, and W. Sritrakul (2014). Incentives and endogenous risk taking: A structural view on hedge fund alphas. *The Journal of Finance* 69(6), 2819–2870.
- Bushee, B. J. (2001). Do institutional investors prefer near-term earnings over longrun value? Contemporary Accounting Research 18(2), 207–246.
- Calluzzo, P., F. Moneta, and S. Topaloglu (2019). When anomalies are publicized broadly, do institutions trade accordingly? *Management Science* (forthcoming).
- Camerer, C. F., A. Dreber, E. Forsell, T.-H. Ho, J. Huber, M. Johannesson, M. Kirchler, J. Almenberg, A. Altmejd, T. Chan, et al. (2016). Evaluating replicability of laboratory experiments in economics. *Science* 351(6280), 1433–1436.
- Campbell, J. Y., T. Ramadorai, and A. Schwartz (2009). Caught on tape: Institutional trading, stock returns, and earnings announcements. *Journal of Financial Economics* 92(1), 66–91.
- Cao, C., Y. Chen, B. Liang, and A. W. Lo (2013). Can hedge funds time market liquidity? *Journal of Financial Economics* 109(2), 493–516.
- Cao, C., G. Farnsworth, B. Liang, and A. W. Lo (2017). Return smoothing, liquidity costs, and investor flows: Evidence from a separate account platform. *Management Science* 63(7), 2233–2250.

- Cao, C., B. Liang, A. W. Lo, and L. Petrasek (2018). Hedge fund holdings and stock market efficiency. *The Review of Asset Pricing Studies* 8(1), 77–116.
- Cao, Q., Y. Chen, W. Goetzmann, and B. Liang (2018). Hedge funds and stock price formation. *Financial Analysts Journal* 74(3), 54–68.
- Carhart, M. M. (1997). On persistence in mutual fund performance. *The Journal* of *Finance* 52(1), 57–82.
- Carhart, M. M., R. Kaniel, D. K. Musto, and A. V. Reed (2002). Leaning for the tape: Evidence of gaming behavior in equity mutual funds. *The Journal of Finance* 57(2), 661–693.
- Cassar, G. and J. Gerakos (2011). Hedge funds: Pricing controls and the smoothing of self-reported returns. *The Review of Financial Studies* 24(5), 1698–1734.
- Cella, C., A. Ellul, and M. Giannetti (2013). Investors' horizons and the amplification of market shocks. The Review of Financial Studies 26(7), 1607–1648.
- Chang, A. C. and P. Li (2017). A preanalysis plan to replicate sixty economics research papers that worked half of the time. *American Economic Review* 107(5), 60–64.
- Chen, Y., Z. Da, and D. Huang (2018). Arbitrage trading: The long and the short of it. *Working Paper*.
- Chen, Y. and B. Liang (2007). Do market timing hedge funds time the market? Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis 42(4), 827–856.
- Chordia, T., A. Goyal, and A. Saretto (2019). Anomalies and false rejections. *The Review of Financial Studies*.
- Christensen, G. and E. Miguel (2018). Transparency, reproducibility, and the credibility of economics research. *Journal of Economic Literature* 56(3), 920–80.
- Christoffersen, S. and M. Simutin (2017). On the demand for high-beta stocks: Evidence from mutual funds. *Review of Financial Studies* 30(8), 2596–2620.
- Cici, G., A. Kempf, and A. Puetz (2016). The valuation of hedge funds' equity positions. *Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis* 51(3), 1013–1037.
- Comerton-Forde, C. and T. J. Putniņš (2011). Measuring closing price manipulation. Journal of Financial Intermediation 20(2), 135–158.
- Comerton-Forde, C. and T. J. Putniņš (2014). Stock price manipulation: Prevalence and determinants. *Review of Finance* 18(1), 23–66.

- Cooper, M. J., H. Gulen, and M. J. Schill (2008). Asset growth and the cross-section of stock returns. *the Journal of Finance* 63(4), 1609–1651.
- Coval, J. and E. Stafford (2007). Asset fire sales (and purchases) in equity markets. Journal of Financial Economics 86(2), 479–512.
- Crane, A. D. and K. Crotty (2018). Passive versus active fund performance: Do index funds have skill? Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis 53(1), 33-64.
- Dahlquist, M., V. Sokolovski, and E. Sverdrup (2019). Hedge funds and financial intermediaries. *Available at SSRN 3396632*.
- Daniel, K., M. Grinblatt, S. Titman, and R. Wermers (1997). Measuring mutual fund performance with characteristic-based benchmarks. *The Journal of Finance* 52(3), 1035–1058.
- Dasgupta, A., A. Prat, and M. Verardo (2011). Institutional trade persistence and long-term equity returns. *The Journal of Finance* 66(2), 635–653.
- Dewatripont, M., I. Jewitt, and J. Tirole (1999). The Economics of Career Concerns, Part I: Comparing Information Structures. The Review of Economic Studies 66(1), 183–198.
- Duong, T. X. and F. Meschke (2020). The rise and fall of portfolio pumping among us mutual funds. *Journal of Corporate Finance 60*, 101530.
- Edelen, R. M., O. S. Ince, and G. B. Kadlec (2016). Institutional investors and stock return anomalies. *Journal of Financial Economics* 119(3), 472–488.
- Edwards, F. R. and M. O. Caglayan (2001). Hedge fund performance and manager skill. Journal of Futures Markets: Futures, Options, and Other Derivative Products 21(11), 1003–1028.
- Elton, E. J., M. J. Gruber, and C. R. Blake (1996). The persistence of risk-adjusted mutual fund performance. *Journal of Business* 69(2), 133–157.
- Fama, E. F. and K. R. French (1993). Common risk factors in the returns on stocks and bonds. *Journal of Financial Economics* 33(1), 3–56.
- Fama, E. F. and K. R. French (2008). Dissecting anomalies. The Journal of Finance 63(4), 1653–1678.
- Fama, E. F. and K. R. French (2015). A five-factor asset pricing model. Journal of Financial Economics 116(1), 1–22.

- Fang, V. W., X. Tian, and S. Tice (2014). Does stock liquidity enhance or impede firm innovation? The Journal of Finance 69(5), 2085–2125.
- Frazzini, A. and O. A. Lamont (2008). Dumb money: Mutual fund flows and the cross-section of stock returns. *Journal of Financial Economics* 88(2), 299–322.
- Frazzini, A. and L. H. Pedersen (2014). Betting against beta. Journal of Financial Economics 111(1), 1–25.
- French, K. R. (2008). Presidential address: The cost of active investing. The Journal of Finance 63(4), 1537–1573.
- Fung, W. and D. A. Hsieh (2004). Hedge fund benchmarks: A risk-based approach. *Financial Analysts Journal*, 65–80.
- Fung, W., D. A. Hsieh, N. Y. Naik, and M. Teo (2018). Hedge fund franchises. Management Science (Forthcoming).
- Getmansky, M., B. Liang, C. Schwarz, and R. Wermers (2019). Share restrictions and investor flows in the hedge fund industry. *Working Paper*.
- Getmansky, M., A. W. Lo, and I. Makarov (2004). An econometric model of serial correlation and illiquidity in hedge fund returns. *Journal of Financial Economics* 74(3), 529–609.
- Giannetti, M. and B. Kahraman (2017). Open-end organizational structures and limits to arbitrage. The Review of Financial Studies 31(2), 773–810.
- Gompers, P. A. and A. Metrick (2001). Institutional investors and equity prices. The Quarterly Journal of Economics 116(1), 229–259.
- Green, J., J. R. Hand, and M. T. Soliman (2011). Going, going, gone? The apparent demise of the accruals anomaly. *Management Science* 57(5), 797–816.
- Griffin, J. M. and J. Xu (2009). How smart are the smart guys? A unique view from hedge fund stock holdings. *Review of Financial Studies* 22(7), 2531–2570.
- Guercio, D. D. and J. Reuter (2014). Mutual fund performance and the incentive to generate alpha. *The Journal of Finance* 69(4), 1673–1704.
- Guerrieri, V. and P. Kondor (2012). Fund managers, career concerns, and asset price volatility. *American Economic Review* 102(5), 1986–2017.
- Ha, J. and J. Hu (2018). How smart is institutional trading? Working Paper.
- Harris, L. and E. Gurel (1986). Price and volume effects associated with changes in the S&P 500 list: New evidence for the existence of price pressures. *The Journal* of Finance 41(4), 815–829.
- Harris, L. E. (1994). Minimum price variations, discrete bid–ask spreads, and quotation sizes. The Review of Financial Studies 7(1), 149–178.
- Harvey, C. R. (2017). Presidential address: The scientific outlook in financial economics. The Journal of Finance 72(4), 1399–1440.
- Harvey, C. R., Y. Liu, and H. Zhu (2016). ... and the cross-section of expected returns. *The Review of Financial Studies* 29(1), 5–68.
- Hersey, P., K. H. Blanchard, and D. E. Johnson (2000). Management of organizational behavior: Leading human resources. Prentice hall Upper Saddle River, NJ.
- Hirshleifer, D., K. Hou, S. H. Teoh, and Y. Zhang (2004). Do investors overvalue firms with bloated balance sheets? *Journal of Accounting and Economics 38*, 297–331.
- Hodder, J. E. and J. C. Jackwerth (2007). Incentive contracts and hedge fund management. The Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis 42(4), 811– 826.
- Holmström, B. (1999). Managerial incentive problems: A dynamic perspective. The Review of Economic Studies 66(1), 169–182.
- Hou, K., C. Xue, and L. Zhang (2015). Digesting anomalies: An investment approach. Review of Financial Studies 28(3), 650–705.
- Hu, G., R. D. McLean, J. Pontiff, and Q. Wang (2014). The year-end trading activities of institutional investors: Evidence from daily trades. *The Review of Financial Studies* 27(5), 1593–1614.
- Ince, O. and G. B. Kadlec (2020). The decline in performance of institutional investors: Insights from their trade counterparties. *Working Paper*.
- Ioannidis, J., T. Stanley, and C. Doucouliagos (2017). The power of bias in economics research. *Economic Journal* 127(605), F236–F265.
- Israel, R. and T. J. Moskowitz (2013). The role of shorting, firm size, and time on market anomalies. *Journal of Financial Economics* 108(2), 275–301.

- Jagannathan, R., A. Malakhov, and D. Novikov (2010). Do hot hands exist among hedge fund managers? an empirical evaluation. The Journal of Finance 65(1), 217–255.
- Jiang, G. J., B. Liang, and H. Zhang (2019). Hedge fund manager skills and styleshifting. Working Paper.
- Jiao, Y., M. Massa, and H. Zhang (2016). Short selling meets hedge fund 13f: An anatomy of informed demand. *Journal of Financial Economics* 122(3), 544–567.
- Jiao, Y. and P. Ye (2014). Mutual fund herding in response to hedge fund herding and the impacts on stock prices. *Journal of Banking and Finance* 49, 131–148.
- Joenväärä, J., M. Kauppila, R. Kosowski, and P. Tolonen (2019). Hedge fund performance: Are stylized facts sensitive to which database one uses? *Working Paper*.
- Joenväärä, J., R. Kosowski, and P. Tolonen (2016). Hedge fund performance: What do we know? *Working Paper*.
- Joenväärä, J., R. Kosowski, and P. Tolonen (2018). The effect of investment constraints on hedge fund investor returns. *Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis*, 1–64.
- Jorion, P. and C. Schwarz (2014a). Are hedge fund managers systematically misreporting? or not? *Journal of Financial Economics* 111(2), 311–327.
- Jorion, P. and C. Schwarz (2014b). The strategic listing decisions of hedge funds. Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis 49(3), 773–796.
- Jorion, P. and C. Schwarz (2015). Funding liquidity risk of funds of hedge funds: Evidence from their holdings. *Working Paper*.
- Jylha, P. (2011). Hedge fund return misreporting: Incentives and effects. Working Paper.
- Jylhä, P., K. Rinne, and M. Suominen (2014). Do hedge funds supply or demand liquidity? *Review of Finance* 18(4), 1259–1298.
- Ke, B. and S. Ramalingegowda (2005). Do institutional investors exploit the postearnings announcement drift? Journal of Accounting and Economics 39(1), 25– 53.
- Kokkonen, J. and M. Suominen (2015). Hedge funds and stock market efficiency. Management Science 61(12), 2890–2904.

- Kolokolova, O. (2011). Strategic behavior within families of hedge funds. *Journal* of Banking and Finance 35(7), 1645–1662.
- Kolokolova, O., M.-T. Lin, and S.-H. Poon (2018). Too big to ignore? hedge fund flows and bond yields. *Journal of Banking and Finance* (in press).
- Kolokolova, O. and A. Mattes (2018). A time to scatter stones, and a time to gather them: The annual cycle in managerial risk taking. *The Financial Review* 53(4).
- Kosowski, R., N. Y. Naik, and M. Teo (2007). Do hedge funds deliver alpha? A Bayesian and bootstrap analysis. *Journal of Financial Economics* 84(1), 229–264.
- Kruttli, M., P. Monin, and S. Watugala (2018). Hedge fund credit networks, collateral, and prime broker exposures. *Available at SSRN 3140900*.
- Lan, Y., N. Wang, and J. Yang (2013). The economics of hedge funds. Journal of Financial Economics 110(2), 300–323.
- Li, H., X. Zhang, and R. Zhao (2011). Investing in talents: Manager characteristics and hedge fund performances. *Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analy*sis 46(1), 59–82.
- Lim, J., B. A. Sensoy, and M. S. Weisbach (2016). Indirect incentives of hedge fund managers. The Journal of Finance 71(2), 871–918.
- Linnainmaa, J. T. and M. R. Roberts (2018). The history of the cross-section of stock returns. The Review of Financial Studies 31(7), 2606–2649.
- Lou, D. (2012). A flow-based explanation for return predictability. The Review of Financial Studies 25(12), 3457–3489.
- Lu, Y., S. Ray, and M. Teo (2016). Limited attention, marital events and hedge funds. Journal of Financial Economics 122(3), 607–624.
- Malkiel, B. G. (1995). Returns from investing in equity mutual funds 1971 to 1991. The Journal of Finance 50(2), 549–572.
- McGregor, D. M. (1957). The human side of enterprise. *Management Review* 46, 22–28.
- McLean, R. D. and J. Pontiff (2016). Does academic research destroy stock return predictability? *The Journal of Finance* 71(1), 5–32.
- Nagel, S. (2005). Short sales, institutional investors and the cross-section of stock returns. *Journal of Financial Economics* 78(2), 277–309.

- Naik, N. Y., T. Ramadorai, and M. Stromqvist (2007). Capacity constraints and hedge fund strategy returns. *European Financial Management* 13(2), 239–256.
- Ng, L. and Q. Wang (2004). Institutional trading and the turn-of-the-year effect. Journal of Financial Economics 74(2), 343–366.
- Nofsinger, J. R. and R. W. Sias (1999). Herding and feedback trading by institutional and individual investors. *The Journal of Finance* 54(6), 2263–2295.
- Novy-Marx, R. (2013). The other side of value: The gross profitability premium. Journal of Financial Economics 108(1), 1–28.
- Ohlson, J. A. (1980). Financial ratios and the probabilistic prediction of bankruptcy. Journal of Accounting Research 18(1), 109–131.
- Pástor, L. and R. F. Stambaugh (2003). Liquidity risk and expected stock returns. Journal of Political Economy 111(3), 642–685.
- Schaub, N. and M. Schmid (2013). Hedge fund liquidity and performance: Evidence from the financial crisis. *Journal of Banking and Finance* 37(3), 671–692.
- Sias, R., H. Turtle, and B. Zykaj (2016). Hedge fund crowds and mispricing. Management Science 62(3), 764–784.
- Stambaugh, R. F., J. Yu, and Y. Yuan (2012). The short of it: Investor sentiment and anomalies. *Journal of Financial Economics* 104(2), 288–302.
- Stulz, R. M. (2007). Hedge funds: Past, present, and future. Journal of Economic Perspectives 21(2), 175–194.
- Teo, M. (2011). The liquidity risk of liquid hedge funds. Journal of Financial Economics 100(1), 24–44.
- Titman, S., K. J. Wei, and F. Xie (2004). Capital investments and stock returns. Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis 39(4), 677–700.
- Xing, Y. (2008). Interpreting the value effect through the q-theory: An empirical investigation. *The Review of Financial Studies* 21(4), 1767–1795.